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(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes   �     No   �  

        Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be 
contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this 
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.    Yes   �     No   �  

        Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined by Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).    Yes   �     No   �  

        The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30, 2004 was $90,316,112, based on the 
closing price of common stock on the NASDAQ stock exchange on June 30, 2004. Shares of common stock held by each officer and director 
and by the Company's benefit plans have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is 
not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.  

        The number of shares outstanding of the issuer's common stock as of February 1, 2005:  

        Common Stock, $.01 par value 8,832,093 shares.  
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PART I  

ITEM 1.—BUSINESS  

General  

        Hardinge Inc.'s principal executive offices are located at One Hardinge Drive, Elmira, New York 14902-1507; telephone (607) 734-2281. 
The headquarters are located in Chemung County, New York, which is on the south-central border of upstate New York. The Company's website 
is www.hardinge.com . Hardinge's website provides links to all of the Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. A copy 
of the 10-K is available on the website or can be obtained by contacting the Investor Relations Department at the Company's executive offices.  

        The Company has seven wholly owned subsidiaries and one majority owned subsidiary.  

        The Company has manufacturing facilities located in Chemung County, New York; St. Gallen, Switzerland; Biel, Switzerland; Nan Tou 
City, Taiwan; and Shanghai, PRC. Hardinge manufactures the majority of the products it sells.  

        References to Hardinge Inc., the "Company", or "Hardinge" are to Hardinge Inc. and its predecessors and subsidiaries, unless the context 
indicates otherwise. The Company changed its name in 1995 from Hardinge Brothers, Inc. to Hardinge Inc.  

Products  

        The Company's primary business is designing, manufacturing and distributing high-precision computer controlled metal-cutting turning, 
grinding and milling machines, and accessories related to those machines. It considers its products to be among the world's best in terms of 
accuracy, reliability, durability and value.  

        The Company has been a manufacturer of industrial-use Super-Precision® and general precision turning machine tools since 1890. Turning 
machines, or lathes, are power-driven machines used to remove material from a rough-formed part by moving multiple cutting tools against the 
surface of a part rotating at very high speeds in a spindle mechanism. The multi-directional movement of the cutting tools allows the part to be 
shaped to the desired dimensions. On parts produced by Hardinge machines, those dimensions are often measured in millionths of inches. 
Hardinge considers itself to be a leader in the field of producing machines capable of consistently and cost-effectively producing parts to those 
dimensions.  

        Grinding is a machining process where a surface is shaped to closer tolerances or a finer surface finish with a rotating abrasive wheel or tool 
moving against a part. Grinding machines can be used to finish parts of various shapes and sizes. The grinding machines of the Company's 
Kellenberger subsidiary are used to grind the outside and inside diameters of cylindrical parts. Such grinding machines are typically used to 
provide a more exact finish on a part which has been partially completed on a lathe. Kellenberger machines are generally purchased by the same 
type of customers as other  
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Hardinge equipment and further the ability of the Company to be a sole source supplier for its customers.  

        Hardinge acquired HTT Hauser Tripet Tschudin AG in 2000 to expand its grinding machine product line. Hauser jig grinding machines are 
used to make demanding contour components, primarily for tool and mold making applications. Tripet and Tschudin product technology is 
focused on the specialized internal and external cylindrical grinding needs of high volume production customers.  

        Machining centers or milling machines are designed to remove material from stationary, prismatic (box-like) parts of various shapes with 
rotating tools that are capable of milling, drilling, tapping, reaming and routing. The multi-directional movement of the spindle holding the 
cutting tool and the table holding the part allows the part to be shaped to the desired dimension. Machining centers have mechanisms that 
automatically change tools based on commands from a built-in computer control without the assistance of an operator. The Company produces a 
broad line of machining centers addressing a range of sizes, speeds and powers.  

        Most models of Hardinge's machines are computer numerically controlled ("CNC") and use commands from an integrated computer to 
control the movement of cutting tools, grinding wheels, part positioning, and in the case of turning and grinding machines, the rotation speeds of 
the part being shaped. The computer control enables the operator to program operations such as part rotation, tooling selection and tooling 
movement for a specific part and then store that program in memory for future use. The machines are able to produce parts while left unattended 
when connected to automatic bar-feeding, robotics equipment, or other material handling devices designed to supply raw materials.  

        Hardinge obtained the rights to manufacture and distribute Bridgeport manually controlled milling machines (called knee mills), and parts 
and support services functions for both knee mills and vertical machining centers previously produced by the Connecticut operations of 
Bridgeport Machines, Inc. under a licensing arrangement with BPT IP, LLC.  

        On November 3, 2004, the Company acquired the name, trademarks, copyrights, designs, patents, know-how, and all other intangibles 
associated with the former Bridgeport Machine company throughout the world. Hardinge also acquired certain operating assets from the court 
appointed receiver of the former Bridgeport operations in the U.K. to allow it to carry on Bridgeport's sales, service and support operations in 
Europe.  

        The Bridgeport name has long been associated with a full range of quality machining centers. The Company intends to use this brand name 
for all of its machining center lines. The products of Bridgeport, which are being sourced from Taiwan, will expand the line of machines 
available in this segment to include horizontal machining centers and 5-axis machining capabilities. Also, the operations in the U.K. will be 
combined with the Company's U.K. subsidiary to provide sales and service support for the complete line of Hardinge company products.  

        New product development is important to the Company's growth. Products are introduced each year to take advantage of new technologies 
available to the Company. These technologies generally allow the machine to run at higher speeds and with more power, thus increasing their 
efficiency. Customers routinely replace old machines with newer machines that can produce parts faster and with less time to set up the machine 
when converting from one type of part to another.  

        Multiple options are available on the broad range of the Company's machines which allow customers to customize their machines for the 
specific purpose and cost objective they require. The Company produces machines for stock with popular option combinations for immediate 
delivery, as well as machines made to specific customer orders. In addition to its machines, the Company provides the necessary computer 
programming and tooling, as well as robotics and other parts handling equipment manufactured by it or others.  
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        Generally Hardinge machines can be used to produce parts from all of the standard ferrous and non-ferrous metals, as well as plastics, 
composites and exotic materials.  

        The sale of repair parts is important to the business of the Company. Certain parts on machines wear over time or break through misuse. 
Customers will buy parts from the Company through the life of the machine, which is several years. There are thousands of machines in 
operation in the world for which the Company provides those repair parts, in many cases exclusively.  

        In addition to its machine lines, the Company offers the most extensive line of workholding devices available in the industry, which may be 
used on both its turning machines and those produced by others. The Company considers itself to be a worldwide leader in the design and 
manufacture of workholding devices for turning equipment.  

        The Company offers various warranties on its equipment and considers post-sales support to be a critical element of its business. Warranties 
on machines typically extend for twelve months after purchase. Services provided include operation and maintenance training, in-field 
maintenance, and in-field repair. The Company, where practical, provides readily available replacement parts. The Company offers these post 
sales support services on a paid basis throughout the life of the machine.  

Markets and Distribution  

        The Company markets its products in most industrialized countries of the world through a combination of distributors, agents and 
manufacturers' representatives. In certain areas of the United States, Canada, China, Germany, and the United Kingdom, the company also uses a 
direct sales force . Generally, distributors have exclusive rights to sell the Company's products in a defined geographic area.  

        Certain of the Company's distributors operate independent businesses, purchase products from the Company at discounted prices and 
maintain inventories of these products for their customers, while agents and representatives sell products on behalf of the Company and receive 
commissions on sales. The Company's commission schedule is adjusted to reflect the level of marketing and aftermarket support offered by its 
distributors. The Company's direct sales personnel earn a fixed salary plus commission based upon a percentage of net sales.  

        Sales through distributors are made only on standard commercial open account terms and are not included in the Company's financing 
programs discussed below. Distributors take title to products upon shipment from the Company's facilities and do not have any special return 
privileges.  

        In the past the Company provided financing terms of up to seven years for qualified end user customers to purchase equipment, primarily in 
the United States and Canada. These contracts were backed by liens and security agreements.  

        The Company discontinued providing financing itself in 2002 and began outsourcing long-term customer financing to third party leasing 
companies. The Company occasionally offers special interest rates to customers as part of its marketing efforts. The amount of the charge from 
the third party financing company for these special programs is treated as a discount to sales at the time of the contract. There are no repurchase 
or remarketing agreements with these third parties.  

        The Company's non-machine products are mainly sold in the United States through telephone orders to a toll-free "800" telephone number, 
which is linked to an on-line computer order entry system maintained by the Company at its Elmira headquarters. In most cases, the Company is 
able to package and ship in-stock tooling and repair parts within 24 hours of receiving orders. The Company can package and ship items with 
heavy demand within several hours. In other parts of the world, these products are sold through distributor arrangements associated with 
machine sales.  
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        The Company promotes recognition of its products in the marketplace through advertising in trade publications and participation in industry 
trade shows. In addition, the Company markets its non-machine products through publication of general catalogues and other targeted 
catalogues, which it distributes to existing and prospective customers. The Company has a substantial presence on the internet at 
www.hardinge.com where customers can obtain information about the Company's products and place orders for workholding products.  

        A substantial portion of the Company's sales are to small and medium-sized independent job shops, which in turn sell machined parts to 
their industrial customers. Industries directly and indirectly served by the Company include aerospace, automotive, construction equipment, 
defense, energy, farm equipment, medical equipment, recreational equipment, telecommunications, and transportation.  

        The Company operates in a single business segment, industrial machine tools.  

Competitive Conditions  

        The primary competitive factors in the marketplace for the Company's machine tools are reliability, price, delivery time, service and 
technological characteristics. There are many manufacturers of machine tools in the world. They can be categorized by the size of material their 
products can machine and the precision level they can achieve. In the size and precision level the Company addresses with its turning machines, 
the primary competition comes from several Japanese, German, Taiwanese and Korean manufacturers. The Company's primary competition for 
machining centers comes from manufacturers in the U.S., Taiwan and Korea. Kellenberger, Hauser, Tripet and Tschudin machines compete with 
machines from Japanese, German and other Swiss manufacturers. Management considers its segment of the industry to be extremely 
competitive. The Company believes that it brings superior quality, reliability, value, availability, capability and support to its customers.  

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials  

        The Company manufactures and assembles its lathes and related products at its Elmira, New York plant. Kellenberger grinding machines 
and related products are manufactured at its St. Gallen, Switzerland plant and HTT products are produced at its Biel, Switzerland facility. 
Hardinge produces machining centers and a line of lathes at its majority-owned subsidiary in Taiwan. Some of the Bridgeport products are 
sourced from manufacturers in Taiwan. Products are manufactured by the Company from various raw materials, including cast iron, sheet metal, 
and bar steel. The Company purchases a number of components from outside suppliers, including the computer and electronic components for its 
CNC lathes, grinding machines and machining centers. There are multiple suppliers for virtually all of the Company's raw material and 
components and the Company has not experienced a supply interruption in past years.  

        A major component of the Company's CNC machines is the computer and related electronics package. The Company purchases a majority 
of these components from Fanuc Limited, a large Japanese electronics company. The Company also purchases those components from Siemens 
and Heidenhain, both substantial German manufacturers, for some of its machine lines. A disruption in supply of the computer controls from one 
of its suppliers could cause the Company to experience a substantial disruption of its operations, depending on the circumstances at the time. The 
Company purchases parts from these suppliers under normal trade terms. There are no agreements with these suppliers to purchase minimum 
volumes per year.  

Research and Development  

        The Company's ongoing research and development program involves creating new products, modifying existing products to meet market 
demands and redesigning existing products to add both new functionality and reduce the cost of manufacturing. The research and development 
departments  
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throughout the world are staffed with experienced design engineers with varying levels of education, from technical through doctoral degrees.  

        The worldwide cost of research and development, all of which has been charged to cost of goods sold, amounted to $7,931,000, $8,229,000, 
and $8,757,000, in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  

Patents  

        Although the Company holds several patents with respect to certain of its products, it does not believe that its business is dependent to any 
material extent upon any single patent or group of patents.  

Seasonal Trends and Working Capital Requirements  

        The Company's business and that of the machine tool industry in general is cyclical. It is not subject to significant seasonal trends. 
However, the Company's quarterly results are subject to fluctuation based on the timing of its shipments of machine tools, which are largely 
dependent upon customer delivery requirements. Traditionally, the Company has experienced reduced activity during the third quarter of the 
year, largely as a result of vacations scheduled at its U.S. and European customers' plants and the Company's policy of closing its New York and 
Switzerland facilities for two weeks during the third quarter. As a result, the Company's third-quarter net sales, income from operations and net 
income typically have been the lowest of any quarter during the year.  

        The ability to deliver products within a short period of time is an important competitive criterion. The Company must have inventory on 
hand to meet customers' delivery expectations, which for standard machines typically are between immediate to four weeks deliveries. Meeting 
this requirement is especially difficult with products made in Taiwan, where delivery is extended due to ocean travel times, depending on the 
location of the customer. This creates a situation where the Company must have inventory of finished machines available in its major markets, 
including the U.S., China, the U.K. and Germany, as well as finished or nearly finished machines in Taiwan.  

        The Company delivers many of its machine products within one to two months after the order. Some orders, especially multiple machine 
orders, are delivered on a turnkey basis with the machine or group of machines configured to make certain parts for the customer. This type of 
order often includes the addition of material handling equipment, tooling and specific programming. In those cases the customer usually 
observes and inspects the parts being made on the machine at the Company's facility before it is shipped and the timing of the sale is dependent 
upon the schedule of the customer. Therefore, sales from quarter to quarter can vary depending upon the timing of those customers' acceptances 
and the significance of those orders.  

        The Company feels it is important, where practical, to provide readily available workholding and replacement parts for the machines it sells. 
The Company carries inventory at levels to meet these customer requirements.  

Backlog  

        The Company's order backlog was $66,318,000 at December 31, 2004, compared to $42,747,000 at December 31, 2003.  

        Orders for most products are subject to cancellation by the customer prior to shipment. On large orders for specialized equipment, there are 
generally cancellation charges associated. The level of unfilled orders at any given date during the year may be materially affected by the timing 
of the Company's receipt of orders, the speed with which those orders are filled and the timing of customer acceptance of specialized equipment. 
Accordingly, the Company's backlog is not necessarily indicative of actual shipments or sales for any specific future quarterly period, and 
period-to-period comparisons may not be meaningful.  
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Governmental Regulations  

        The Company believes that its current operations and its current uses of property, plant and equipment conform in all material respects to 
applicable laws and regulations.  

Environmental Matters  

        The Company's operations are subject to extensive federal and state legislation and regulation relating to environmental matters.  

        Certain environmental laws can impose joint and several liability for releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances upon certain 
statutorily defined parties regardless of fault or the lawfulness of the original activity or disposal. Activities at properties owned by the Company 
and on adjacent areas have resulted in environmental impacts.  

        In particular, the Company's New York manufacturing facility is located within the Kentucky Avenue Well Field on the National Priorities 
List of hazardous waste sites designated for cleanup by the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") because of groundwater 
contamination. The Kentucky Avenue Well Field site encompasses an area of approximately three square miles which includes sections of the 
Town of Horseheads and the Village of Elmira Heights in Chemung County, New York. The Company, however, has never been named as a 
potentially responsible party at the site or received any requests for information from EPA concerning the site. Environmental sampling on the 
Company's property within this site under supervision of regulatory authorities has identified off-site sources for such groundwater 
contamination and has found no evidence that the Company's property is contributing to the contamination.  

        Although the Company believes, based upon information currently available to management, that it will not have material liabilities for 
environmental remediation, there can be no assurance that future remedial requirements or changes in the enforcement of existing laws and 
regulation, which are subject to extensive regulatory discretion, will not result in material liabilities.  

Employees  

        As of December 31, 2004 the Company employed 1,354 persons, 633 of whom were located in the United States. None of the Company's 
employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. Management believes that relations with the Company's employees are good.  

Foreign Operations and Export Sales  

        Information related to foreign and domestic operations and sales is included in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements contained in 
this Annual Report. The Company believes that its major manufacturing subsidiaries operate in countries in which the economic climate is 
relatively stable.  

        The strategy of the Company has been to diversify its sales and operations geographically so that the impact of economic trends in different 
regions can be balanced. The rapid growth in the manufacturing activity in Asia has been significant to the Company's growth over the past few 
years.  

7  



ITEM 2. —PROPERTIES  

        Pertinent information concerning the principal properties of the Company and its subsidiaries is as follows:  

ITEM 3.—LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

        The Company is from time to time involved in routine litigation incidental to its operations. None of the litigation in which the Company is 
currently involved, individually or in the aggregate, is anticipated to be material to its financial condition or results of operations.  

ITEM 4.—SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS  

        During the fourth quarter of 2004, no matters were submitted to a vote of security holders.  

8  

Location 

  

Type of Facility 

  

Acreage (Land)  
Square Footage  

(Building) 

Owned Properties         
 
Horseheads, New York 

 
  

 
Manufacturing, Engineering, Turnkey Systems, 
Marketing, Sales, Demonstration, Service and 
Administration 

 
  80 acres 

515,000 sq. ft. 

 
St. Gallen, Switzerland 

 
  

 
Manufacturing, Engineering, Turnkey Systems, 
Marketing, Sales, Demonstration, Service and 
Administration 

 
  8 acres 

162,924 sq. ft. 

 
Biel, Switzerland 

 
  

 
Manufacturing, Engineering, Turnkey Systems 

 
  4 acres 

41,500 sq. ft. 
 
Exeter, England 

 
  

 
Sales, Marketing, Demonstration, Service, Turnkey 
Systems and Administration 

 
  2 acres 

27,500 sq. ft. 

Location 

  

Type of Facility 

  

Square Footage 

  

Lease  
Expiration  

Date 

Leased Properties             
 
Nan Tou, Taiwan 

 
  

 
Manufacturing, Engineering, Marketing, Sales, 
Service, Demonstration and Administration 

 
  145,745 sq. ft. 

 
  3/16/19 

 
Elmira, New York 

 
  

 
Warehouse 

 
  78,420 sq. ft. 

 
  3/31/09 

 
Shanghai, PRC 

 
  

 
Product Assembly, Sales, Service, 
Demonstration and Administration 

 
  53,529 sq. ft. 

 
  2/28/09 

 
Biel, Switzerland 

 
  

 
Manufacturing, Marketing, Sales, Service, and 
Administration 

 
  50,591 sq. ft. 

 
  8/31/05 

 
Leicester, England 

 
  

 
Sales, Marketing, Demonstration, Service, and 
Administration 

 
  30,172 sq. ft. 

 
  1/31/15 

 
St. Gallen, Switzerland 

 
  

 
Manufacturing 

 
  14,208 sq. ft. 

 
  8/02/06 

 
Cleveland, Ohio 

 
  

 
Sales, Service and Demonstration 

 
  10,000 sq. ft. 

 
  8/01/05 

 
Krefeld, Germany 

 
  

 
Sales, Service and Demonstration 

 
  6,512 sq. ft. 

 
  1/01/07 



 

 
PART II  

ITEM 5.—MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY A ND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

        The following table reflects the highest and lowest values at which the stock traded in each quarter of the last two years. Hardinge Inc. 
common stock trades on The Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol "HDNG." The table also includes dividends per share, by quarter.  

        At February 1, 2005, there were 2,894 holders of record of common stock.  

        The following table provides information about issuer repurchases of our common stock by month for the quarter ended December 31, 
2004:  

        The above shares were repurchased as part of the Company's Incentive Compensation Plan to satisfy tax withholding obligations in 
connection with the vesting of restricted stock issued to employees.  
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2004 

  

2003 

     

Values 

  

Values 

     

High 

  

Low 

  

Dividends 

  

High 

  

Low 

  

Dividends 

Quarter Ended                                     
  March 31   $ 13.35   $ 9.25   $ .00   $ 8.25   $ 6.85   $ .00 
  June 30     13.17     11.59     .01     8.34     6.45     .01 
  September 30     12.55     9.95     .01     9.49     7.90     .00 
  December 31     13.71     10.10     .01     11.58     8.30     .01 

     

Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities  

 

Period  

  

Total Number 
of Shares 
Purchased 

  

Average 
Price Paid 
per Share 

October 1—October 31, 2004   —    —
November 1—November 30, 2004   —    —
December 1—December 31, 2004   14,088   $ 11.26 
      
Total   14,088   $ 11.26 
      



ITEM 6. —SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  

        The following selected financial data is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company. The data should be read 
in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, related notes and other information included herein (dollar amounts in thousands 
except per share data).  

(1)  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

2001 

  

2000 

  
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA                                 
Net sales   $ 232,054   $ 185,302   $ 169,014   $ 209,522   $ 189,479   
Cost of sales     162,376     130,698     117,403     145,508     128,531   
Unusual charge(2)                       27,237         
              
Gross profit     69,678     54,604     51,611     36,777     60,948   
Selling, general and administrative expenses(3)     56,450     47,638     44,900     53,209     47,037   
Provision—doubtful accounts(2)     734     93     1,548     6,676     1,242   
Impairment charge(2)                       5,519         
              
Operating income (loss)     12,494     6,873     5,163     (28,627 )   12,669   
Interest expense     2,660     2,917     3,978     3,656     1,736   
Interest (income)     (533 )   (500 )   (496 )   (509 )   (582 ) 
              
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest in 
(profit) of consolidated subsidiary, and profit (loss) in 
investment of equity company     10,367     4,456     1,681     (31,774 )   11,515   
Income taxes (benefits)(1)     3,542     14,667     (868 )   (10,245 )   3,631   
Minority interest in (profit) of consolidated subsidiary     (2,433 )   (1,257 )   (566 )   (642 )   (263 ) 
Profit (loss) in investment of equity company     —    184     17     318     (89 ) 
              
Net income (loss)(1)(2)   $ 4,392   $ (11,284 ) $ 2,000   $ (21,853 ) $ 7,532   
              
PER SHARE DATA:                                 
Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding—basic     8,745     8,708     8,687     8,695     8,755   
Basic earnings (loss) per share   $ .50   $ (1.30 ) $ .23   $ (2.51 ) $ .86   
              
Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding—diluted     8,773     8,708     8,687     8,695     8,794   
Diluted earnings (loss) per share   $ .50   $ (1.30 ) $ .23   $ (2.51 ) $ .86   
              
Cash dividends declared per share   $ .03   $ .02   $ .10   $ .53   $ .56   
              
BALANCE SHEET DATA                                 
Working capital   $ 122,181   $ 103,280   $ 103,864   $ 61,837   $ 120,324   
Total assets     286,311     245,707     256,285     257,872     283,116   
Total debt     42,868     23,301     42,002     60,558     58,559   
Shareholders' equity     150,000     139,086     145,786     141,215     169,463   

2003 results include a non-cash charge for income tax expense of $12,905 to provide a valuation allowance for the Company's U.S. deferred tax assets as required by FAS 109.  
 

(2)  2001 results include an unusual charge of $27,237 for inventory write-downs for underperforming product lines; a one time additional provision for doubtful accounts of $5,200; and 
$5,519 for impairment of goodwill and other underutilized assets. The after tax impact of those unusual items was $26,455 in aggregate.  
 

(3)  2001 and 2000 SG&A included amortization of goodwill of $826 and $144, respectively, whereas, 2004, 2003 and 2002 had no amortization expense due to the adoption of 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.  

ITEM 7.—MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

         Overview. The Company's primary business is designing, manufacturing, and distributing high-precision computer controlled metal-cutting 
turning, grinding and milling machines and related accessories. The Company is geographically diversified with manufacturing facilities in the 
U.S., Switzerland, Taiwan, and China and with sales to most industrialized countries. Approximately 60% of  
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its 2004 sales were to customers outside North America, and 53% of its employees are outside of North America.  

        The Company's machine products are considered to be capital goods and are part of what has historically been a highly cyclical industry. 
The Company's management believes that a key performance indicator is its order level as compared to industry measures of market activity 
levels.  

        The U.S. market activity metric most closely watched by management has been metal-cutting machine orders as reported by the Association 
of Manufacturing Technology (AMT), the primary industry group for U.S. machine tool manufacturers. In 2004, industry-wide orders for metal 
cutting machine tools increased 48% from the previous year. In 2003, orders decreased by 6% from 2002. The AMT's statistics include metal-
cutting machines of all types and sizes, including segments where the Company does not compete. The Company does use this metric as an 
indication of overall market trends. While more detailed information regarding types of machines is not publicly available, the Company is able 
to obtain more detailed information because of its membership in the organization to determine market trends for the types of machines it 
distributes.  

        Similar information regarding machine tool consumption in foreign countries is published in various trade journals. In Germany, the 
Company's second largest market, consumption measured in local currencies increased by 5% when comparing 2004 to 2003, while it decreased 
by 17% when comparing 2003 to 2002. In China, the Company's next largest market, consumption increased by 37% from 2003 to 2004, and 
increased by 27% from 2002 to 2003. In the United Kingdom, the fourth largest market for the Company, machine tool consumption measured 
in pound sterling increased by 19% when comparing 2004 to 2003, and decreased by 13% when comparing 2003 to 2002.  

        Other closely followed U.S. market indicators are tracked to determine activity levels in U.S. manufacturing plants that might purchase the 
Company's products. One such measurement is the PMI (formerly called the Purchasing Manager's Index), as reported by the Institute for Supply 
Management. This measurement has been on an increasing trend during the past two years and, in fact, has reached its highest level in the past 
10 years. Another measurement is capacity utilization for manufacturing companies, as reported by the Federal Reserve Board. This 
measurement has been on an upward trend, but has not yet reached the levels that have historically preceded a strong level of capital spending by 
manufacturers. The Company's management is not aware of comparably reliable measures of foreign demand or customer activity.  

        Non-machine sales which includes accessories, repair parts, and service revenue have typically accounted for between 30% to 35% of 
overall sales and are an important part of the Company's business, especially in the U.S. where Hardinge has an installed base of thousands of 
machines. Sales of these products do not vary on a year to year basis as significantly as capital goods, but demand does typically track the 
direction of the related machine metrics.  

        Other key performance indicators are geographic distribution of sales and orders, gross margin as percent of sales, income from operations, 
working capital changes, and debt level trends. In an industry where constant product technology development has led to an average model life 
of three to five years, effectiveness of technological innovation and development of new products are also key performance indicators.  

        The Company's management believes currency exchange rate changes are significant to reported results for several reasons. The Company's 
primary competitors, particularly for the most technologically advanced products, are now largely manufacturers in Japan, Germany, and 
Switzerland, which causes the worldwide valuation of the yen, euro, and Swiss franc to be central to competitive pricing in all of the Company's 
markets. Also, the Company translates the results of its Swiss, Taiwanese, Chinese, English, German and Canadian subsidiaries into U.S. dollars 
for consolidation and reporting purposes. Period to period changes in the exchange rate between their local currency and the  
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U.S. dollar may affect comparative data significantly. The Company also purchases computer controls and other components from suppliers 
throughout the world, with purchase costs reflecting currency changes.  

        In the past few years, pension liabilities have represented another significant uncertainty for the Company. The Company provides defined 
benefit pension plans for eligible employees in the U.S., Switzerland, England, and Taiwan. Recent declines in interest rates used to calculate the 
present value of future pension obligations and negative U.S. and UK equity market investment returns in 2002 have resulted in deferred pension 
charges to equity of $1,097,000 in 2004 and $3,940,000 in 2003. Although these are non-cash charges that do not affect net income, the 
underlying economic causes reflect a risk of increased future pension expense. U.S. employees hired after March 1, 2004 will receive retirement 
benefits under the Company's 401k defined contribution plan and will not be entitled to benefits under the defined benefit pension plan.  

        Acquisition of Bridgeport Assets.     On November 3, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of certain assets of the former 
Bridgeport Machine operations from Bridgeport International, a portfolio company of American Capital Strategies Ltd., and from the court 
appointed receiver of the former Bridgeport operations in the U.K. The acquisition of the worldwide name, trademark, copyrights and other 
miscellaneous intangibles related to the operations of Bridgeport was recorded as an intangible asset of $6,808,000. Goodwill of $509,000 was 
recorded resulting from the acquisition of a sales and service operation in Europe. The Company also purchased approximately $5,000,000 of 
finished machine inventory at the time of the purchase.  

        The Bridgeport name has long been associated with a full range of quality machining centers. The Company intends to use this brand name 
for all of its machining center lines. The products of Bridgeport will expand the line of machines available in this segment. Also, the operations 
in the UK will be combined with the Company's U.K. subsidiary to provide sales and service support for the complete line of Hardinge company 
products.  

Results of Operations  

2004 Compared to 2003  

        Orders and Backlog:     The Company's new orders rose 37% to $255,678,000 in 2004 compared to $186,447,000 in 2003, as shown in the 
table below:  

        This $69,231,000 increase in new orders included $7,573,000 due to the decline in the exchange rate of the dollar against the operational 
currencies of some of the Company's subsidiaries. This represents the increased dollar value of the orders originally recorded in the Swiss franc, 
British pound sterling, and the New Taiwanese dollars when those orders are translated into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes. The remaining 
$61,658,000 increase in orders represents a 33% increase over 2003 orders.  

        The Company's North American orders increased as market conditions improved. The increase in orders from European customers included 
$5,521,000 of currency exchange impact and approximately $6,810,000 of new Bridgeport products. Without these two impacts, European 
orders increased by $15,049,000, or 23%, which reflects improved market conditions in Europe for the Company's grinding operations and 
growing acceptance of the Company's baseline machining center and turning products.  
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Orders from Customers in:  

  

2004 

  

2003 

  

Change 

  

% 
Change 

  

     

(dollars in thousands)  

   
North America   $ 100,636   $ 87,822   $ 12,814   15 % 
Europe     91,895     64,515     27,380   42 % 
Asia & Other     63,147     34,110     29,037   85 % 
              
  Total   $ 255,678   $ 186,447   $ 69,231   37 % 
              



 

        Orders in 2004 from Asia and Other regions includes a $13,573,000 order for specialty grinding machines the Company was able to obtain 
after it purchased the assets of Bridgeport. The machines under this order will ship beginning in the later part of the first quarter and are 
anticipated to be completed by the fourth quarter of 2005. Translation affects of the currency rate changes added $2,052,000 to the Asian orders 
when comparing the two years. Excluding these two items, orders increased by $13,412,000, or 39% reflecting growth in China as that market 
continues to expand.  

        The Company's December 31, 2004 backlog of $66,318,000 was 55% above the December 31, 2003 backlog of $42,747,000. The 
previously described currency exchange rate changes increased the dollar value of the backlogs of the Company's foreign subsidiaries by 
$2,063,000. Excluding those impacts, the Company's backlog increased by 50%.  

        The following table summarizes certain financial data for 2004 and 2003:  

        Net Sales.     Net sales were $232,054,000 in 2004, compared to $185,302,000 in 2003. This increase of $46,752,000, or 25.2% of the 2003 
sales level, included increases in all three sales regions, as shown below:  

        The previously discussed decline in the exchange rate of the dollar against the foreign currencies resulted in $7,872,000 of the overall 
increase in sales. Excluding exchange rate impacts, sales increased by 21%.  

        Sales to customers in North America increased as market conditions improved. Sales to European customers in 2004 were 26% above 2003 
sales. Currency exchange rates impacted this number by $5,847,000 and sales of the new Bridgeport products added approximately $3,138,000. 
Excluding these items, 2004 European sales increased by 13.5%, reflecting better market conditions and market acceptance of new products.  

        Sales in the Asia and Other region, primarily sales to China, rose 46% to $45,765,000. This reflects the growing market in China and the 
Company's continuing initiatives to expand its sales and support capabilities within that region.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

Change 

  

% Change 

  

     

(dollars in thousands)  

   
Net Sales   $ 232,054   $ 185,302   $ 46,752   25.2 % 
Gross Profit     69,678     54,604     15,074   27.6 % 
Income from operations     12,494     6,873     5,621   81.8 % 
Profit before taxes     10,367     4,456     5,911   132.7 % 
Net income (loss)     4,392     (11,284 )   15,676       
Gross Profit as % of sales     30.0 %   29.5 %   .5 %     
Income from Operations as % of sales     5.4 %   3.7 %   1.7 %     
Net income (loss) as % of sales     1.9 %   (6.1 %)   8.0 %     

Sales to Customers in:  

  

2004 

  

2003 

  

Change 

  

% Change 

  

     

(dollars in thousands)  

   
North America   $ 93,272   $ 80,087   $ 13,185   16 % 
Europe     93,017     73,863     19,154   26 % 
Asia & Other     45,765     31,352     14,413   46 % 
              
    $ 232,054   $ 185,302   $ 46,752   25 % 
              



        The geographic mix of sales is further reflected as percentages of total sales as shown in the table below:  

        Machine sales represented 70.2% of 2004 revenues, as compared to 68.3% of 2003 sales. Sales of non-machine products and services, 
primarily repair parts and accessories, made up the balance.  

        Gross Profit.     Gross profit was $69,678,000, or 30.0% of sales in 2004, compared to $54,604,000, or 29.5% of sales in 2003. The slightly 
higher gross profit percentage reflects better utilization of manufacturing fixed overhead as production levels increased in each of the Company's 
manufacturing plants. Part of these benefits were offset by reduced gross profits caused by exchange rate changes for machines manufactured in 
Switzerland and Taiwan and sold in U.S. dollars, primarily in the U.S. and China.  

        Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses.     Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses for the year 2004 were 
$56,450,000, or 24.3% of net sales, compared to $47,638,000, or 25.7% of sales, in 2003. Overall, the expense increased due to commission 
expenses which increased by $2,151,000 on the higher volume, currency translation impacts of $2,056,000, addition of the sales and service 
operations of Bridgeport of $1,292,000 and additional audit and other outside expenses associated with Sarbanes Oxley compliance of $668,000. 
The remainder of the expense increase results primarily from expansion of the Company's sales and support functions to manage the growth in 
worldwide operations. SG&A expenses as a percentage of sales decreased due to the impact of comparing the fixed portions of these expenses 
against a larger sales volume.  

        Provision for Doubtful Accounts.     Bad debt expense was $734,000 for the year 2004, compared to $93,000 incurred during 2003. Each 
quarter, the Company reviews the sufficiency of its allowance for bad debts, based upon its recent experience, prior years experience and the 
makeup and aging of its current receivables, and adjusts the allowance for bad debts accordingly. In 2003, these reviews led to reduced expense 
as less additional provision was warranted. In addition, certain foreign entities, based on several years of minimal bad debt write-offs, recorded 
reductions to allowances for bad debts which exceeded 2003 year charges by $368,000.  

        Income from Operations.     Income from operations increased to $12,494,000, or 5.4% of sales, in 2004 from $6,873,000, or 3.7% of sales 
in 2003 largely due to the increased sales level.  

        Interest Expense & Interest Income.     Interest expense for the year 2004 was $2,660,000, a reduction from $2,917,000 in 2003 caused by 
reduced average borrowings. Interest income, primarily derived from previous years' internally financed customer sales, was $533,000 in 2004 
and $500,000 in 2003.  

        Income Taxes/Benefits.     Income tax expense in 2004 was $3,542,000 and primarily represents taxes payable on profits in the Company's 
operations in Switzerland and Asia. There is no tax benefit recorded on losses in the U.S. and the U.K, in accordance with the provisions of 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109). The 2003 income tax expense of $14,667,000 included a charge of 
$12,905,000 to provide a valuation allowance for the Company's U.S. deferred tax assets. As specified in SFAS 109, the Company regularly 
reviews recent results and projected future results of its operations, as well as other relevant factors, to reconfirm the likelihood that existing  

14  

Sales to Customers in:  

  

2004 

  

2003 

  

Change 

  
North America   40.2 % 43.2 % (3.0 %) 
Europe   40.1 % 39.9 % .2 % 
Asia & Other   19.7 % 16.9 % 2.8 % 
            
  Total   100.0 % 100.0 %     
            



 

deferred tax assets in each tax jurisdiction would be fully recoverable. In the case of the U. S. operations, this recoverability had been based 
largely on the likelihood of future taxable income.  

        During the third quarter of 2003, it was determined that it was unlikely that the Company's U.S. operations would return to profitability by 
the end of the year, as had been previously expected. SFAS 109 stipulates that when a Company is relying largely on future taxable income and 
also has a three year cumulative pre-tax loss, considerably greater positive evidence is necessary to conclude that deferred tax assets do not 
warrant a valuation allowance. The Company did not feel that this high standard for positive evidence could be fully met and the valuation 
allowance was established. Also, under the provisions of SFAS 109, no current year tax benefit is recognized for net operating loss 
carryforwards generated.  

        Minority Interest In (Profit) of Consolidated Subsidiary.     The Company has a 51% interest in Hardinge Taiwan Precision Machinery 
Limited, an entity that is recorded as a consolidated subsidiary. In 2004 and 2003, respectively, $2,433,000 and $1,257,000 of reductions in 
consolidated net income represent the minority stockholders' 49% share in the joint venture's net income.  

        Profit In Investment of Equity Company.     The Company was a 50% owner of Hardinge EMAG GmbH, a joint venture with a German 
machine tool manufacturer, until the Company sold this investment in December 2003. The Company's 50% share generated profits for Hardinge 
of $184,000 in 2003.  

        Net Income (Loss).     Operations in 2004 generated net income of $4,392,000, or $.50 per basic and diluted shares outstanding compared to 
a net loss of $(11,284,000) for the year 2003, or $(1.30) per basic and diluted share. As previously described, the 2003 loss included a 
$12,905,000 charge for a valuation allowance against the Company's U.S. deferred tax assets.  

Results of Operations  
2003 Compared to 2002  

        Orders and Backlog:     The Company's new orders rose 20.1% to $186,447,000 in 2003 compared to $155,271,000 in 2002, as shown in 
the table below:  

        This $31,176,000 increase in new orders included $10,983,000 due to the decline in the exchange rate of the dollar. This represents the 
increased dollar value of the orders originally recorded in the Swiss franc and other local currencies of the Company's foreign subsidiaries when 
those orders are translated into U.S. dollars for consolidation. The remaining $20,193,000 increase in orders represents a 13.0% increase over 
2002 orders.  

        The Company's North American orders rose despite a continuing decline in industry-wide orders, with 2003 metal-cutting machinery orders 
from U.S. customers, as reported by the Association for Manufacturing Technology, 6% below the already depressed levels of 2002. U.S. orders 
for Hardinge's traditional products outpaced the overall industry. The Company also added incremental new business from Bridgeport knee 
mills, repair parts and services added to its product lines in 2003.  
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Orders from Customers in:  

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

Change 

  

% 
Change 

  

     

(dollars in thousands)  

   
North America   $ 87,822   $ 70,353   $ 17,469   24.8 % 
Europe     64,515     55,405     9,110   16.4 % 
Asia & Other     34,110     29,513     4,597   15.6 % 
              
  Total   $ 186,447   $ 155,271   $ 31,176   20.1 % 
              



 

        Orders from European customers were 16.4% above 2002 orders. However, excluding the previously mentioned impacts of exchange rate 
changes, European orders in 2003 were only 2.3% above 2002 levels. European order levels reflect low economic growth throughout continental 
Europe.  

        Orders from Asia and Other regions were 15.6% above the record level achieved in 2002. Although second quarter orders from Asia were 
clearly lower as a result of the SARS outbreak, the Company believes that full-year 2003 order levels were not significantly affected.  

        The Company's December 31, 2003 backlog of $42,747,000 was 15.5% above the December 31, 2002 backlog of $37,024,000. The 
previously described currency exchange rate changes significantly increased the dollar value of the backlogs of the Company's foreign 
subsidiaries. Excluding those impacts, the Company's backlog increased by 8.5%.  

        The following table summarizes certain financial data for 2003 and 2002:  

        Net Sales.     Net sales were $185,302,000 in 2003, compared to $169,014,000 in 2002. This increase of $16,288,000, or 9.6% of the 2002 
sales level, included all three sales regions, as shown below:  

        The previously discussed decline in the exchange rate of the dollar against the Swiss franc and other currencies resulted in $11,809,000 of 
this increase. Excluding exchange rate impacts, sales rose 2.7%.  

        Sales to customers in North America increased 15.4% despite the previously described 6% decline in 2003 metal-cutting machine orders 
from U.S. manufacturers. Sales of Bridgeport knee mills, repair parts and service, which began during the first quarter of 2003, and a single large 
order from an auto parts manufacturer, contributed approximately $13,000,000 to 2003 sales. Excluding these two impacts, net sales to 
customers in the U.S. would have declined by 3.3%.  

        Sales to European customers were 3.8% above 2002 sales. However, excluding the previously described impacts of exchange rate 
translation effects, 2003 sales to European customers were 8.8% below 2002 sales.  

        Sales in the Asia and Other region, primarily sales to China, rose 10.2% to $31,352,000 in 2003 compared to $28,460,000 in 2002. This 
reflects the Company's continuing initiatives to expand its sales and manufacturing capabilities within China.  

16  

     

Year Ended December 31, 

  

     

2003 

  

2002 

  

Change 

  

% Change 

  

     

(dollars in thousands)  

   
Net Sales   $ 185,302   $ 169,014   $ 16,288   9.6 % 
Gross Profit     54,604     51,611     2,993   5.8 % 
Income from operations     6,873     5,163     1,710   33.1 % 
Profit before taxes     4,456     1,681     2,775   165.1 % 
Net (loss) income     (11,284 )   2,000     (13,284 )     
Gross Profit as % of sales     29.5 %   30.5 %   (1.0 %)     
PBT as % of sales     2.4 %   1.0 %   1.4 %     
Net (loss) income as % of sales     (6.1 %)   1.2 %   (7.3 %)     

Sales to Customers in:  

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

Change 

  

% 
Change 

  

     

(dollars in thousands)  

   
North America   $ 80,087   $ 69,400   $ 10,687   15.4 % 
Europe     73,863     71,154     2,709   3.8 % 
Asia & Other     31,352     28,460     2,892   10.2 % 
              
    $ 185,302   $ 169,014   $ 16,288   9.6 % 
              



 

        The geographic mix of sales is further reflected as percentages of total sales as shown in the table below:  

        Machine sales represented 68.3% of 2003 revenues, as compared to 66.5% of 2002 sales. Sales of non-machine products and services, 
primarily repair parts and accessories, made up the balance.  

        Gross Profit.     Gross profit was $54,604,000 in 2003, compared to $51,611,000 in 2002, reflecting the higher sales levels described 
previously. Stated as a percent of sales, gross profits were 29.5% in 2003 compared to 30.5% in 2002. Gross profits were adversely impacted in 
both years by lower recovery of fixed manufacturing overhead due to reduced production levels, reflecting the prolonged downturn in U.S. 
machine tool demand and the 2003 decline in European machinery demand. The Company has implemented personnel reductions and other cost 
reduction measures throughout its North American and European operations but these have only partially offset the impacts of lower production 
volumes.  

        Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses.     Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses for the year 2003 were 
$47,638,000, or 25.7% of net sales, compared to $44,900,000, or 26.6% of sales, in 2002. Excluding the effects of exchange rate translation 
changes, as described previously, SG&A expenses increased by only $225,000. SG&A expenses as a percentage of sales decreased due to the 
impact of comparing the fixed portions of these expenses against a larger sales volume.  

        Provision for Doubtful Accounts.     Bad debt expense was $93,000 for the year 2003, compared to $1,548,000 incurred during 2002. Each 
quarter, the Company reviews the sufficiency of its allowance for bad debts, based upon its recent experience, prior years experience and the 
makeup and aging of its current receivables, and adjusts the allowance for bad debts accordingly. In 2003, these reviews led to reduced expense 
as less additional provision was warranted. In addition, certain foreign entities, based on several years of minimal bad debt write-offs, recorded 
reductions to allowances for bad debts which exceeded 2003 year charges by $368,000. Bad debt expense in 2002 was higher because of 
unfavorable economic conditions in the U.S. which adversely affected the Company's customers' ability to pay.  

        Income from Operations.     Income from operations was $6,873,000, or 3.7% of sales, during 2003, compared to $5,163,000, or 3.1% of 
sales, in 2002, largely due to the increased sales and other factors described previously.  

        Interest Expense & Interest Income.     Interest expense for the year 2003 was $2,917,000 compared to $3,978,000 in 2002. This 26.7% 
decrease was largely due to reduced average borrowings. Interest income, primarily derived from previous years' internally financed customer 
sales, was $500,000 in 2003 and $496,000 in 2002.  

        Income Taxes/Benefits.     The 2003 income tax expense of $14,667,000 included a charge of $12,905,000 to provide a valuation allowance 
for the Company's U.S. deferred tax assets. As specified in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.109 (SFAS 109), the Company 
regularly reviews recent results and projected future results of its operations, as well as other relevant factors, to reconfirm the likelihood that 
existing deferred tax assets in each tax jurisdiction would be fully recoverable. In the case of the U. S. operations, this recoverability had been 
based largely on the likelihood of future taxable income.  
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Sales to Customers in:  

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

Change 

  
North America   43.2 % 41.1 % 2.1 % 
Europe   39.9 % 42.1 % (2.2 %) 
Asia & Other   16.9 % 16.8 % 0.1 % 
            
  Total   100.0 % 100.0 %     
            



        During the third quarter of 2003, it was determined that it was unlikely that the Company's U.S. operations would return to profitability by 
the end of the year, as had been previously expected. SFAS 109 stipulates that when a Company is relying largely on future taxable income and 
also has a three year cumulative pre-tax loss, considerably greater positive evidence is necessary to conclude that deferred tax assets do not 
warrant a valuation allowance. The Company did not feel that this high standard for positive evidence could be fully met and the valuation 
allowance was established.  

        The 2002 income tax benefit contributed $868,000 to 2002 net income and occurred despite a consolidated pre-tax income of $1,681,000. 
The 2002 income tax benefit included a favorable foreign taxing authority ruling, which contributed $472,000 not related to 2002 income. The 
2002 tax benefits were also driven by the combination of profits earned in jurisdictions with comparatively lower tax rates offset by significant 
losses incurred in jurisdictions with higher tax rates.  

        Minority Interest In (Profit) of Consolidated Subsidiary.     The Company has a 51% interest in Hardinge Taiwan Precision Machinery 
Limited, an entity that is recorded as a consolidated subsidiary. In 2003 and 2002, respectively, $1,257,000 and $566,000 of reductions in 
consolidated net income represent the minority stockholders' 49% share in the joint venture's net income.  

        Profit In Investment of Equity Company.     The Company was a 50% owner of Hardinge EMAG GmbH, a joint venture with a German 
machine tool manufacturer, until the Company sold this investment in December 2003. The Company's 50% share generated profits for Hardinge 
of $184,000 in 2003, as compared to a profit of $17,000 recognized in 2002.  

         Net (Loss) Income . A net loss of $(11,284,000) was incurred for the year 2003, or $(1.30) per basic and diluted share, compared to a profit 
of $2,000,000, or $.23 per basic and diluted share for the year 2002. As previously described, the 2003 loss included a $12,905,000 charge for a 
valuation allowance against the Company's U.S. deferred tax assets.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

        The Company's current ratio at December 31, 2004 was 3.00:1 compared to 3.34:1 at December 31, 2003.  

        As shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash used in operating activities was $(6,558,000) in 2004, compared to 
$22,211,000 of cash generated from operating activities in 2003.  

        The table below illustrates the difference in cash flows from operating activities by the major line items from the Statements of Cash Flows 
indicated for 2004 versus 2003:  
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Cash Flow  
2004 

  

Cash Flow  
2003 

  

Change in  
Cash Flow 

  

     

(dollars in thousands)  

   
Net income (loss)   $ 4,392   $ (11,284 ) 15,676   
Provision for deferred taxes     (420 )   13,291   (13,711 ) 
Depreciation and amortization     8,980     8,668   312   
Accounts receivable     (17,470 )   (3,256 ) (14,214 ) 
Inventories     (9,102 )   5,296   (14,398 ) 
Income taxes receivable     0     5,795   (5,795 ) 
Other assets     (2,118 )   (2,300 ) 182   
Accrued expenses     (4,239 )   5,337   (9,576 ) 
Accounts payable     10,670     (1,217 ) 11,887   
Minority interest     2,433     1,257   1,176   
Other     316     624   (308 ) 
          
Cash (used in) provided by operating activities   $ (6,558 ) $ 22,211   (28,769 ) 
          



        The 2003 net loss of $(11,284,000) and $13,291,000 change in provision for deferred taxes both included the $12,905,000 deferred tax 
charge described previously. No such charge occurred in 2004.  

        Accounts receivable and inventory both increased significantly during 2004 as sales and production increased, especially at the end of the 
year. The acquisition of the assets of Bridgeport added $5,000,000 of inventory at the end of the fourth quarter. The accounts payable increase 
also resulted from higher production activity. In 2003, there was no significant change in sales and production from the previous year that would 
have driven similar increases. The decrease in accrued expenses in 2004 is primarily due to payments to the U.S. pension plan. In 2003, 
significant additional pension liabilities were recorded to reflect the under funding of the plan.  

        In 2003, the company received a refund of U.S. taxes generated through net operating loss carrybacks filed in 2002. No such refund was 
available in 2004.  

        Net cash used in investing activities was $13,178,000 in 2004 compared to cash provided from investing activities of $18,000 in 2003.  

        Total capital expenditures included in investing activities were $5,861,000 in 2004, as compared to $1,534,000 in 2003. The 2004 spending 
included $1,549,000 for equipment to outfit the Company's new China manufacturing facility, equipment to improve productivity in 
manufacturing operations, and routine replacements of other equipment. The Company currently plans 2005 expenditures in the range of 
$4 million to $6 million, with expenditures to outfit a leased facility to house the Bridgeport operations, to improve manufacturing productivity 
in its accessories business, and for routine replacement expenditures. Investing activities during 2004 included the acquisition of intangibles and 
goodwill associated with Bridgeport for $7,317,000.  

        Financing activities provided $18,937,000 during 2004, primarily from borrowing on the Company's revolving loan agreements, while they 
used cash of $19,817,000 in 2003, primarily for the paydown of debt, which decreased by $19,664,000 during 2003. Payment of dividends used 
$265,000 of cash in 2004 compared to $178,000 during 2003, reflecting one additional dividend payment of $.01 per share.  

        Hardinge maintained a revolving loan agreement with a group of U.S. banks that was due to expire in August 2005. The loan agreement 
provided for borrowings of up to $30,000,000 secured by substantially all of the Company's domestic assets other than real estate and by a 
pledge of two-thirds of its investment in its Canadian and European subsidiaries. At December 31, 2004, borrowings under this agreement 
totaled $24,900,000.  

        The Company also had a term loan with substantially the same security and financial covenants as provided under the revolving loan 
agreement described in the previous paragraph. The balance of the term loan at December 31, 2004 was $13,400,000 and the terms provided for 
quarterly payments of $1,200,000 through December 2007.  

        The Company's Swiss subsidiaries maintain unsecured overdraft facilities with commercial banks that permit borrowing up to 11,000,000 
Swiss francs, equivalent to approximately $9,639,000. There were borrowings of $951,000 under these facilities at December 31, 2004 and 
$17,000 as of December 31, 2003. The Company also has loan agreements with a Swiss bank which provide for borrowings up to 7,500,000 
Swiss francs which is equivalent to approximately $6,572,000. These agreements are secured by the real property owned by the two Swiss 
subsidiaries.  
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        The following table shows the future minimum payments under these financing arrangements, before the renegotiation of the term loan 
described below, and under non-cancelable operating leases over the next five years:  

        In January 2005, the Company negotiated a new loan agreement that replaced the revolving loan agreement and that was used to pay the 
balance on the term loan. This agreement provides for a revolving loan facility allowing for borrowing up to $40,000,000 through January 2011 
and a term loan of $30,000,000 with quarterly principal payments of $1,200,000 through 2006 and $1,275,000 from 2007 through 
December 2010. These loans are secured by substantially all of the Company's domestic assets other than real estate and by a pledge of two-
thirds of its investment in its major subsidiaries.  

        These facilities, along with other short-term credit agreements, provide for immediate access of up to $96,498,000. Total outstanding 
borrowings at December 31, 2004 were $42,868,000.  

        The Company conducts some of its manufacturing, sales and service operations from leased space, with lease terms up to 20 years, and uses 
certain data processing equipment under lease agreements expiring at various dates. Rent expense under these leases totaled $2,011,000, 
$2,334,000, and $2,353,000, during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  

        The Company believes that the currently available funds and credit facilities, along with internally generated funds, will provide sufficient 
financial resources for ongoing operations.  

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements  

        The Company does not have any off balance sheet arrangements.  

Market Risk  

        The following information has been provided in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission's requirements for disclosure of 
exposures to market risk arising from certain market risk sensitive instruments.  

        The Company's earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of its floating interest rate debt. However, due to its 
purchase of interest rate swap agreements, the effects of interest rate changes are limited. If market interest rates on debt subject to floating 
interest rates were to have increased by 2% over the actual rates paid in that year, interest expense would have increased by $250,000 in 2004 
and $67,000 in 2003, after considering the effect of the interest rate swap agreements. These amounts are determined by considering the impact 
of hypothetical interest rates on the Company's borrowing cost and interest rate swap agreements.  

        A portion of the Company's operations consists of manufacturing and sales activities in foreign jurisdictions. The Company currently 
manufactures its products in the United States, Switzerland, Taiwan and China using production components purchased internationally, and sells 
the products in those markets as well as other worldwide markets. The U.S. parent company purchases grinding machines manufactured in 
Switzerland by its two Swiss subsidiaries. Likewise, it purchases vertical machining centers and other machines manufactured in Taiwan by its 
51% owned Taiwanese subsidiary and other Taiwanese manufacturers. The Company's subsidiaries in the U.K., Germany, Switzerland and 
Canada sell products in local currency to customers in those countries. The Company's Taiwanese subsidiary sells products to foreign purchasers 
in U.S. dollars. As a result of these sales in various  
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Year  

  

Future minimum  
debt payments 

  

Future minimum  
lease payments 

     

(in thousands)  

 
2005   $ 4,893   $ 1,715 
2006     4,893     1,162 
2007     3,893     980 
2008     93     813 
2009     93     696 



 

currencies and in various countries of the world, the Company's financial results could be significantly affected by factors such as changes in 
foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in the foreign markets in which the Company distributes its products. The 
Company's operating results are exposed to changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar, Canadian dollar, U.K. pound, Swiss franc, Euro, 
New Taiwan Dollar, and Japanese yen. To mitigate the short-term effect of changes in currency exchange rates on the Company's functional 
currency based purchases and sales, the Company occasionally hedges by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts for amounts less than 
its projected 3 to 6 months of such purchase and sales transactions.  

Discussion of Critical Accounting Policies  

        The preparation of the Company's financial statements requires the application of a number of accounting policies which are described in 
the notes to the financial statements. These policies require the use of assumptions or estimates, which, if interpreted differently under different 
conditions or circumstances, could result in material changes to the reported results. Following is a discussion of those accounting policies, 
which were reviewed with the Company's audit committee, and which the company feels are most susceptible to such interpretation.  

        Accounts and Notes Receivable.     The Company assesses the collectibility of its trade accounts and notes receivable using a combination 
of methods. It reviews large individual accounts for evidence of circumstances that suggest a collection problem might exist. Such situations 
include, but are not limited to, the customer's past history of payments, its current financial condition as evidenced by credit ratings, financial 
statements or other sources, and recent collection activities. The Company's notes receivable are limited to machine sales to end-user customers 
in North America, and a security interest is normally maintained in the equipment sold under terms of the notes. In cases where repossession 
may be likely, the Company, on a quarterly basis, estimates the probable resale potential of the assets to be repossessed net of repossession, 
refurbishment and resale costs, and provides a reserve for the remaining receivable balance after realization of such proceeds. Also on a quarterly 
basis, the Company provides a reserve for losses based on current payment trends in the economies where it holds concentrations of receivables 
and provides a reserve for what it believes to be the most likely risk of uncollectibility. In order to make these allowances, the Company relies on 
assumptions regarding economic conditions, equipment resale values, and the likelihood that previous performance will be indicative of future 
results.  

        Inventories.     The Company uses a number of assumptions and estimates in determining the value of its inventory. An allowance is 
provided for the value of inventory quantities of specific items that are deemed to be excessive based on an annual review of past usage and 
anticipated future usage. While the Company feels this is the most appropriate methodology for determining excess quantities, the possibility 
exists that customers will change their buying habits in the future should their own requirements change. Changes in metal-cutting technology 
can render certain products obsolete or reduce their market value. The Company continually evaluates changes in technology and adjusts its 
products and inventories accordingly, either by write-off or by price reductions. However, the possibility exists that a future technological 
development, currently unanticipated, might affect the marketability of specific products produced by the Company.  

        The Company includes in the cost of its inventories a component to cover the estimated cost of overhead activities associated with 
production of its products.  

        The Company believes that being able to offer immediate delivery on many of its products is critical to its competitive success. Likewise, it 
believes that maintaining an inventory of service parts, with a particular emphasis on purchased parts, is especially important to support its 
policy of maintaining serviceability of its products. Consequently, it maintains significant inventories of repair parts on many of its machine 
models, including some which are no longer in production. The  
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Company's ability to accurately determine which parts are needed to maintain this serviceability is critical to its success in managing this element 
of its business.  

        Intangible Assets.     The Company has acquired other machine tool companies or assets of companies. When doing so, it has used outside 
specialists to assist it in determining the value of assets acquired, and has used traditional models for establishing purchase price based on 
EBITDA multiples and present value of cash flows. Consequently, the value of goodwill and other purchased intangible assets on the Company's 
balance sheet has been affected by the use of numerous estimates of the value of assets purchased and of future business opportunity.  

        Net Deferred Tax Assets.     The Company recorded a 2003 charge of $12,905,000 to provide a valuation allowance for its U.S. deferred tax 
assets. As specified in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.109 (SFAS 109), the Company regularly, and at least quarterly, reviews 
the recent results and projected future results of its operations, as well as other relevant factors, to reconfirm the likelihood that existing deferred 
tax assets in each tax jurisdiction would be fully recoverable. In the Company's case, this recoverability had been based largely on the likelihood 
of future taxable income.  

        During the third quarter of 2003, it was determined that it was unlikely that the Company's U.S. operations would return to profitability by 
the end of the year, as had been previously expected. SFAS 109 stipulates that when a Company is relying largely on future taxable income and 
also has a three year cumulative pre-tax loss, considerably greater positive evidence is necessary to conclude that deferred tax assets do not 
warrant a valuation allowance. The Company did not feel that this high standard for positive evidence could be fully met and the valuation 
allowance was established.  

        Retirement Plans.     The Company sponsors various defined benefit pension plans and one postretirement benefit plan, all as described in 
Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The calculation of the Company's plan expenses and liabilities require the use of a number of 
critical accounting estimates. Changes in the assumptions can result in different plan expense and liability amounts, and actual experience can 
differ from the assumptions. The Company believes that the most critical assumptions are the discount rate and the expected rate of return on 
plan assets.  

        The Company annually reviews the discount rate to be used for retirement plan liabilities, considering rates of return on high quality, long 
term corporate bonds that receive highest ratings by recognized rating agencies. The Company discounted its future plan liabilities for its U.S. 
plan using a rate of 6.00% at its plan measurement dates of September 30, 2004 and 2003. The Company discounted its future plan liabilities for 
its foreign plans using rates appropriate for each country, which resulted in a blended rate of 3.78% and 4.36% at their measurement dates of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. A change in the discount rate can have a significant effect on retirement plan expense. For example, 
a decrease in the discount rate of a quarter of a percentage point would increase U.S. pension expense by approximately $246,000 and would 
change foreign pension expenses and postretirement expenses by lesser amounts.  

        The expected rate of return on plan assets varies based on the investment mix of each particular plan and reflects the long-term average rate 
of return expected on funds invested or to be invested in each pension plan to provide for the benefits included in the pension liability. The 
Company reviews its expected rate of return annually based upon information available to the Company at that time, including the historical 
returns of major asset classes, the expected investment mix of the plans' assets, and estimates of future long-term investment returns. The 
Company used an expected rate of return of 8.50% at its plan measurement dates of September 30, 2004 and 2003 for its U.S. plan. The 
Company used rates of return appropriate for each country for its foreign plans which resulted in a blended expected rate of return of 5.03% and 
5.82% at their measurement dates of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. A change in the expected return on plan assets can also have a 
significant effect on retirement plan expense. For example, a decrease of a quarter of a percentage point would increase U.S. pension expense by 
approximately $169,000 and would change foreign pension plan expenses by lesser amounts.  
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New Accounting Standards  

        In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an 
Interpretation of ARB No. 51 ("FIN 46"). FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the 
entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk 
for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. On October 9, 2003, the FASB issued 
Staff Position No. 46-6 which deferred the effective date for applying the provisions of FIN 46 for interests held by public entities in variable 
interest entities or potential variable interest entities created before February 1, 2003. On December 24, 2003, the FASB issued a revision to FIN 
46. Under the revised interpretation, the effective date was delayed to periods ending after March 15, 2004 for all variable interest entities other 
than SPEs. The adoption of FIN 46 did not have an impact on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows because the 
Company does not have any variable interest entities.  

        On May 15, 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments 
with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity . This Statement establishes standards for classifying and measuring as liabilities certain 
financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have characteristics of both liabilities and equity. Statement No. 150 is effective 
for all financial instruments created or modified after May 31, 2003, except for the indefinite deferral of the measurement and recognition 
guidance in Statement No. 150 related to mandatory redeemable noncontrolling interests that are classified as equity in the financial statements 
of the subsidiary but would be classified as a liability in the parent's financial statements under Statement No. 150 because the subsidiary has a 
limited life and to defer the application of the measurement guidance in Statement 150 to mandatory redeemable noncontrolling interests, that 
are not within the scope of the deferral described in the preceding sentence, that were issued on or before November 5, 2003. The Company has 
implemented Statement No. 150, except for the partial deferral described above, and the implementation had no impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company.  

        On December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the "Act") was passed which expands 
Medicare to include an outpatient prescription drug benefit beginning in 2006. To encourage employers to retain or provide postretirement drug 
benefits, beginning in 2006 the federal government will provide non-taxable subsidy payments to employers that sponsor prescription drug 
benefits to retirees that are "actuarially equivalent" to the Medicare benefit. In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 106-2, 
"Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003", which 
provides guidance on how companies should account for the impact of the Act on its postretirement health care plans. Based on guidance 
available at this time, the plan is not expected to be actuarially equivalent to the Medicare benefit due to the fact that the employer's premiums 
are capped at the 2001 level. Based on that assumption, there would be no change in the plans' accumulated postretirement benefit obligation or 
annual expense.  

        In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, Inventory Costs—An Amendment of ARB 
No. 43, Chapter 4. This statement amends ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing , to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, 
freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges. Additionally, SFAS 151 requires that 
allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The Company is 
required to adopt SFAS 151 effective January 1, 2006. Hardinge does not expect the adoption of SFAS 151 to have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company.  
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        In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-1, "Application of FASB Statement No. 109 (SFAS 109), `Accounting 
for Income Taxes,' to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004" (FSP 109-1). 
FSP 109-1 provides that the manufacturer's deduction created in the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act) should be accounted for as a 
special deduction in accordance with SFAS 109 and not as a tax rate reduction. The manufacturer's deduction had no effect on the Company's 
2004 results, as the deduction is first available to the Company in 2005. The Company is currently evaluating the effect that the manufacturer's 
deduction will have on future results.  

        In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-2, "Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings 
Repatriation Provision Within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004" (FSP 109-2). The Act introduced a temporary incentive for U.S. 
multinationals to repatriate earnings accumulated outside the U.S. by providing a one-time tax deduction of 85 percent for certain foreign 
earnings from controlled foreign corporations. FSP 109-2 provides accounting and disclosure guidance for the repatriation provision. The 
Company did not elect to apply this provision in 2004 and may elect to apply this provision to qualifying repatriations in 2005. Due to the 
complexity of the repatriation provision, the Company has not yet completed its evaluation of the impact the Act may have on its decision 
regarding repatriation of earnings, including a definitive calculation of qualifying dividends and the effect of any repatriation on the Company's 
tax provision. The Company expects to complete its evaluation in 2005.  

        In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment 
("SFAS 123R"), which replaces SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , ("SFAS 123") and supercedes APB Opinion 
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees . SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee 
stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements at fair value beginning in Hardinge's third quarter of 2005. Under SFAS 123R, 
Hardinge must determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments, the amortization method for 
compensation cost, and the transition method to be used at date of adoption. The standard permits two transition method adoption alternatives:  

        "Modified prospective adoption" would require the Company to begin expensing share-based payments effective January 1, 2005. Prior 
annual periods would not be restated.  

        "Modified retrospective adoption" would require the Company to begin expensing share-based payments effective January 1, 2005. Prior 
annual periods would be restated.  

        The Company is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 123R will have on the Company's consolidated results of operations and 
financial condition, which in part will be dependent on the transition and amortization methods used to adopt the new rules in 2005.  
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         This report contains statements of a forward-looking nature relating to the financial performance of Hardinge Inc. Such statements are 
based upon information known to management at this time. The company cautions that such statements necessarily involve uncertainties and 
risk and deal with matters beyond the company's ability to control, and in many cases the company cannot predict what factors would cause 
actual results to differ materially from those indicated. Among the many factors that could cause actual results to differ from those set forth in 
the forward-looking statements are fluctuations in the machine tool business cycles, changes in general economic conditions in the U.S. or 
internationally, the mix of products sold and the profit margins thereon, the relative success of the company's entry into new product and 
geographic markets, the company's ability to manage its operating costs, actions taken by customers such as order cancellations or reduced 
bookings by customers or distributors, competitors' actions such as price discounting or new product introductions, governmental regulations 
and environmental matters, changes in the availability and cost of materials and supplies, the implementation of new technologies and currency 
fluctuations. Any forward-looking statement should be considered in light of these factors. The company undertakes no obligation to revise its 
forward-looking statements if unanticipated events alter their accuracy.  

 
ITEM 7A.—QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK.  

        The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled "Market Risk" in Item 7, Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition, of this Form 10K.  
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ITEM 8—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA  

HARDINGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

December 31, 2004  

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is included in Item 15(a) of this report.  

        All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not 
required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

Board of Directors and Shareholders  
Hardinge Inc.  

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hardinge Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and 
the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and 
schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
schedule based on our audits.  

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

        In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Hardinge Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows 
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in 
our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents 
fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.  

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of Hardinge Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
February 25, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

Syracuse, New York  
February 25, 2005  
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HARDINGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

See accompanying notes.  
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December 31, 

     

2004 

  

2003 

     

(In Thousands)  

 
Assets             
Current assets:             
  Cash   $ 4,189   $ 4,739 
  Accounts receivable, net     65,005     44,660 
  Notes receivable, net     6,946     6,354 
  Inventories     100,738     87,064 
  Prepaid expenses     6,509     4,540 
      
Total current assets     183,387     147,357 
 
Property, plant and equipment: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

  Land and buildings     57,618     54,054 
  Machinery, equipment and fixtures     107,142     101,922 
  Office furniture, equipment and vehicles     7,983     6,950 
      
      172,743     162,926 
  Less accumulated depreciation     105,968     96,741 
      
Net property, plant and equipment     66,775     66,185 
 
Other assets: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

  Notes receivable     6,445     7,733 
  Deferred income taxes     427     131 
  Intangible pension asset     304     3,900 
  Other intangible assets     7,551     811 
  Goodwill     20,376     18,314 
  Other     1,046     1,276 
      
      36,149     32,165 
      
 
Total assets 

 
  

 
$ 286,311 

 
  

 
$ 245,707 

      



 
HARDINGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)  

See accompanying notes.  
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December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

     

(In Thousands)  

   

 
Liabilities and shareholders' equity 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Current liabilities:               
  Accounts payable   $ 25,404   $ 13,760   
  Notes payable to bank     2,762     624   
  Accrued expenses     18,670     18,224   
  Accrued pension expense     1,541     —  
  Accrued income taxes     4,230     2,990   
  Deferred income taxes     3,706     3,477   
  Current portion of long-term debt     4,893     5,002   
        
Total current liabilities     61,206     44,077   
 
Other liabilities: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

  Long-term debt     35,213     17,675   
  Accrued pension expense     15,909     23,693   
  Deferred income taxes     3,208     3,163   
  Accrued postretirement benefits     5,927     5,864   
  Derivative financial instruments     5,502     6,194   
  Other liabilities     3,225     2,267   
        
      68,984     58,856   
 
Equity of minority interest 

 
  

 
  6,121 

 
  

 
  3,688 

 
  

Shareholders' equity:               

  

Preferred stock, Series A, par value $.01 per share;  
Authorized 2,000,000; issued—none               

  Common stock, $.01 par value:               
    Authorized shares—20,000,000;               
    Issued shares—9,919,992 at December 31, 2004 and 2003     99     99   
  Additional paid-in capital     60,538     60,586   
  Retained earnings     98,277     94,150   
  Treasury shares—1,090,941 at December 31, 2004 and 1,062,143 shares at December 31, 2003.     (14,119 )   (13,843 ) 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     6,230     (393 ) 
  Deferred employee benefits     (1,025 )   (1,513 ) 
        
Total shareholders' equity     150,000     139,086   
        
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity   $ 286,311   $ 245,707   
        



 
HARDINGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

See accompanying notes.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

     

(In Thousands Except Per Share Data)  

   
Net sales   $ 232,054   $ 185,302   $ 169,014   
Cost of sales     162,376     130,698     117,403   
          
Gross profit     69,678     54,604     51,611   
Selling, general and administrative expenses     56,450     47,638     44,900   
Provision for doubtful accounts     734     93     1,548   
          
Income from operations     12,494     6,873     5,163   
Interest expense     2,660     2,917     3,978   
Interest (income)     (533 )   (500 )   (496 ) 
          
Income before income taxes, minority interest in (profit) of consolidated 
subsidiary, and profit in investment of equity company     10,367     4,456     1,681   
Income taxes (benefits)     3,542     14,667     (868 ) 
Minority interest in (profit) of consolidated subsidiary     (2,433 )   (1,257 )   (566 ) 
Profit in investment of equity company           184     17   
          
Net income (loss)   $ 4,392   $ (11,284 ) $ 2,000   
          
Per share data:                     
Basic earnings per share:                     
  Weighted average number of common shares outstanding     8,745     8,708     8,687   
          

  Basic earnings (loss) per share   $ .50   $ (1.30 ) $ .23   
          
Diluted earnings per share:                     
  Weighted average number of common shares outstanding     8,773     8,708     8,687   
          

  Diluted earnings (loss) per share   $ .50   $ (1.30 ) $ .23   
          
Cash dividends declared per share   $ .03   $ .02   $ .10   
          



 
HARDINGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  

See accompanying notes.  
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Common  
Stock 

  

Additional  
Paid-in  
Capital 

  

Retained  
Earnings 

  

Treasury  
Stock 

  

Accumulated  
Other  
Comp.  
Income  
(Loss) 

  

Deferred  
Employee  
Benefits 

  

Total  
Shareholders'  

Equity 

  

     

(Dollars in thousands)  

   
Balance at December 31, 2001   $ 99   $ 61,328   $ 104,480   ($ 14,934 ) ($ 7,799 ) ($ 1,959 ) $ 141,215   
Comprehensive Income                                             
Net income                 2,000                       2,000   
  Other comprehensive income (loss)                                             
    Pension liability, net of tax                             (5,112 )         (5,112 ) 
    Foreign currency translation adjustment                             12,417           12,417   

    
Unrealized (loss) on cash flow hedge, net of 
tax                             (441 )         (441 ) 

    
Unrealized (loss) on net investment hedge, 
net of tax                             (3,627 )         (3,627 ) 

  

Comprehensive income                                         5,237   
  

Dividends declared                 (868 )                     (868 ) 
Shares issued and forfeited pursuant to long-term 
incentive plan           (47 )         266           (47 )   172   
Amortization (long-term incentive plan)                                   572     572   
Tax benefit from long-term incentive plan           (142 )                           (142 ) 
Net purchase of treasury stock                       (400 )               (400 ) 

  

Balance at December 31, 2002   $ 99   $ 61,139   $ 105,612   ($ 15,068 ) ($ 4,562 ) ($ 1,434 ) $ 145,786   
Comprehensive Income                                             
Net (loss)                 (11,284 )                     (11,284 ) 
  Other comprehensive (loss) income                                             
    Pension liability                             (3,940 )         (3,940 ) 
    Foreign currency translation adjustment                             10,252           10,252   
    Unrealized gain on cash flow hedge                             524           524   
    Unrealized (loss) on net investment hedge                             (2,667 )         (2,667 ) 

  

Comprehensive (loss)                                         (7,115 ) 
  

Dividends declared                 (178 )                     (178 ) 
Shares issued and forfeited pursuant to long-term 
incentive plan           (508 )         1,155           (647 )       
Amortization (long-term incentive plan)                                   568     568   
Net sale of treasury stock           (45 )         70                 25   

  

Balance at December 31, 2003   $ 99   $ 60,586   $ 94,150   ($ 13,843 ) ($ 393 ) ($ 1,513 ) $ 139,086   
Comprehensive Income                                             
Net income                 4,392                       4,392   
  Other comprehensive income (loss)                                             
  Pension liability                             (1,097 )         (1,097 ) 
  Foreign currency translation adjustment                             9,263           9,263   
  Unrealized gain on cash flow hedge                             707           707   
  Unrealized (loss) on net investment hedge                             (2,250 )         (2,250 ) 

  

Comprehensive income                                         11,015   
  

Dividends declared                 (265 )                     (265 ) 
Shares issued and forfeited pursuant to long-term 
incentive plan           (19 )         53           (24 )   10   
Amortization (long-term incentive plan)                                   512     512   
Net purchase of treasury stock           (29 )         (329 )               (358 ) 

  

Balance at December 31, 2004   $ 99   $ 60,538   $ 98,277   ($ 14,119 ) $ 6,230   ($ 1,025 ) $ 150,000   
  



 
HARDINGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

See accompanying notes.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

     

(In Thousands)  

   
Operating activities                     
Net income (loss)   $ 4,392   $ (11,284 ) $ 2,000   
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used in) provided by operating 
activities:                     
  Depreciation and amortization     8,980     8,668     8,967   
  Provision for deferred income taxes     (420 )   13,291     2,249   
  Minority interest     2,433     1,257     566   
  Loss on sale of equity investment     —    121     —  
  Foreign currency transaction loss     (722 )   (950 )   (296 ) 
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                     
    Accounts receivable     (17,470 )   (3,256 )   2,312   
    Notes receivable     975     1,427     2,739   
    Income tax receivable     —    5,795     (1,147 ) 
    Inventories     (9,102 )   5,296     6,189   
    Other assets     (2,118 )   (2,300 )   2,930   
    Accounts payable     10,670     (1,217 )   337   
    Accrued expenses     (4,239 )   5,337     (5,014 ) 
    Accrued postretirement benefits     63     26     43   
          
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities     (6,558 )   22,211     21,875   
 
Investing activities 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Capital expenditures     (5,861 )   (1,534 )   (2,337 ) 
Proceeds from sale of equity investment     —    1,736     —  
Purchase of intangible assets and goodwill     (7,317 )             
Investment in equity company     —    (184 )   (17 ) 
          
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities     (13,178 )   18     (2,354 ) 
 
Financing activities 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Increase (decrease) in short-term notes payable to bank     1,970     (4,950 )   4,602   
Increase (decrease) in long-term debt     17,579     (14,714 )   (25,529 ) 
Net (purchases) sales of treasury stock     (347 )   25     (370 ) 
Dividends paid     (265 )   (178 )   (868 ) 
          
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     18,937     (19,817 )   (22,165 ) 
 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 

 
  

 
  249 

 
  

 
  152 

 
  

 
  211 

 
  

          
Net (decrease) increase in cash     (550 )   2,564     (2,433 ) 
 
Cash at beginning of year 

 
  

 
  4,739 

 
  

 
  2,175 

 
  

 
  4,608 

 
  

          
 
Cash at end of year 

 
  

 
$ 4,189 

 
  

 
$ 4,739 

 
  

 
$ 2,175 

 
  

          



 
HARDINGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 
DECEMBER 31, 2004  

1.    Significant Accounting Policies  

Nature of Business  

        Hardinge Inc. is a machine tool manufacturer, which designs, manufactures and distributes metal cutting lathes, grinding machines, 
machining centers, and tooling and accessories related to metal cutting machines. Sales are primarily to customers in North America, Europe, 
and Asia. A substantial portion of the Company's sales are to small and medium-sized independent job shops, which in turn sell machined parts 
to their industrial customers. Industries directly and indirectly served by the Company include: aerospace, automotive, construction equipment, 
defense, energy, farm equipment, medical equipment, recreational equipment, telecommunications, and transportation.  

Principles of Consolidation  

        The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. All 
significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated accounts do not include an unconsolidated 
subsidiary which was a joint venture in which the Company owned 50% of the stock but did not have control of operations. This investment was 
reported using the equity method. The Company sold its interest in this company in December 2003.  

Use of Estimates  

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.  

Inventories  

        Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. They are summarized as follows:  

        Changes during 2004 in the market exchange rate of the U.S. dollar against the Swiss Franc caused a $2,917,000 increase in the dollar value 
of inventories of the Company's two Swiss subsidiaries, Kellenberger AG and HTT AG. Accounting rules require the translation of the balance 
sheet of foreign subsidiaries into dollars at the exchange rate at the date of the balance sheet. Increases of $696,000 also resulted for the 
Company's other foreign entities, due to the strengthening of their currencies.  
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December 31, 

     

2004 

  

2003 

     

(in thousands)  

 
Finished products   $ 39,940   $ 33,217 
Work-in-process     27,144     25,705 
Raw materials and purchased components     33,654     28,142 
      
    $ 100,738   $ 87,064 
      



 

Property, Plant and Equipment  

        Property additions, including major renewals and betterments, are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. 
Upon retirement or disposal of an asset, the asset and related allowance for depreciation are eliminated and any resultant gain or loss is credited 
or charged to income. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line and sum of the years digits methods. Total depreciation expense on property, 
plant and equipment was $8,284,000, $7,918,000, and $8,179,000 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The depreciable lives of the Company's 
fixed assets vary according to the projected effective life of the specific asset, and for the U.S. operations, generally are: 40 years for buildings, 
12 years for machinery, 10 years for patterns, tools, jigs, and furniture and fixtures, and 5 years for office and computer equipment. Repairs and 
maintenance costs are expensed in the period incurred.  

Account Receivable  

        The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers' financial condition and generally does not require collateral. The 
Company considers trade accounts receivable to be past due when in excess of 30 days past terms, and charges off uncollectible balances when 
all collection efforts have been exhausted.  

Goodwill and Intangibles  

        The Company accounts for goodwill and intangibles in accordance with Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 
(SFAS 141), Business Combinations , and No. 142 (SFAS 142), Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets . SFAS 142 prohibits the amortization of 
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. The statement requires that these assets be reviewed for impairment at least annually. 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives.  

        The total carrying amount of goodwill was $20,376,000 as of December 31, 2004 and $18,314,000 as of December 31, 2003. The majority 
of this asset resulted from the acquisition of HTT Hauser Tripet Tschudin AG in 2000. $1,553,000 of the change in the value in 2004 was caused 
by the increased dollar value of the Swiss franc, the functional currency of the Company's HTT subsidiary whose balance sheet includes the 
above mentioned goodwill. The acquisition of the European sales and service operations of Bridgeport in 2004 added $509,000 to goodwill.  

        The Company has completed annual impairment testing during the fourth quarter of 2004, 2003 and 2002 and determined that there has 
been no impairment of goodwill.  

        Other intangible assets include $6,724,000 representing the value of the name, trademarks and copyrights associated with the former 
worldwide operations of Bridgeport, which were acquired in 2004. The Company will be using this strong brand name on all of its machining 
center lines in the future, and therefore, the asset has been determined to have an indefinite useful life. The asset will be reviewed annually for 
impairment under the provisions of SFAS 142.  

        The total carrying amount of intangible assets subject to amortization was $827,000 and $811,000 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The Company's intangible asset amortization expense for fiscal 2004 and 2003 was $184,000 and $182,000, respectively. The 
estimated amortization expense  
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on existing intangible assets for each of the next five years is approximately $203,000, $203,000, $173,000, $93,000, and $93,000, respectively.  

Income Taxes  

        The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method according to Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 109. 
Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.  

Foreign Currency Translation  

        In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 52, all balance sheet accounts of foreign subsidiaries are 
translated at current exchange rates and income statement items are translated at an average exchange rate for the year. The gain or loss resulting 
from translating subsidiary financial statements is recorded as a separate component of the consolidated statement of shareholders' equity as 
other comprehensive income. Transaction gains and losses are recorded in operations. The functional currency is the currency of the country in 
which the subsidiary is geographically located.  

Derivative Financial Instruments  

        The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 133, 
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. The statement requires the Company to recognize all its derivative instruments on 
the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not qualifying hedges must be adjusted to fair value through income. If the derivative is a 
qualifying hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives are either offset against the change in fair value 
of the hedged assets, liabilities, or firm commitments through earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is 
recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative's change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings.  

        The Company implemented Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities effective June 30, 2003. This statement requires reporting of derivative contracts as either freestanding 
derivative instruments subject to Statement 133 in its entirety, or as hybrid instruments with debt host contracts and embedded derivative 
features. The statement is effective for contracts entered into after June 30, 2003. There has been no impact on the financial statements of the 
Company as all the hedging activities since the implementation have been reported pursuant to SFAS 133.  

Research and Development Costs  

        The cost of research and development, all of which has been charged to cost of goods sold, amounted to $7,931,000, $8,229,000, and 
$8,757,000, in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  
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Earnings Per Share  

        Earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. For diluted 
earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares includes common stock equivalents related primarily to restricted stock. Restricted 
shares awarded under the Company's long-term incentive stock plans are treated as issued shares at time of award and are treated for diluted 
earnings per share as outstanding in accordance with the treasury stock method over the period of their vesting.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

        The Company grants restricted shares of common stock and stock options to certain officers and other key employees. The Company 
accounts for restricted share grants and stock option grants in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. 
The stock options issued under the 1996 and 2002 Incentive Stock Plan expire 10 years from the date of grant and are exercisable one-third after 
the first year, two-thirds after the second year, and 100 percent after the third year.  

        In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123 the Company has elected to continue applying 
the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. 
Accordingly, the Company does not recognize compensation expense for stock options when the stock option exercise price at the grant date is 
equal to or greater than the fair market value of the stock at that date.  

        A summary of the stock option activity under the Incentive Stock Plan is as follows:  
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2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  
Shares at beginning of period     234,000     236,000     100,500   
Shares granted     5,250     4,500     139,250   
Weighted average grant price per share   $ 12.08   $ 6.71   $ 9.67   
Market value per share at date of grant   $ 12.08   $ 6.71   $ 9.67   
Shares canceled, forfeited or exercised     (3,332 )   (6,500 )   (3,750 ) 
Weighted average price per share   $ 7.81   $ 17.45   $ 17.83   
          
Shares at end of period     235,918     234,000     236,000   
          



1. Significant Accounting Policies  

Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)  

        The following table summarizes information about the exercisable stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2004:  

        The following illustrates the pro forma effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value 
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123:  

        Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS No. 123, and has been determined as if the 
Company had accounted for its stock options under the fair value method of SFAS No. 123. The fair value for these options was estimated at the 
date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 3.50%, 
3.38%, and 3.0% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively; dividend yields of 1.0%, 0.3% and 0.2% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively; volatility 
factors of the expected market price of the Company's common stock of .349, .357, and .363 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively; and a 
weighted-average expected life for the 2004, 2003 and 2002 options of 5 years.  

        The Company's Incentive Stock Plan is described in more detail in Note 7.  
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Range of exercise  
          prices  

  

Number  
Outstanding  

at  
12/31/04 

  

Weighted  
average  

remaining  
life in  
years 

  

Weighted  
average  
exercise  

price 

  

Number  
Exercisable  

12/31/04 

  

Weighted  
average  
exercise  

price 

$6.71 to $7.81   84,168   8.0   $ 7.75   57,612   $ 7.72 
$10.50 to $13.51   70,000   7.2   $ 12.47   53,667   $ 12.41 
$17.08 to $25.67   81,750   2.3   $ 18.61   81,750   $ 18.61 
            
  Total   235,918   5.4   $ 12.91   193,029   $ 13.64 
            

     

Pro Forma 

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

     

(dollars in thousands, except for per share data)  

 
Reported net income (loss)   $ 4,392   $ (11,284 ) $ 2,000 
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net 
income (loss)     512     568     572 
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under 
fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effects     623     685     620 
        
Pro forma net income (loss)   $ 4,281   $ (11,401 ) $ 1,952 
        
Earnings (loss) per share:                   
  Basic—as reported   $ .50   $ (1.30 ) $ .23 
        

  Basic—pro forma   $ .49   $ (1.31 ) $ .22 
        

  Diluted—as reported   $ .50   $ (1.30 ) $ .23 
        

  Diluted—pro forma   $ .49   $ (1.31 ) $ .22 
        



 

Revenue Recognition  

        The Company ships and bills directly to end-user customers for the majority of its sales. In some cases, the Company bills a distributor who 
then bills the customer.  

        The Company does not offer any special return privileges to distributors related to inventory they may carry for their own commercial use. 
The Company recognizes revenue from product sales upon shipment of the product, which is when title and all risk of ownership are transferred. 
The only exception is in the case where a larger multiple machine installation is delivered which requires run-offs and customer acceptance at 
their facility, revenue is then recognized in the period of acceptance by the customer.  

        The Company has implemented the Emerging Issues Task Force EITF 00.21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. Both 
invoiced installation revenue and imputed installation revenue on machines priced with installation included are deferred until the installations 
are completed. Implementation did not have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.  

Warranties  

        The Company offers warranties for its products. The specific terms and conditions of those warranties vary depending upon the product 
sold and the country in which the Company sold the product. The Company generally provides a basic limited warranty, including parts and 
labor, for a period of one year. The Company estimates the costs that may be incurred under its basic limited warranty, based largely upon actual 
warranty repair cost history, and records a liability for such costs in the month that product revenue is recognized. The resulting accrual balance 
is reviewed during the year. Factors that affect the Company's warranty liability include the number of installed units, historical and anticipated 
rates of warranty claims, and cost per claim.  

        The Company also sells extended warranties for some of its products. These extended warranties usually cover a 12-24 month period that 
begins 0-12 months after time of sale. Revenues for these extended warranties are recognized monthly as a portion of the warranty expires.  

        These liabilities are reported as accrued expenses on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.  

        Changes in the Company's product warranty accrual are as follows:  

Contingencies  

        The Company is a defendant in various lawsuits as a result of normal operations and in the ordinary course of business. Management 
believes the outcome of these lawsuits will not have a material effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.  
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2004 

  

2003 

  

     

(dollars in thousands)  

   
Beginning balance   $ 1,671   $ 1,975   
Provisions for warranties     923     638   
Warranties settlement costs     (1,238 )   (1,075 ) 
Other—currency translation impact     93     133   
        
Year end balance   $ 1,449   $ 1,671   
        



 

Reclassifications  

        Certain amounts from the prior year consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.  

2. Financing Arrangements  

        Long-term debt consists of:  

        As of December 31, 2004, Hardinge maintained a revolving loan agreement with a group of U.S. banks which was due to expire in 
August 2005. The loan agreement provided for borrowing of up to $30,000,000 secured by substantially all of the Company's domestic assets, 
other than real estate, and by a pledge of two-thirds of its investment in its major subsidiaries. Interest charged on the debt was based on London 
Interbank Offered Rates (LIBOR) plus a spread which varied depending on the Company's debt to EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization) ratio. A commitment fee of .65% was payable on the unused portion of the facility. Total borrowing under this 
facility was $24,900,000 at December 31, 2004, all in U.S. dollars, and $896,000 at December 31, 2003, all in U.K. pound sterling.  

        The Company also had a term loan, originally established in 2002, with substantially the same security and financial covenants as provided 
under the revolving loan agreement described above. The loan provided for repayment of the principal in twenty quarterly installments of 
$1,200,000 and interest was charged on the debt based on LIBOR plus a spread that varied depending on the Company's debt to EBITDA ratio. 
The balance outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $13,400,000 and $18,200,000, respectively.  

        In January 2005, the Company negotiated a revised loan agreement with the same bank group and amended the two agreements noted 
above. The new agreement provides for a revolving loan facility allowing for borrowing up to $40,000,000 through January 2011 and a term 
loan of $30,000,000 with quarterly principal payments of $1,200,000 through December 2006 and quarterly principal payments of $1,275,000 
from 2007 through December 2010. These loans are secured by substantially all of the Company's domestic assets other than real estate and by a 
pledge of two-thirds of its investment in its major subsidiaries. Interest charged on the debt will be based on LIBOR plus a spread which varies  
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December 31, 

     

2004 

  

2003 

     

(in thousands)  

 
Note payable, under revolving loan agreement expiring August 1, 2005, with interest 
averaging 4.89% at December 31, 2004 (6.46% in 2003) (see loan revision below)   $ 24,900   $ 896 
Note payable, under term loan agreement, due in quarterly installments of $1,200,000 with 
an effective interest rate of 6.50% at December 31, 2004 (6.47% in 2003) (see loan revision 
below)     13,400     18,200 
Mortgages payable under terms of various loan agreements with interest averaging 6.82% 
at December 31, 2004 (4.53% in 2003)     1,806     3,581 
      
      40,106     22,677 
Less current portion (see loan revision below)     4,893     5,002 
      
    $ 35,213   $ 17,675 
      



 

depending on the Company's debt to EBITDA ratio. A variable commitment fee of .175% to .375%, based upon the Company's debt to EBITDA 
ratio, is payable on the unused portion of the revolving loan facility.  

        The Company entered into a cross-currency swap and an interest rate swap in association with the original term loan. These swaps 
effectively converted the loan to a borrowing of Swiss francs with an effective interest rate of 6.50% and 6.47% at December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The cross-currency swap has been designated as a hedge against the Company's net investment in HTT. The interest rate swap 
effectively converts the floating interest rate to a fixed rate, with variance by year based on the Company's spread over LIBOR. This swap was 
redesignated after the January 2005 term loan was established and will act as a hedge against $13,400,000 of that term loan.  

        Future minimum payments under the long term financing agreements in place as of January 2005 are $4,893,000, $4,893,000, $5,193,000, 
$5,193,000, and $5,193,000 in 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively.  

        The Company has a $8,000,000 unsecured short-term line of credit from a bank with interest based on a fixed percent over the one-month 
LIBOR. The outstanding loans on this line at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $1,811,000 and $607,000, respectively. The agreement is 
negotiated annually and requires no commitment fee.  

        The Company maintains a $1,342,000 standby letter of credit for potential liabilities pertaining to self-insured workers compensation 
exposure. The Company also maintains a $3,000,000 rolling commercial letter of credit for the financing of certain inventory purchases.  

        The Company maintains a loan agreement with a Swiss bank providing for borrowing of up to 7,500,000 Swiss francs, which is equivalent 
to approximately $6,572,000 at December 31, 2004. This agreement is secured by the real property owned by Kellenberger AG, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company. There have not been any borrowings on this loan. Kellenberger also maintains unsecured overdraft facilities with 
commercial banks that permit borrowings in Swiss francs up to 6,500,000, which is equivalent to approximately $5,696,000 at December 31, 
2004. These lines provide for interest at competitive short-term interest rates and carry no commitment fees on unused funds. At December 31, 
2004 and 2003, borrowings under these lines were $519,000 and $3,000, respectively.  

        The Company's HTT Hauser Tripet Tschudin subsidiary maintains overdraft facilities with commercial banks that permit borrowings in 
Swiss francs of up to 4,500,000, which is equivalent to approximately $3,943,000 at December 31, 2004. These lines provide for interest at 
competitive short-term interest rates and carry no commitment fees on unused funds. At December 31, 2004, total borrowings under these lines 
were $432,000 with an average interest rate of 5.92%. At December 31, 2003, total borrowings under these lines were $14,000. HTT had been 
obligated under terms of various mortgage agreements with commercial banks on its factory building. These loans were secured by the property 
and were repaid in 2004. At December 31, 2003, total balances outstanding on these loans were $1,814,000 at average interest rates of 2.30%.  

        The Company's Hardinge Machine Tools, Ltd subsidiary maintains an overdraft facility that allows for borrowing up to 250,000 pounds 
sterling, which is equivalent to approximately $481,000 at December 31, 2004. There were no borrowings under this facility at December 31, 
2004 or 2003. Hardinge Machine Tool, Ltd. also has a mortgage agreement with total remaining loan balances of $1,806,000 and $1,767,000, at 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase in the dollar  

40  



 

value of the loan is due to changes in the exchange rates used to translate the pound sterling into U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes.  

        Certain of these debt agreements require, among other things, that the Company maintain specified levels of tangible net worth, working 
capital, and specified ratios of debt to EBITDA, and EBITDA minus capital expenditures to fixed charges.  

        The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants at December 31, 2004 and 2003.  

        Interest paid in 2004, 2003, and 2002 totaled $2,301,000, $2,727,000, and $3,875,000, respectively.  

        The Company conducts some of its manufacturing, sales and service operations from leased space with lease terms up to 20 years and uses 
certain data processing equipment under lease agreements expiring at various dates during the next two years. Rent expense under these leases 
totaled $2,011,000, $2,334,000, and $2,353,000, during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Future minimum 
payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2004 total $11,561,000, with payments over the next five years of 
$1,715,000, $1,162,000, $980,000, $813,000, and $696,000, respectively.  

        In the past, the Company provided long-term financing for the purchase of its equipment by qualified end-user customers in North America. 
In 2002, the Company replaced the internal program by offering lease programs from selected established equipment lease financing companies 
in the U.S. and Canada. Before that change, customer financing was generally offered for a term of up to seven years, with the Company 
retaining a security interest in the purchased equipment and filing appropriate liens. In the event of a customer default and foreclosure, it is the 
practice of the Company to recondition and resell the equipment. It has been the Company's experience that such equipment resales have realized 
most, but not all, of the remaining contract value.  

        The Company previously sold a substantial portion of its underlying customer notes receivable to various financial institutions. The 
remaining outstanding balance of all notes sold as of December 31, 2004 was $7,108,000. Recourse against the Company from default of most 
of the notes included in the sales is limited to 10% of the then outstanding balance of the underlying notes. The Company retained no rights to 
any retained interest in these notes and surrendered ultimate control over the notes. There are no repurchase or remarketing agreements with 
these third parties.  

3.    Income Taxes  

        The Company recorded a full valuation allowance for its U.S. net deferred tax assets in 2003. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No.109 (SFAS 109) requires that a valuation allowance be established when it is "more likely than not" that all or a portion of deferred tax assets 
will not be realized. A review of all available positive and negative evidence needs to be considered, including a company's current and past 
performance, the market conditions in which the Company operates, the utilization of past tax credits, the length of carryback and carryforward 
periods, sales backlogs, etc. that will result in future profits. It further states that forming a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed is 
difficult when there is negative evidence such as cumulative losses in recent years. Therefore, cumulative losses weigh heavily in the overall 
assessment and became a major consideration in the Company's decision to establish this valuation allowance.  
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        Hardinge continues to maintain a full valuation allowance on the tax benefits of its U.S. and U.K. net deferred tax assets and the Company 
expects to continue to record a full valuation allowance on future tax benefits until an appropriate level of profitability in those countries is 
sustained. Additionally, until an appropriate level of profitability is reached, the Company does not expect to recognize any significant tax 
benefits in future results of operations.  

        Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:  

        The 2003 net charge to earnings related to the change in deferred taxes was $12,905,000, which consisted of the $14,605,000 charge from 
the change in valuation allowance and a $1,700,000 benefit from the change in deferred tax assets.  

        At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had state investment tax credits of $4,503,000 and $4,692,000, respectively, expiring at 
various dates through the year 2014. In addition, the Company has U.S. and state net operating loss carryforwards of $11,381,000 and 
$49,171,000, respectively, which expire from 2021 through 2024.  

        Pre-tax (losses)/income were $(4,259,000), $(4,988,000), and $(6,417,000) from domestic operations and $14,626,000, $9,444,000, and 
$8,098,000 from foreign operations for 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  
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December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

     

(in thousands)  

   
Deferred tax assets:               
  Federal, state, and foreign net operating losses   $ 6,034   $ 3,235   
  State tax credit carryforwards     4,503     4,692   
  Postretirement benefits     2,337     2,240   
  Deferred employee benefits     1,868     1,907   
  Accrued pension     5,985     7,379   
  Inventory valuation     1,438     2,064   
  Currency and interest rate derivatives     3,412     2,862   
  Other     3,287     3,175   
        
      28,864     27,554   
  Less valuation allowance     (21,743 )   (20,993 ) 
        
    Total deferred tax assets     7,121     6,561   
        
Deferred tax liabilities:               
  Tax over book depreciation     (8,131 )   (7,587 ) 
  Margin on installment sales     (151 )   (199 ) 
  Inventory valuation     (3,683 )   (3,396 ) 
  Other     (1,643 )   (1,888 ) 
        
    Total deferred tax liabilities     (13,608 )   (13,070 ) 
        
    Net deferred tax liabilities   $ (6,487 ) $ (6,509 ) 
        



 

        Significant components of income tax expense (benefit) attributable to continuing operations are as follows:  

        There were no income tax refunds in 2004. Income tax (refunds) totaled $(7,955,000) and $(6,297,000) in 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
Income tax payments totaled $2,621,000, $1,680,000, and $2,692,000, in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  

        The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) computed at the United States statutory rate to amounts shown in the 
consolidated statements of income.  

        Undistributed earnings of the foreign subsidiaries, which amounted to approximately $64,548,000 at December 31, 2004, are considered to 
be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal and state taxes has been provided thereon. Upon distribution of those 
earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign 
tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to the various foreign countries. The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the "Act") was signed into 
law on October 22, 2004. The Act introduced a special one-time (for 2004 or 2005) 85% dividends received deduction for certain repatriated 
foreign earnings. Due to the complexity of the repatriation provision, the Company has not yet completed its evaluation of the impact the Act 
may have on its decision regarding repatriation of earnings, including a definitive calculation of qualifying dividends and the effect of any 
repatriation on the Company's tax provision. The Company expects to complete its evaluation in 2005.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

     

(in thousands)  

   
Current:                     
  Federal and state   $ —  $ (656 ) $ (7,694 ) 
  Foreign     3,564     2,248     944   
          
    Total current     3,564     1,592     (6,750 ) 
          
Deferred:                     
  Federal and state     —    12,905     5,440   
  Foreign     (22 )   170     442   
          
    Total deferred     (22 )   13,075     5,882   
          
    $ 3,542   $ 14,667   $ (868 ) 
          

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  
Federal income taxes   35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 % 
State income taxes (benefit)   —  —  (9.9 ) 
Other   .1   (1.1 ) 4.6   
Taxes on foreign income which differ from the U.S. statutory rate   (13.8 ) (17.8 ) (81.3 ) 
Increase in valuation allowance   12.9   327.8   —  
Reduction in estimated liabilities   —  (14.7 ) —  
          
    34.2 % 329.2 % (51.6 )% 
          



4.    Industry Segment and Foreign Operations  

        The Company operates in one business segment—industrial machine tools. Domestic and foreign operations consist of:  

        Sales attributable to European Operations and Asian Operations are based on those sales generated by subsidiaries located in Europe and 
Asia.  

        Interarea sales are accounted for at prices comparable to normal, unaffiliated customer sales, reduced by estimated costs not incurred on 
these sales. Operating income excludes interest income and interest expense directly attributable to the related operations.  

        No single customer accounted for more than 5% of consolidated sales in any of the three years presented.  

        Export sales from Hardinge's North American operations include the following:  
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Year ended December 31, 

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

     

North  
America 

  

Europe 

  

Asia 

  

North  
America 

  

Europe 

  

Asia 

  

North  
America 

  

Europe 

  

Asia 

     

(in thousands)  

 
Sales                                                       
Domestic   $ 96,552   $ 87,971   $ 26,531   $ 83,578   $ 70,923   $ 14,436   $ 71,454   $ 67,932   $ 6,118 
Export     24,838     19,002     24,287     18,444     18,330     11,873     20,708     16,027     7,771 
                    
      121,390     106,973     50,818     102,022     89,253     26,309     92,162     83,959     13,889 
Less interarea 
eliminations 

    15,229     7,811     24,087     13,193     7,808     11,281     10,082     5,512     5,402 

                    
Total Net Sales   $ 106,161   $ 99,162   $ 26,731   $ 88,829   $ 81,445   $ 15,028   $ 82,080   $ 78,447   $ 8,487 
                    
Oper. (Loss) Income   $ (2,730 ) $ 5,150   $ 10,074   $ (3,080 ) $ 5,862   $ 4,091   $ (3,894 ) $ 6,798   $ 2,259 
                    
Net (Loss) Income   $ (4,566 ) $ 3,817   $ 5,141   $ (17,282 ) $ 4,339   $ 1,659   $ (4,325 ) $ 5,112   $ 1,213 
                    
Identifiable Assets   $ 127,677   $ 133,813   $ 24,821   $ 115,670   $ 115,350   $ 14,687   $ 140,714   $ 107,241   $ 8,330 
                    

     

Year ended December 31, 

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

     

North  
American  
Operations 

  

North  
American  

Operations 

  

North  
American  
Operations 

     

(in thousands)  

 
Sales to:                   
European customers   $ 3,551   $ 1,707   $ 2,405 
Asian customers     8,601     7,108     12,446 
Sales to affiliated companies     11,041     8,594     5,584 
Sales to customers in the remainder of the world     1,645     1,035     273 
        
    $ 24,838   $ 18,444   $ 20,708 
        



        The foreign countries which represented the highest percentages of the Company's 2004 worldwide sales, and the corresponding 2003 and 
2002 percentages were:  

5.    Joint Venture  

        On May 9, 2000, the Company entered into an agreement with EMAG Maschinenfabrik GmbH of Leipzig, Germany to jointly manufacture 
inverted spindle vertical lathes in Germany. The joint venture, Hardinge EMAG GmbH, was capitalized with a Company contribution of 
$1,500,000 of cash for a 50% interest. The joint venture was recorded as an unconsolidated subsidiary and was accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting for investments. In December 2003, the Company sold its interest in Hardinge EMAG GmbH. Total proceeds were 
$1,736,000 and the Company recorded a loss of $121,000 on the sale.  

6.    Shareholders' Equity  

Treasury Shares  

        The number of shares of common stock in treasury was 1,090,941, 1,062,143, and 1,146,084, at December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, 
respectively. During 2004, the Company purchased 40,535 shares of stock. The Company also distributed 12,405 shares, had 1,332 options 
exercised and had 2,000 shares forfeited, pursuant to the long-term incentive plan. During 2003, the Company purchased 2,509 shares of stock, 
distributed 88,450 shares and had 2,000 shares forfeited. In 2002, the Company purchased 45,705 shares and distributed 18,530 shares pursuant 
to the long-term incentive plan.  

Preferred Stock Purchase Rights  

        On May 16, 1995, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declared a dividend of one Right to 
purchase Series A Preferred Stock for each outstanding share of Company common stock held as of May 16, 1995. Each Right entitles the holder 
of the Right to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock (a "Unit") at a purchase price of $80.00 per Unit. The Rights 
will become exercisable ten business days after any person or group becomes the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the Common Stock or 
commences a tender or exchange offer upon consummation of which such person or group would, if successful, own 30% or more of the 
Common Stock. The Rights, which will expire on May 16, 2005, may be redeemed by the Board of Directors, at $.01 per Right, at any time prior 
to the expiration of ten business days after the acquisition by a person or group of affiliated or associated persons of beneficial ownership of 20% 
or more of the outstanding Common Stock. The Company does not intend to seek shareholder approval of a new shareholder rights plan at its 
2005 annual meeting.  
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2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  
Germany   13.9 % 13.3 % 13.7 % 
China   12.3 % 9.5 % 11.8 % 
England   6.9 % 7.0 % 5.3 % 



 

Reconciliation of Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding  

        The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share computations 
required by Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 128:  

7. Employee Benefits  

Pension and Postretirement Plans  

        The Company accounts for the pension plans and postretirement benefits in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board 
Statements No. 87 and 106. The following disclosures related to the pension and postretirement benefits are presented in accordance with 
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 132, as revised. The information for 2004 and 2003 reflects the actuarial valuation for the 
U. S. and foreign pension plans.  

        The Company provides a qualified defined benefit pension plan covering all eligible domestic employees hired before March 1, 2004. The 
Plan bases benefits upon both years of service and earnings. The Company's policy is to fund at least an amount necessary to satisfy the 
minimum funding requirements of ERISA. The amount to be funded is subject to annual review by management and the Company's consulting 
actuary. For each of the Company's foreign plans, contributions are made on a monthly basis and are governed by their governmental 
regulations. Also, each of those plans requires employee and employer contributions.  

46  

     

Year Ended December 31, 

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

     

(in thousands except for per share amounts)  

 
  Net income (loss)   $ 4,392   $ (11,284 ) $ 2,000 
  Numerator for basic earnings (loss) per share     4,392     (11,284 )   2,000 
  Numerator for diluted earnings (loss) per share     4,392     (11,284 )   2,000 

  

 
Denominator for basic earnings (loss) per share-weighted average shares 

 
  

 
  8,745 

 
  

 
  8,708 

 
  

 
  8,687 

  Effect of diluted securities:                   
    Restricted stock and stock options     28     —    —
        
  Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share—adjusted weighted average shares     8,773     8,708     8,687 
        
Basic earnings (loss) per share   $ .50   $ (1.30 ) $ .23 
        
Diluted earnings (loss) per share   $ .50   $ (1.30 ) $ .23 
        



        Domestic employees hired after March 1, 2004 will have retirement benefits under the Company's 401k defined contribution plan. After one 
year of service, the Company will contribute 4% of the employee's pay and will further match, at a rate of 25%, the employee's contributions up 
to 4% of their salary. Those employees, as well as domestic employees hired prior to March 1, 2004, are eligible to contribute additional funds to 
the plan for which there is no required Company match. There were no Company contributions to the plan during 2004 as the one-year 
anniversary of the inception date of the plan for new employees had not occurred.  

        The Company provides a contributory retiree health plan covering all eligible domestic employees who retired at normal retirement age 
prior to January 1, 1993 and all retirees who will retire at normal retirement age after January 1, 1993 with at least 10 years of active service. 
Employees who elect early retirement are eligible for the plan benefits if they have 15 years of active service at retirement. Benefit obligations 
and funding policies are at the discretion of the Company's management. The Company also provides a non-contributory life insurance plan to 
retirees. Because the amount of liability relative to this plan is insignificant, it is combined with the health plan for purposes of this disclosure.  

        Under the terms of the retiree health plan, all increases in cost of the plan after 2001 are paid by the participants. Therefore, the rate of 
healthcare cost increases would not have affected the service cost and interest cost for 2004, 2003, and 2002 and does not affect the accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation for any years after 2001.  

        The discount rate for determining benefit obligations in the Postretirement Benefits Plan was 5.75% and 6.25% at December 31, 2004 and 
2003, respectively. The change in the discount rate increased the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004 by 
$331,000.  

        A summary of the components of net periodic pension cost and postretirement benefit costs for the consolidated company is presented 
below.  
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Pension Benefits  
Year Ended December 31, 

  

Postretirement Benefits  
Year Ended December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

2004 

  

2003 

  

2002 

  

     

(in thousands)  

   

(in thousands)  

   
Service cost   $ 3,084   $ 2,755   $ 2,833   $ 79   $ 86   $ 88   
Interest cost     7,475     6,656     6,462     380     363     382   
Expected return on plan assets     (8,512 )   (7,648 )   (8,287 )   —    —    —  
Amortization of prior service cost     36     391     346     (24 )   (24 )   (24 ) 
Amortization of transition obligation     (367 )   (261 )   (435 )   —    —    —  
 
Amortization of loss (gain) 

 
  

 
  190 

 
  

 
  109 

 
  

 
  (232 

 
) 

 
  —

 
  

 
  —

 
  

 
  —

 
  

                
Net periodic benefit cost   $ 1,906   $ 2,002   $ 687   $ 435   $ 425   $ 446   
                



        A summary of the Pension and Postretirement Plans' funded status and amounts recognized in the Company's consolidated balance sheets is 
as follows:  
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Pension Benefits  
December 31, 

  

Postretirement Benefits  
December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2004 

  

2003 

  

     

(in thousands)  

   

(in thousands)  

   
Change in benefit obligation:                           
Benefit obligation at beginning of period   $ 126,153   $ 107,047   $ 6,328   $ 5,584   
Foreign plan redetermination     21,783                     
Service cost     3,084     2,755     79     86   
Interest cost     7,475     6,656     380     363   
Plan participants' contributions     1,510     719     842     766   
Amendments     (4,016 )   1,683     —    —  
Actuarial loss     4,356     9,758     76     693   
Foreign currency impact     3,555     3,521     —    —  
Benefits paid     (5,769 )   (5,986 )   (1,214 )   (1,164 ) 
            
Benefit obligation at end of period     158,131     126,153     6,491     6,328   
            
Change in plan assets:                           
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period     96,918     85,371     —    —  
Foreign plan redetermination     21,023                     
Actual return on plan assets     9,995     11,427     —    —  
Employer contribution     5,610     1,853     372     398   
Plan participants' contributions     1,510     719     842     766   
Foreign currency impact     3,082     3,534     —    —  
Benefits paid     (5,769 )   (5,986 )   (1,214 )   (1,164 ) 
            
Fair value of plan assets at end period     132,369     96,918     —    —  
            
Reconciliation of funded status:                           
Funded status     (25,762 )   (29,235 )   (6,491 )   (6,328 ) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss     28,461     23,636     708     632   
Unrecognized transition (asset)     (3,553 )   (2,991 )   —    —  
Unrecognized prior service cost     (1,508 )   2,241     (144 )   (168 ) 
            
(Accrued) benefit cost   $ (2,362 ) $ (6,349 ) $ (5,927 ) $ (5,864 ) 
            



        The foreign plan adjustment above represents a redetermination of a foreign plan, formerly accounted for as a defined contribution plan, as 
a defined benefit plan in 2004. The impact of this redetermination, along with other foreign plan adjustments, was to increase 2004 pretax profits 
by $168,000.  

        Prepaid pension cost is included in other assets on the balance sheet.  

        Effective December 31, 2003, the U.S. plan was amended to eliminate future disability benefits for participants who are not currently 
receiving such benefits. This amendment reduced the projected benefit obligation by $3,231,356. In accordance with paragraph 28 of FAS 87, 
this amount was first used to reduce any existing unrecognized prior service cost. The remaining portion of $1,087,257 is amortized over the 
average future working years of the active population.  

        The accumulated benefit obligation is $147,860,000 and $118,272,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  

        For Company pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:  

        For Company pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:  
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Pension Benefits  
December 31, 

  

Postretirement Benefits  
December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2004 

  

2003 

  

     

(in thousands)  

   

(in thousands)  

   
Amounts recognized in the Company's balance 
sheet consist of:                           
Prepaid benefit cost   $ 1,020   $ 1,259   $ —  $ —  
Accrued benefit (liability)     (17,450 )   (23,693 )   (5,927 )   (5,864 ) 
Intangible asset     304     3,900     —    —  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     13,764     12,185     —    —  
            
Net amount recognized   $ (2,362 ) $ (6,349 ) $ (5,927 ) $ (5,864 ) 
            

     

Pension Benefits  
December 31, 

     

2004 

  

2003 

     

(in thousands)  

 
Projected benefit obligations   $ 158,131   $ 95,469 
Plan assets     132,369     66,051 
      
Excess of projected benefit obligations over plan assets   $ 25,762   $ 29,418 
      

     

Pension Benefits  
December 31, 

     

2004 

  

2003 

     

(in thousands)  

 
Accumulated benefit obligations   $ 90,858   $ 89,744 
Plan assets     73,879     66,051 
      
Excess of accumulated benefit obligations over plan assets   $ 16,979   $ 23,693 
      



        Actuarial assumptions used to determine pension costs and other postretirement benefit costs include:  

        Actuarial assumptions used to determine pension obligations and other postretirement obligations include:  

        For the domestic pension plan, the discount rate changed from 6.75% as of September 30, 2002 to 6.00% as of September 30, 2003, which 
resulted in an additional liability of $7,829,000. The discount rate remained unchanged at 6.00% as of September 30, 2004. The Company 
annually reviews the discount rate to be used for retirement plan liabilities, considering rates of return on high quality, long term corporate bonds 
that receive highest ratings by recognized rating agencies. To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Company 
considered the current level of expected returns on risk free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium 
associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected 
return for each asset class was then weighted based on the asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption.  

50  

     

Pension Benefits 

  

Postretirement Benefits 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2004 

  

2003 

  
For the domestic pension plan:                   
Assumptions at October 1,                   
Discount rate   6.00 % 6.75 %         
Expected return on plan assets   8.50 % 8.50 %         
Rate of compensation increase   4.50 % 4.50 %         
 
For the foreign pension plans and the domestic post-
retirement benefit plans: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Weighted average assumptions at January 1,                   
Discount rate   4.24 % 4.38 % 6.25 % 6.75 % 
Expected return on plan assets   5.03 % 5.82 % N/A   N/A   
Rate of compensation increase   2.69 % 2.78 % N/A   N/A   

     

Pension Benefits 

  

Postretirement Benefits 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2004 

  

2003 

  
For the domestic pension plan:                   
Assumptions as of September 30,                   
Discount rate   6.00 % 6.00 %         
Rate of compensation increase   3.50 % 4.50 %         
 
For the foreign pension plans and the domestic post-
retirement benefit plans: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Weighted average assumptions as of December 31,                   
Discount rate   3.78 % 4.36 % 5.75 % 6.25 % 
Rate of compensation increase   2.69 % 2.78 % N/A   N/A   



 

        Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 87 requires that an additional pension liability be recorded to the extent that an 
unfunded accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the accrued pension liability. If an additional liability is recognized, an employer may also 
recognize an intangible asset, equal to the unrecognized prior service cost and transition obligation at the date of measurement, as an offset. The 
excess, if any, of the minimum liability adjustment over the intangible asset is reported as a reduction in shareholder equity called accumulated 
other comprehensive income. An additional minimum liability adjustment of $1,579,000 ($1,097,000 net of tax) was recorded in 2004. An 
additional minimum liability adjustment of $3,940,000 was required in 2003.  

Plan Assets  

        The Company's pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, by asset category are as 
follows:  

        Domestic pension plan assets include 383,886 shares of the Company's common stock valued at approximately $5,110,000 and $4,442,000 
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Dividends paid on those shares were $12,000 and $8,000 in 2004 and 2003 respectively. The 
remaining domestic plan assets consisted of United States Government securities, corporate bonds and notes, and other common stocks.  

Investment Policies and Strategies  

        The Investment Committee of the Board of Directors has the responsibility for oversight of the investments of the U.S. pension fund. The 
Company hires outside investment managers or other advisors to manage the assets of the fund. It is expected that the investment managers 
achieve top quartile performance over 3 to 5 years relative to their peers.  

        The time horizon for the pension fund is long-term, with the objective of returning economic benefits to retired employees. To do that, the 
funds must generate real rates of return over inflation levels, tempered by safety of principal and liquidity considerations. The fluctuating nature 
of financial markets requires funds to be invested in both equities and fixed income assets. The proper allocation in either asset class depends 
upon many factors, including short-term liquidity requirements for payments to former employees currently receiving retirement benefits, market 
interest rates, valuation levels for equities and bonds, and political and economic conditions.  

51  

     

Domestic  
Plan Assets 

  

Foreign  
Plan Assets 

  

     

December 31, 

  

December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

2004 

  

2003 

  
Asset Category                   
Equity securities   63 % 60 % 40 % 50 % 
Hardinge Inc. stock   6 % 5 % 0 % 0 % 
Debt securities   22 % 30 % 47 % 36 % 
Cash and equivalents   9 % 4 % 0 % 2 % 
Other   0 % 1 % 13 % 12 % 
            
    100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 
            



        The Investment Committee has the policy that, under normal conditions, it is expected that the equity portfolio would range from 50% to 
70% of the overall fund investments, with fixed income investments accounting for 30% to 50%.  

        Investments such as real estate, hedge funds, and private equities would be considered as appropriate investments as conditions warrant. 
The policies of the Company prohibit short sales, purchases on margin, purchases of restricted stock, and purchases of Hardinge securities in 
excess of 10% of the fund's equity assets. It does not prohibit holding of Hardinge securities in excess of 10%, if the market values of the 
investments in the fund drive that percentage.  

        The investments for the foreign plans are subject to tight regulations and are overseen by investment committees made up of management 
and employees of the entities, in accordance with local practice.  

Cash flows  

Contributions  

        The expected contributions to be paid during the year ending December 31, 2005 to the domestic defined benefit plan are $1,541,000. The 
Company also provides defined benefit pension plans or defined contribution pension plans for its foreign subsidiaries. The expected 
contributions to be paid during the year ending December 31, 2005 to the foreign defined benefit plans are $2,110,000. For each of the 
Company's foreign plans, contributions are made on a monthly basis and are determined by their governmental regulations. Also, each of those 
plans requires employee and employer contributions.  

Estimated Future Benefit Payments  

        The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:  

Retirement Savings Plan  

        The Company maintains a 401(k) plan that covers all eligible domestic employees of the Company subject to minimum employment period 
requirements. In addition to the contribution provisions described previously for employees hired after March 1, 2004, provisions of the plan 
allow employees to defer from 1% up to 100% of their pre-tax salary to the plan. Those contributions may be invested at the option of the 
employees in a number of investment alternatives, one being Hardinge Inc. common stock. Prior to July 2002, the Company contributed to the 
plan on a matching formula of 25% of an  
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Pension Benefits 

  

Postretirement Benefits 

2005   $ 6,739   $ 464 
2006     7,261     460 
2007     7,356     462 
2008     7,833     456 
2009     7,666     451 
Years 2010-2014     47,434     2,279 



 

employee's contribution up to 5% of the employee's compensation. The Company's match was in Hardinge Inc. common stock. The Company 
contributed $0, $0, and $114,000, in 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively, for this match. The Company suspended the match in July 2002 due to 
poor business conditions and the difficult economic climate. Management has the ability to reinstate the match at any future date. The Company 
may also contribute a discretionary contribution to the plan to be distributed among all participants.  

Long-Term Incentive Plans  

        In 2002, the Board of Directors established an Incentive Stock Plan to assist in attracting and retaining key employees. The Plan allows the 
Board to grant restricted stock, performance share awards, stock options and stock appreciation rights up to an aggregate of 450,000 shares of 
common stock to these employees. Additionally, the Company established similar plans in 1988, 1993 and 1996; no further shares can be 
awarded under these plans.  

        Certain officers and key employees were awarded a total of 3,375, 82,000, and 5,000 restricted shares of common stock during 2004, 2003 
and 2002, respectively. During 2004, restrictions on 94,550 shares from the Incentive Stock Plan were released and 2,000 shares were forfeited. 
During 2003, 2,000 shares from the Plan were forfeited. During 2002, restrictions on 104,500 shares from the Incentive Stock Plans were 
released and no shares were forfeited.  

        As of December 31, 2004, a total of 200,750 restricted shares of common stock were outstanding under the plans. All shares of restricted 
stock are subject to forfeiture and restrictions on transfer. Unconditional vesting occurs upon the completion of a specified period ranging from 
three to eight years from date of grant.  

        Deferred compensation associated with these grants is measured by the market value of the stock on the date of grant and totaled $39,000, 
$663,000, and $47,000, in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. This deferred compensation is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
specified service period. The unamortized deferred compensation at December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, totaled $1,025,000, $1,513,000, and 
$1,434,000, respectively, and is included in deferred employee benefits as a reduction of shareholders' equity.  

        Stock options for 5,250, 4,500, and 139,250, shares were issued in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively under the 2002 and 1996 Plans. 
During 2004, 1332 options were exercised. As of December 31, 2004, a total of 235,918 options remained outstanding under the plans. The 
options expire ten years from the date of grant and are exercisable one-third after the first year, two-thirds after the second year, and 100% after 
the third year. The Company accounts for the stock options issued under the Plan using the intrinsic value method as defined by Accounting 
Principle Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees . Since all such options have been issued at exercise prices equal to 
the trading price of Hardinge stock at date of issue, no expense is recognized. The Company has considered valuation of stock options using the 
fair value method as determined by Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation .  
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Medicare Prescription Drug Act  

        On December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the "Act") was passed which expands 
Medicare to include an outpatient prescription drug benefit beginning in 2006. To encourage employers to retain or provide postretirement drug 
benefits, beginning in 2006 the federal government will provide non-taxable subsidy payments to employers that sponsor prescription drug 
benefits to retirees that are "actuarially equivalent" to the Medicare benefit. In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 106-2, 
"Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003", which 
provides guidance on how companies should account for the impact of the Act on its postretirement health care plans. Based on guidance 
available at this time, the plan is not expected to be actuarially equivalent to the Medicare benefit due to the fact that the employer's premiums 
are capped at the 2001 level. Based on that assumption, there would be no change in the plans' accumulated postretirement benefit obligation or 
annual expense.  

Foreign Operations  

        The Company also has employees in certain foreign countries that are covered by defined contribution pension plans and other employee 
benefit plans. Related obligations and costs charged to operations for these are not material. The foreign entities with defined benefit plans are 
included in the consolidated pension plan described earlier within this Employee Benefits Note.  

8.    Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

        The components of other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:  

        Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 87 requires that an additional pension liability be recorded to the extent that an 
unfunded accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the accrued pension liability. If an additional liability is recognized, an employer may also 
recognize an intangible asset, equal to the unrecognized prior service cost and transition obligation at the date of measurement, as an offset. The 
excess, if any, of the minimum liability adjustment over the intangible asset is reported as a reduction in shareholder equity as accumulated other 
comprehensive income. At  
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Accumulated balances at  
December 31, 

  

     

2004 

  

2003 

  

     

(in thousands)  

   
Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income:               
Pension liability (net of tax of $3,615 and $3,133 in 2004 and 2003, respectively)   $ (10,149 ) $ (9,052 ) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments     21,745     12,482   
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax     25     25   
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives:               
  Cash flow hedges (net of tax of $692 in 2004 and $659 in 2003)     (189 )   (896 ) 
  Net investment hedges (net of tax of $715 in 2004 and $714 in 2003)     (5,202 )   (2,952 ) 
        
  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)   $ 6,230   $ (393 ) 
        



 

December 31, 2004, the accumulated additional minimum liability adjustment was $6,316,000 ($9,449,000 net of tax of $3,133,000) for the U.S. 
Company, $1,882,000 ($2,364,000 net of tax of $482,000) for Kellenberger, AG and $1,951,000 for Hardinge Machine Tools Limited. At 
December 31, 2003, the accumulated additional minimum liability adjustment was $8,639,000 ($11,772,000 net of tax of $3,133,000) for the 
U.S. Company and $413,000 for Hardinge Machine Tool, Limited. The increase in the consolidated minimum pension liability for 2004 and 
2003 was $1,097,000 ($1,579,000 net of tax of $482,000) and $3,940,000, respectively.  

        For the year 2004, accumulated other comprehensive income included $9,129,000 due to the reduced value of the U.S. dollar relative to the 
Swiss franc, EC euro, U.K. pound sterling, and the New Taiwanese dollar. These currency rate changes raised the net dollar value of the assets 
and liabilities of the Company's two Swiss subsidiaries by $7,272,000, the Taiwanese subsidiary by $855,000 and had lesser similar effects on 
the Company's subsidiaries in England and Germany during 2004.  

9.    Financial Instruments  

        At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the carrying value of financial instruments such as cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and short-
term debt approximated their fair values, based on the short-term maturities of these instruments. The carrying amounts of debt under the 
revolving agreement and of mortgages classified as long-term debt approximate fair value as the underlying instruments are comprised of notes 
that are re-priced on a short-term basis.  

        The carrying amount of the $13,400,000 remaining on the term loan as of December 31, 2004 approximates its fair value as the underlying 
interest rate is variable. Related to this term loan, the Company entered into a cross-currency swap agreement and an interest rate swap 
agreement (see Note 2). At December 31, 2004 the fair market values of the currency swap and interest rate swap were liabilities of $7,290,000 
and $657,000, respectively. At December 31, 2003 the fair market values of the currency swap and interest rate swap were liabilities of 
$6,654,000 and $1,474,000, respectively. This swap was redesignated after a new term loan was established in January 2005, as described in 
footnote 2, and will act as a hedge against $13,400,000 of that term loan.  

        The fair value of notes receivable, short-term and long-term, was determined using a discounted cash flow analysis based on the rate at 
which the Company could sell those notes at year end under standard terms experienced on recent sales (a fixed percentage over U.S. Treasury 
notes). At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the carrying value of these notes approximated the fair value.  

        The Company regularly enters into foreign currency contracts to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on 
purchases of materials used in production and cash settlements of intercompany sales. Gains or losses from these contracts have not been 
material. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had notional principal amounts of approximately $3,334,000 and $6,949,000, 
respectively, in contracts to purchase or sell currency in the future from and to major commercial banks. The fair value of these contracts is not 
material.  

Concentration of Credit Risk  

        The Company sells products to companies in diversified industries, with a substantial majority of sales occurring in North America and 
Western Europe. The Company performs periodic credit  
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evaluations of the financial condition of its customers. The Company in the past offered financing terms of up to seven years for its customers in 
the United States and Canada and filed a lien against the equipment purchased under those terms. A description of that financing is included in 
Note 2 above. No collateral is required for sales made on open account terms with payment due within thirty days. The majority of sales in the 
Asian region are backed by letters of credit from major banks.  

10.    New Accounting Standards  

        In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an 
Interpretation of ARB No. 51 ("FIN 46"). FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the 
entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk 
for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. On October 9, 2003, the FASB issued 
Staff Position No. 46-6 which deferred the effective date for applying the provisions of FIN 46 for interests held by public entities in variable 
interest entities or potential variable interest entities created before February 1, 2003. On December 24, 2003, the FASB issued a revision to FIN 
46. Under the revised interpretation, the effective date was delayed to periods ending after March 15, 2004 for all variable interest entities other 
than SPEs. The adoption of FIN 46 did not have an impact on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows because the 
Company does not have any variable interest entities.  

        On May 15, 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments 
with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity . This Statement establishes standards for classifying and measuring as liabilities certain 
financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have characteristics of both liabilities and equity. Statement No. 150 is effective 
for all financial instruments created or modified after May 31, 2003, except for the indefinite deferral of the measurement and recognition 
guidance in Statement No. 150 related to mandatory redeemable noncontrolling interests that are classified as equity in the financial statements 
of the subsidiary but would be classified as a liability in the parent's financial statements under Statement No. 150 because the subsidiary has a 
limited life and to defer the application of the measurement guidance in Statement 150 to mandatory redeemable noncontrolling interests, that 
are not within the scope of the deferral described in the preceding sentence, that were issued on or before November 5, 2003. The Company has 
implemented Statement No. 150, except for the partial deferral described above, and the implementation had no impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company.  

        In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, Inventory Costs—An Amendment of ARB 
No. 43, Chapter 4. This statement amends ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing , to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, 
freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges. Additionally, SFAS 151 requires that 
allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The Company is 
required to adopt SFAS 151 effective January 1, 2006. Hardinge does not expect the adoption of SFAS 151 to have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company.  
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        In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-1, "Application of FASB Statement No. 109 (SFAS 109), `Accounting 
for Income Taxes,' to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004" (FSP 109-1). 
FSP 109-1 provides that the manufacturer's deduction created in the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act) should be accounted for as a 
special deduction in accordance with SFAS 109 and not as a tax rate reduction. The manufacturer's deduction had no effect on the Company's 
2004 results, as the deduction is first available to the Company in 2005. The Company is currently evaluating the effect that the manufacturer's 
deduction will have on future results.  

        In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-2, "Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings 
Repatriation Provision Within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004" (FSP 109-2). The Act introduced a temporary incentive for U.S. 
multinationals to repatriate earnings accumulated outside the U.S. by providing a one-time tax deduction of 85 percent for certain foreign 
earnings from controlled foreign corporations. FSP 109-2 provides accounting and disclosure guidance for the repatriation provision. The 
Company did not elect to apply this provision in 2004 and may elect to apply this provision to qualifying repatriations in 2005. Due to the 
complexity of the repatriation provision, the Company has not yet completed its evaluation of the impact the Act may have on its decision 
regarding repatriation of earnings, including a definitive calculation of qualifying dividends and the effect of any repatriation on the Company's 
tax provision. The Company expects to complete its evaluation in 2005.  

        In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment 
("SFAS 123R"), which replaces SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , ("SFAS 123") and supercedes APB Opinion 
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees . SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee 
stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements at fair value beginning in Hardinge's third quarter. Under SFAS 123R, Hardinge must 
determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments, the amortization method for compensation cost, and the 
transition method to be used at date of adoption. The standard permits two transition method adoption alternatives:  

        "Modified prospective adoption" would require the Company to begin expensing share-based payments effective January 1, 2005. Prior 
annual periods would not be restated.  

        "Modified retrospective adoption" would require the Company to begin expensing share-based payments effective January 1, 2005. Prior 
annual periods would be restated.  

        The Company is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 123R will have on the Company's consolidated results of operations and 
financial condition, which in part will be dependent on the transition and amortization methods used to adopt the new rules in 2005.  
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11.    Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  

        Summarized quarterly financial information for 2004 and 2003 is as follows:  

        Earnings per share amounts are based on the weighted average shares outstanding for each period presented. As a result of the changes in 
outstanding shares from quarter to quarter, the total of the four quarters for 2003 does not equal the annual earnings per share for the year.  

(1)  

     

Quarter 

     

First 

  

Second 

  

Third (1) 

  

Fourth 

     

(in thousands, except per share data)  

 
2004                         
Net sales   $ 51,917   $ 53,330   $ 54,606   $ 72,201 
Gross profit     15,680     15,223     16,125     22,650 
Income from operations     3,042     1,700     2,296     5,456 
Net income     1,429     356     400     2,207 
Basic earnings per share:                         
  Weighted average shares outstanding     8,757     8,735     8,742     8,742 
  Earnings per share     .16     .04     .05     .25 
Diluted earnings per share:                         
  Weighted average shares outstanding     8,868     8,786     8,785     8,784 
  Earnings per share     .16     .04     .05     .25 

     

Quarter 

     

First 

  

Second 

  

Third 

  

Fourth 

     

(in thousands, except per share data)  

 
2003                         
Net sales   $ 40,902   $ 47,494   $ 43,993   $ 52,913 
Gross profit     12,797     14,224     12,789     14,794 
Income from operations     673     1,624     1,141     3,435 
Net (loss) income     (97 )   580     (13,430 )   1,663 
Basic earnings per share:                         
  Weighted average shares outstanding     8,692     8,708     8,716     8,725 
  (Loss) earnings per share     (.01 )   .07     (1.54 )   .19 
Diluted earnings per share:                         
  Weighted average shares outstanding     8,700     8,716     8,716     8,760 
  (Loss) earnings per share     (.01 )   .07     (1.54 )   .19 

Third quarter 2003 results include a third quarter non-cash charge to income tax expense of $13.7 million to provide a 100% valuation 
allowance for the Company's U.S. deferred tax assets.  

12.    Related Party Transactions  

        In the normal course of business, the Company retains a law firm of which a Company director is a partner, for various legal matters 
involving corporate, employee benefit, collections, and environmental law. The Company paid the law firm $244,854, $195,395, and $262,152 
in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.  
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ITEM 9. —CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

        None  

 
ITEM 9A.—CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

(a)    Management's Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

        As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the 
Company's disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is known to the officers who certify the Company's financial reports and to other members of senior management and the Board of 
Directors.  

        Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2004, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the 
Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) are 
effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms.  

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

        Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). The Company's internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles.  

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures included in such controls may deteriorate.  

        Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we 
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on the framework in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on 
that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.  

        Management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by 
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included elsewhere herein.  

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

        There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) 
of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurred  
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during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting.  

(b)  

        
/s/   J. PATRICK ERVIN        

J. Patrick Ervin  
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

    

 
/s/   RICHARD L. SIMONS        

Richard L. Simons 

 
  

 
  

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

Attestation report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Shareholders  
Hardinge Inc.  

        We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting, that Hardinge Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the 
COSO criteria). Hardinge Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's 
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

        In our opinion, management's assessment that Hardinge Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the  
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COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Hardinge Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.  

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of Hardinge Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 and our report dated 
February 25, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

Syracuse, New York  
February 25, 2005  
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Ernst & Young LLP     



 
PART III  

ITEM 10.—DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  

        Certain information required by this item such as: the identity of the Board of Directors and, those directors determined by the Board to be 
independent; the members of the Audit Committee, all of whom have been determined by the Board to be independent; the Audit Committee 
member determined by the Board to be the financial expert; and the Shareholders Nominating Procedures are all incorporated by reference from 
the Registrant's proxy statement to be filed with the Commission on or about April 1, 2005. Additional information required to be furnished by 
Item 401 of Regulation S-K is as follows:  
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List of Executive Officers of the Registrant 

Name  

  

Age 

  

Executive  
Officer  
Since 

  

Positions and Offices Held 

 
J. Patrick Ervin 

 
  

 
47 

 
  1996 

 
  

 
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President since January, 
2003; President and Chief Executive Officer May, 2001 - December 2002; 
President and Chief Operating Officer, April, 2000 - April 2001: Executive Vice 
President — Operations, August 1998 - March 2000; Senior Vice President of 
Operations, Mfg., Eng. and Marketing, April 1998 - July 1998; Vice President — 
Sales & Marketing 1996 - March 1998; General Manager, Machine Tool 
Operations in 1996; Director, Sales & Marketing 1992 - 1996; Director of 
Materials & Purchasing 1990 - 1992; Superintendent, Machine Operations 1989 - 
1990, Various other Company positions 1978 - 1989. 

 
Richard L. Simons 

 
  

 
49 

 
  1996 

 
  

 
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Assistant Secretary since 
April, 2000; Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Assistant 
Secretary, in 1999; Vice President — Finance 1996 - 1998; Controller 1987 - 
1996; Assistant Treasurer 1985 - 1987; Manager Financial Accounting 1983 -
1984. 

 
Douglas C. Tifft 

 
  

 
50 

 
  1988 

 
  

 
Senior Vice President — Administration since April, 2000; Vice President — 
Administration 1998 - 1999; Vice President — Employee Relations since 1988. 
Various other Company positions 1978 - 1988. 

 
Joseph T. Colvin 
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  1996 

 
  

 
Vice President, General Manager — Workholding Operations since March, 
2001; Vice President — Manufacturing October, 1996 - March, 2001; 
Manufacturing Director, Machine Operations 1994 - 1996; Formerly Vice 
President Operations, General Manager, Inertial Guidance Test Equipment and 
Original Equipment Manufacturing, Contraves, Inc.,1994; President and CEO, 
Modern Manufacturing, 1993; President, Inland Motor Division, Kollmorgen 
Corp., 1987 - 1992. 

 
Douglas G. Rich 

 
  

 
48 

 
  2001 

 
  

 
Vice President, General Manager — U.S. Machine Operations since November, 
2001; Director of Manufacturing, Machine Tool Division, March - October 2001; 
Formerly, Plant Manager, Ingersoll-Rand Company, 1992 - March 2001; Plant 
Superintendent, Watts Fluid Air, Compressed Air Equipment, 1984 - 1992. 



 
ITEM 10.—CODE OF ETHICS  

        Our Board of Directors adopted the Code of Ethics for the Senior Financial Executives and the Code of Conduct for Directors and 
Executive Officers which supplements the Code of Conduct governing all employees and directors. A copy of all said Codes is available on our 
website at www.hardinge.com . We will also provide a copy of the said Codes to shareholders upon request. We will disclose future amendments 
to, or waivers from, the said Codes on our website within five business days following the date of such amendment or waiver.  

 
ITEM 11.—EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant's proxy statement to be filed with the Commission on 
or about April 1, 2005.  

 
ITEM 12.—SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT  

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant's proxy statement to be filed with the Commission on 
or about April 1, 2005.  

 
ITEM 13.—CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS.  

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant's proxy statement to be filed with the Commission on 
or about April 1, 2005.  

 
ITEM 14.—PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.  

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant's proxy statement to be filed with the Commission on 
or about April 1, 2005.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 15.—EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K  

(a)  (1) The financial statements of the Registrant listed in ITEM 8. of this Report are incorporated herein by reference.  
 
(2)  The financial statement schedules of the Registrant listed in ITEM 8. of this Report are incorporated herein by reference. The 

financial statement schedule required by Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210) is filed as part of this report:  

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  

(3)  Exhibits filed as part of this Report: See (c) below.  
 

(b)  Reports on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant during the last quarter of the period covered by this report:  

 
Form 8-K filed October 4, 2004 by the Registrant to disclose an amendment to the Company's By-Laws on September 28, 2004.  

Form 8-K filed November 5, 2004 by the Registrant furnishing the November 3, 2004 press release announcing that the Company 
had purchased the intellectual property rights associated with Bridgeport's worldwide operations from Bridgeport International, a 
portfolio company of American Strategies Ltd.  

Form 8-K filed November 5, 2004 by the Registrant furnishing the November 4, 2004 press release announcing financial results 
for the third quarter of 2004.  

(c)  Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K filed as a part of this Report on Form 10-K:  
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Item  

       

Description 

3.1   —   Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Hardinge Inc. filed with the Secretary of State of the 
State of New York on May 24, 1995, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 8-
A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 19, 1995. 

3.2 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
By-Laws of Hardinge Inc. as amended November 19, 1996, incorporated by reference from the 
Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996. 

3.3 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Amendment to the By-Laws of Hardinge Inc. dated February 22, 2000 incorporated by 
reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000. 

3.4 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Amendment to the By-Laws of Hardinge Inc. dated September 28, 2004 incorporated by 
reference from the Registrant's Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on October 4, 2004. 

3.5 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Section 719 through 726 of the New York Business Corporation Law, incorporated by 
reference from the Registrant's Form 10, effective June 29, 1987. 

3.6 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Specimen of certificate for shares of Common Stock, par value $.01 per share, of Hardinge 
Inc., incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 8-A, filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 19, 1995. 

3.7 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Form of Rights Agreement, dated as of May 16, 1995, between Hardinge Inc. and American 
Stock Transfer and Trust Company, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 8-A, 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 23, 1995. 

          

3.8 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Amended Form of Rights Agreement, dated as of August 25,1997 between Hardinge Inc. and 
Fifth Third Bank, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 8-A/A filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on September 29, 1997. 
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3.9 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Substitution of Successor Rights Agent and Amendment No. 2 to the Rights Agreement dated 
August 25, 2003, between Hardinge Inc. and Computershare Investor Services LLC 
incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 8-A/A filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 18, 2004. 

3.10 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Securities Registration Statement incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form S-3 
(No. 333-115595). 

10.1 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Multi-currency Credit Agreement and Term Loan Agreement dated October 24, 2002 among 
Hardinge Inc. and the Banks signatory thereto and JP Morgan Chase as Sole Administrative 
Agent and KeyBank National Association as Documentation Agent per the agreement and 
related documents thereto, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ended September 30, 2002. 

10.2 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Amendment Number One dated December 31, 2002 to the Multi-currency Credit Agreement 
dated October 24, 2002 among Hardinge Inc. and the Banks signatory thereto and JP Morgan 
Chase as Sole Administrative Agent and KeyBank National Association as Documentation 
Agent, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2002. 

10.3 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Amendment Number One dated December 31, 2002 to the Term Loan Agreement dated 
October 24, 2002 among Hardinge Inc. and the Banks signatory thereto and JP Morgan Chase 
as Sole Administrative Agent and KeyBank National Association, incorporated by reference 
from the Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002. 

10.4 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Amendment Number Two to the Multi-currency Credit Agreement dated October 24, 2002 
among Hardinge Inc. and the Banks signatory thereto and JP Morgan Chase as Sole 
Administrative Agent and KeyBank National Association as Documentation Agent, 
incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 
30, 2003. 

10.5 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Amendment Number Two to the Term Loan Agreement dated October 24, 2002 among 
Hardinge Inc. and the Banks signatory thereto and JP Morgan Chase as Sole Administrative 
Agent and KeyBank National Association, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003. 

10.6 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement among Hardinge Inc. and 
the Banks signatory thereto and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company as Agent and Lead 
Arranger and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Syndication Agent and KeyBank National 
Association as Documentation Agent dated as of October 24, 2002 and amended and restated 
as of January 28, 2005 incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 8-K filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 2, 2005. 

10.7 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
$8,000,000 Master Note among Hardinge Inc. and Chemung Canal Trust Company dated 
February 8, 2001, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2001. 

          

10.8 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Alliance Agreement entered into as of October 29, 2002, by and among Hardinge Inc., BPT IP, 
LLC and Bridgeport Machines Limited, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 
8-K filed November 25, 2002. This Alliance Agreement was terminated and superceded by an 
Alliance Agreement, dated November 3, 2004, incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 
10.9 to this report on Form 10-K. 

10.9 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Alliance Agreement entered into as of November 3, 2004 by and among Hardinge Inc., BPT 
IP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, incorporated herein to the Registrant's Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. Portions of this exhibit have been omitted 
pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed with the Commission under Rule 24b-2. 
The omitted confidential material has been filed separately with the Commission. The location 
of the omitted information is indicated in the exhibit with asterisks (*****). 
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10.10   —   Asset Purchase Agreement dated November 3, 2004 by and between BPT IP LLC and 
Hardinge Inc. incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2004. 

10.11 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Hardinge Inc. Savings Plan, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Registration 
Statement on Form S-8 (No. 33-65049). 

*10.12 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
The 2002 Hardinge Inc. Incentive Stock Plan, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002. 

*10.13 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
The 1996 Hardinge Inc. Incentive Stock Plan as adopted by shareholders at the April 23, 1996 
annual meeting, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended June 30, 1996. 

*10.14 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Hardinge Inc. Cash Incentive Plan incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Form 8-K 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 2005. 

*10.15 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Employment Agreement with Joseph T. Colvin effective January 1, 1997, incorporated by 
reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997. 

*10.16 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Employment Agreement with J. Patrick Ervin effective January 1, 1997, incorporated by 
reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997. 

*10.17 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Employment Agreement with Richard L. Simons effective January 1, 1997, incorporated by 
reference from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997. 

*10.18 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Employment Agreement with Douglas C. Tifft dated as of April 1, 1995, incorporated by 
reference from the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-2 (No. 33-91644). 

*10.19 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Employment Agreement with Douglas Rich effective April 1, 2001, incorporated by reference 
from the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001. 

*10.20 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Hardinge Inc. Executive Supplemental Pension Plan, incorporated by reference from the 
Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1993. 

*10.21 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Hardinge Inc. Executive Supplemental Pension Plan as Amended December 13, 2004, 
incorporated herein to the Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. 

*10.22 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Form of Deferred Directors Fee Plan, incorporated by reference from the Registrant's 
Registration Statement on Form S-2 (No.33-91644). 

          



*  

14 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
The Hardinge Inc. Code of Ethics is incorporated by reference from the Company's website at 
www.hardinge.com . 

21 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Subsidiaries of the Company. 

23 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors. 

31.1 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), as adopted 
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

31.2 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), as adopted 
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32 
 
  

 
— 

 
  

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.  
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HARDINGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

ITEM 15(a) Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  

(1)  

(dollars in thousands)  

  

Balance  
at Beg. of  

Period 

  

Additions  
Costs &  
Expenses 

  

Charged to:  
Other  

Accounts 

  

Deductions 

  

Balance  
at End  

of Period 

Year ended December 31, 2004:                               
Allowance for Bad Debts   $ 4,150   $ 734   $ 70 (1) $ 1,263 (2) $ 3,691 
Reserve for Obsolete Inventory     3,509     (425 )         (124 )(3)   3,208 
Valuation allowance for Deferred Taxes     20,993                 (750 )   21,743 
            
  Total   $ 28,652   $ 309   $ 70   $ 389   $ 28,642 
            
Year ended December 31, 2003:                               
Allowance for Bad Debts   $ 6,104   $ 93   $ 42 (1) $ 2,089 (2) $ 4,150 
Reserve for Obsolete Inventory     1,769     1,454     1,088 (4)   802 (3)   3,509 
Valuation allowance for Deferred Taxes     4,518     14,605     1,870 (5)         20,993 
            
  Total   $ 12,391   $ 16,152   $ 3,000   $ 2,891   $ 28,652 
            
Year ended December 31, 2002:                               
Allowance for Bad Debts   $ 6,414   $ 1,548   $ 59 (1) $ 1,917 (2) $ 6,104 
Reserve for Obsolete Inventory     14,171     506     88 (1)   12,996 (3)   1,769 
Valuation allowance for Deferred Taxes     4,570     (52 )               4,518 
            
  Total   $ 25,155   $ 2,002   $ 147   $ 14,913   $ 12,391 
            

Currency translation for balances recorded in foreign currencies, charged to Cumulative Translation Adjustment.  
 

(2)  Uncollectable accounts written off, net of recoveries.  
 

(3)  Slow-moving parts inventories written down to net recoverable market value.  
 

(4)  Addition from the purchase discount on acquired inventory.  
 

(5)  See Note 3 to the Financial Statements for further details.  
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SIGNATURES  

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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    HARDINGE INC. 

(Registrant) 
 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   J. PATRICK ERVIN        

J. Patrick Ervin  
Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer and 
Director 

 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   RICHARD L. SIMONS        

Richard L. Simons  
Executive Vice President/Chief Financial  
Officer and Assistant Secretary and  
Director (Principal Financial Officer) 

 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   DANIEL J. BURKE        

Daniel J. Burke  
Director 

 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   DOUGLAS A. GREENLEE        

Douglas A. Greenlee  
Director 

 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   J. PHILIP HUNTER        

J. Philip Hunter  
Director and Secretary 

 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   ALBERT W. MOORE        

Albert W. Moore  
Director 

 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   JOHN J. PERROTTI        

John J. Perrotti  
Director 

 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   MITCHELL I. QUAIN        

Mitchell I. Quain  
Director 

 
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
/s/   KYLE H. SEYMOUR        

Kyle H. Seymour  
Director 
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Exhibit 10.9 

 
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT  

        Note: Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed with the Commission under Rule 24b-
2. The omitted confidential material has been filed separately with the Commission. The location of the omitted confidential information is 
indicated herein with asterisks (****).  

 
Alliance Agreement  

        This Alliance Agreement (" Agreement ") is entered into as of the 3rd day of November, 2004, by and among Hardinge Inc., a New York 
corporation (" Hardinge ") and BPT IP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (" BPT ").  

Preliminary Statement  

        Hardinge, BPT Holdings, Inc. and Bridgeport Machines Limited, an English company (" BML "), previously entered into that certain 
Alliance Agreement dated October 29, 2002 (the " Original Alliance Agreement "). Hardinge and BPT now desire to enter into this Alliance 
Agreement, which supersedes and replaces the Original Alliance Agreement, which has been terminated by Hardinge, BPT and BML on the date 
hereof. Therefore, intending to be legally bound by this Agreement, and in consideration of the mutual promises set forth below, and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by the parties, Hardinge and BPT agree as follows:  

 
Agreement  

        Section 1.     Definitions.     As used in this Agreement, each of the defined terms set forth below has the following meaning:  

         Accessory means an accessory product, the purpose of which is to augment the function of a Product, and does not include a Spare.  

         Affiliate means, with respect to a particular entity, any other entity directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common 
control with, such entity. For purposes of this definition, "control" means the ownership or control, by contract or otherwise, of more than 50% 
of the voting securities of an entity, or the right to appoint or elect a majority of the Board of Directors of an entity.  

         Assets Sale Agreement means the agreement for the sale of certain assets dated the same date as this Agreement and made between BPT 
and Hardinge.  

         Change of Control Transaction means any transaction or related series of transactions pursuant to which a third party may gain Control 
of a party, whether by merger, consolidation, issuance or acquisition of voting securities, sale of all or substantially all of the assets of a party, or 
otherwise.  

         Control means and includes the direct or indirect ownership of all or substantially all of the assets of a party by any third party, the direct 
or indirect ownership or control, by contract or otherwise, of more than 50% of the voting securities of the acquired party, or the right to appoint 
or elect, whether directly or indirectly, a majority of the Board of Directors of a party.  

         Copyrights means the United States copyrights listed on Schedule A to this Agreement, as that Schedule may be amended from time to 
time by the parties, and being copyrights that form part of the sale of intellectual property right by BPT to Hardinge pursuant to the terms of the 
Assets Sale Agreement.  
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         Force Majeure Event is defined in Section 5.4.  

         Governing Documents means with respect to any entity, (a) the articles or certificate of incorporation, formation or association, and 
bylaws of a corporation; (b) all shareholders' agreements, voting agreements, joint venture agreements, registration rights agreements or other 
agreements or documents relating to the organization, management or operation of such corporation or relating to the rights, duties and 
obligations of the shareholders of such corporation, or any operating agreement incorporating any or all of the foregoing elements; and (c) any 
amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing.  

         Intellectual Property Rights means the Marks and Copyrights, collectively.  

         Knee Mill Products means products falling under the description "Milling machines, knee-type, UK customs tariff codes 845951 00 
(numerically controlled) and 845959 00 (other) as defined in section XVI of the UK Customs Tariff volume 2, section VI.  

         Marks means the United States and Canadian trademarks and trade names listed on Schedule A to this Agreement, as that Schedule may be 
amended from time to time, and being trade marks and trade names that form part of the sale of intellectual property right by BPT to Hardinge 
pursuant to the terms of the Assets Sale Agreement.  

         Net Sales means the gross sales price actually charged in the sale of a (i) Product, (ii) a Spare, (iii) an Accessory or (iv) any other item 
bearing any Mark, in each case within the Territory, less:  

(i)  customary trade, quantity or **************, rebates, and non-affiliated brokers' or agents' commissions actually allowed and 
taken;  

{****}  Confidential treatment requested and the redacted material has been separately filed with the Commission.  
 
(ii)  freight and other transportation costs, including insurance charges, and duties, tariffs, sales and excise taxes and other 

governmental charges based directly on sales, turnover or delivery of the specified Products and actually paid or allowed; and  
 

(iii)  in the case of Products, Accessories and Spares only, amounts charged for Product Services sold at the same time as the specified 
Products, Accessories or Spares, provided that any such Product Services are separately charged and itemized.  

For purposes of this Agreement, a "sale" shall be deemed to occur upon the earlier of (i) the date of an invoice for a Product, Accessory, Spare or 
other item bearing any Mark sold or transferred by Hardinge to any third party, or (ii) the date on which a Product, Accessory, Spare or other 
item bearing any Mark is shipped for delivery to any third party.  

         Products means those products listed on Schedule B to this Agreement, as that Schedule may be amended from time to time.  

         Product Services means service engineering and technical support services for Products, Spares and Accessories.  

         Product Warranty means the warranty or warranties to be offered by Hardinge in connection with the sale of Products, Accessories or 
Spares, in the form attached as Schedule C .  

         Representative means, with respect to a particular person, any director, officer, manager, employee, agent, consultant, adviser, accountant, 
financial adviser, legal counsel or other representative of that person.  

         Royalties means the amount payable to BPT by Hardinge in connection with the sale of Products, Accessories, Spares and other items 
bearing any Mark, as set forth in Section 6.1 of this Agreement.  
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         Spares means spare parts for Products and Accessories.  

         Technical Information means all information owned by BPT to the extent that it is required for the manufacture of the Products, 
Accessories and Spares, including but not limited to blueprints, designs, schematics, drawing, specifications, computer source and object code, 
customer lists, and proprietary rights and assets of a similar nature.  

         Territory means the United States of America, Canada and Mexico, and their respective territories and possessions.  

         US GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles for financial reporting in the USA applied on a consistent basis during the term 
of this Agreement and in a manner consistent with Hardinge's previous practice.  

        Section 2.     Staffing.       

        Hardinge shall use its reasonable efforts to employ or engage sufficient personnel during the term of this Agreement to ensure the 
successful distribution, sale and promotion of the Products, Accessories and Spares, and the provision of Product Services.  

        Section 3.     Grant of Rights.       

        3.1     Rights To Manufacture.     Subject to the terms of this Agreement, BPT hereby grants and agrees to grant, and Hardinge hereby 
accepts, the exclusive worldwide right to manufacture Products, Accessories and Spares. While this Agreement remains in effect, BPT agrees 
that it will not, and will not permit any of its Affiliates to, nor will it grant to any third party any right to, manufacture Products, Accessories and 
Spares anywhere in the world.  

        3.2     Rights to Sell.     Subject to the terms of this Agreement, BPT hereby grants and agrees to grant, and Hardinge hereby accepts, the 
exclusive worldwide right to sell Products, Accessories and Spares. While this Agreement remains in effect, BPT agrees that it will not, and will 
not permit any of its Affiliates to, and nor will it grant to any third party any right to, sell Products, Accessories and Spares anywhere in the 
world.  

        3.3     Grant of Technical Information License.     Subject to the terms of this Agreement, BPT hereby grants and agrees to grant to 
Hardinge, and Hardinge hereby accepts, the exclusive right to use the Technical Information, to make, have made, use, import and sell Products, 
Accessories and Spares anywhere in the world. While this Agreement remains in effect, BPT agrees that it will not, and will not permit any of its 
Affiliates to, and nor will it grant to any third party any right to use the Technical Information anywhere in the world.  

        3.4     Reservation.     Hardinge acknowledges and agrees that the Technical Information are and shall remain the sole and exclusive 
property of BPT, and that unless otherwise specifically and expressly granted to Hardinge pursuant to this Agreement any and all rights in and to 
the Technical Information are hereby irrevocably reserved to BPT. Hardinge further acknowledges and agrees that (i) no title in the Technical 
Information is transferred to Hardinge pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) it shall not use the Technical Information for any purpose other than the 
purposes set forth in this Agreement, (iii) it will not represent or assert to any third party any claim of ownership in or to the Technical 
Information, and (iv) it will not bring any action or assert any claim, or directly or indirectly assist any other person or entity to bring any action 
or assert any claim, challenging the ownership by BPT, or the validity, of the Technical Information, at any time during or after the term of this 
Agreement.  

        3.5     Third Party Rights.     The parties acknowledge that it may be advisable for Hardinge to subcontract the manufacture or assembly of 
certain Products, Accessories or Spares, and that in connection with any such subcontract a third party manufacturer may require a license to 
some or all of the Technical Information. The parties hereby agree that they shall within 60 days after the date  
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hereof mutually agree upon (i) a set of criteria for sub-licensing of the Technical Information by Hardinge to third parties (the "Sub-licensing 
Criteria") and (ii) the form of a sub-licensing agreement to be used by Hardinge in sub-licensing the Technical Information to third parties (the 
"Agreed Form Sub-Licensing Agreement"). Thereafter, Hardinge shall be entitled to sub-license the Technical Information to third parties who 
comply with the Sub-licensing Criteria and who enter into a sub-licensing agreement with Hardinge in the form, or substantially in the form, of 
the Agreed Form Sub-Licensing Agreement (and provided always that any such sub-licensing agreement provides for its own expiry 
automatically upon the termination of this Agreement for whatever reason). Hardinge shall give BPT prior written notice of any such proposed 
sub-licensing, and BPT shall be entitled to require reasonable evidence, prior to the grant of the relevant sub-license, that (i) the relevant third 
party complies with the Sub-Licensing Criteria and (ii) the proposed sub-licensing agreement is in the form, or substantially in the form, of the 
Agreed Form Sub-Licensing Agreement. Hardinge agrees diligently to monitor the compliance of any sub-licensee with the terms of its sub-
licensing agreement and to take all actions within its power to ensure that such sub-licensee complies with the terms thereof. Any default (i) by 
Hardinge in the performance of its obligations pursuant to this clause 3.6, or (ii) by a sub-licensee in the performance of its obligations pursuant 
to its sub-licensing agreement, in each case which is not remedied within ninety (90) days after the earlier of (a) either the Hardinge program 
manager or other high-ranking Hardinge manager becoming aware of the default or (b) Hardinge receiving written notification from BPT of the 
default, shall be deemed to constitute a material default by Hardinge under this Agreement and shall entitle BPT to terminate for cause in 
accordance with section 7.3(b).  

        3.6     Infringement Claims.     Hardinge agrees that it will promptly notify BPT in writing if it becomes aware of any infringement or 
possible infringement, or other misappropriation or illegal use, of any Technical Information in or outside of the Territory. BPT shall be 
responsible for, and shall have the sole discretion with respect to any prosecution or settlement of, any action brought by BPT to enforce its 
rights in the Technical Information. BPT shall be solely responsible for the settlement or abandonment of any proceeding brought by BPT 
pursuant to this Section 3.6, and shall have the right to retain all recoveries, damages and other remedies obtained as a result of any such 
proceeding. Hardinge agrees that it shall provide such cooperation as is reasonably requested by BPT with respect to any enforcement action 
brought by BPT, provided that BPT will reimburse Hardinge for any and all reasonable out of pocket expenses incurred by Hardinge in so 
cooperating with BPT.  

        Section 4.     Product Manufacture, Design, Service and Promotion.       

        4.1     Manufacture of Products, Accessories and Spares.     The parties agree that Hardinge shall be responsible for the manufacture of 
Products, Accessories and Spares. Hardinge agrees that the Products, Accessories and Spares manufactured by, or for, Hardinge will be of good, 
merchantable quality commensurate with the quality of other Hardinge products comparable to the Products, Accessories and Spares. Hardinge 
agrees that it will maintain, or will cause to be maintained, manufacturing quality controls and processes with respect to the Products, 
Accessories and Spares which are no less rigorous than those maintained by Hardinge with respect to its own quality products. At all times 
during the term of this Agreement, Hardinge will use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) maintain or improve the quality and reliability of the 
Products, Accessories and Spares, (ii) maintain or enhance the specifications for the Products, Accessories and Spares in order to improve their 
marketability, and (iii) maintain or reduce the costs of manufacture of the Products, Accessories and Spares in order to increase sales volumes 
and profitability of the Products, Accessories and Spares. In furtherance of such obligations, Hardinge may implement changes to the designs 
and specifications of the Products, Accessories and Spares so long as (A) such changes do not degrade the form or function of the Products, 
Accessories and Spares, and (B) Hardinge maintains complete and accurate records and drawings of all such changes. Hardinge will provide 
BPT with a list of all changes implemented by Hardinge as BPT may request from time to time.  
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        4.2     Design and Engineering Control.     Hardinge shall be responsible for providing production engineering, engineering drawings, and 
document control with respect to the Products, Accessories and Spares in accordance with its practices with respect to its own quality products.  

        4.3     Ownership of Drawings and Other Documents.     The parties agree that all drawings, specifications, designs, blueprints and other 
documents of any kind or nature prepared by or at the direction of Hardinge pursuant to this Section 4, together with all copies, abridgements, 
summaries, and derivative works made or derived therefrom, shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of BPT and shall promptly be 
returned by Hardinge to BPT on termination of this Agreement for any reason.  

        4.4     Service and Warranties.     Hardinge will be responsible for the marketing and sale of the Products, Accessories and Spares, and for 
the provision of the Product Services, in the Territory. Hardinge agrees that it will perform such obligations at a level of quality comparable to 
that performed by Hardinge with respect to comparable Hardinge Products. Hardinge will offer the Product Warranty with respect to all 
Products, Accessories and Spares, and will service all Product Warranty claims at its sole cost and expense.  

        4.5     Sales, Marketing and Distribution.       

        4.5.1     Promotion Efforts.     Subject to Section 4.6 below, Hardinge agrees to use its reasonable commercial efforts to promote and 
sell the Products, Accessories and Spares in the Territory in a manner consistent with such efforts undertaken by Hardinge with respect to 
its own quality products, including print advertising, attendance at trade shows in the Territory, direct mail campaigns, and other similar 
efforts previously or hereafter employed by Hardinge with respect to any of its products. Such efforts will be at the cost and expense of 
Hardinge.  

        4.5.2     Telephone Orders.     Without limitation of the foregoing, Hardinge agrees that it will, until the earlier of (a) the termination 
of this Agreement and (b) 31 December, 2009, (i) maintain, advertise and promote a dedicated "800" customer services number to enable 
customers to order Products, Accessories and Spares or request Product Services via telephone during normal business hours, or such 
extended hours as Hardinge may maintain for any of its other products and services, and (ii) advertise and permit the ordering of 
Products, Accessories, Spares and Product Services through any other standard telephone or other ordering systems maintained by 
Hardinge for its own comparable products. Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason, Hardinge shall assign the "800" number 
set forth above to BPT or to such other person or entity as BPT may designate, at no cost or expense to BPT, unless such transfer is 
prohibited at such time by the relevant telephone carrier.  

        4.5.3     Websites.     Hardinge currently maintains, and will maintain at all times during the term of this Agreement, a website for the 
promotion and sale of its products and services and the Products, Accessories, Spares and Product Services.  

        4.6     Demonstration Products.     At all times during the term of this Agreement, Hardinge will maintain appropriate and commercially 
reasonable numbers of demonstration Products, Accessories and Spares necessary to support a marketing and sales effort for the Products, 
Accessories and Spares that is at least as active as that Hardinge employs in respect of its own products.  

        Section 5.     Royalties on Products and Spares.       

        5.1     Royalties.     In consideration of the licenses and other rights granted to Hardinge pursuant to this Agreement, Hardinge hereby agrees 
to pay to BPT Royalties of:  

(i)  **** % of the Net Sales of any Spares sold by Hardinge within the Territory;  
 

(ii)  ****% of the Net Sales of any Products sold by Hardinge within the Territory;  
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(iii)  ****% of the Net Sales of any Accessories sold by Hardinge within the Territory separately from the Products to which such 
Accessories relate; and  
 

(iv)  ****% of the Net Sales of any Accessories sold by Hardinge for use in conjunction with Products sold by Hardinge at the same 
time as such Accessories within the Territory,  

provided that (i) Hardinge will not be obligated to pay any Royalty on sales of Product Services, and 
(ii) ********************************************** **********.  

{****}  Confidential treatment requested and the redacted material has been separately filed with the Commission.  

        5.2     Minimum Royalties.     For two (2) periods of 12 months, commencing with the twelve month period beginning November 1, 2004 
(each such twelve month period referred to below as a " Minimum Royalty Year "), Hardinge will pay to BPT an amount equal to the greater of 
(i) zero and (ii) U.S.$1,000,000 minus the amount of any Royalties paid (and for these purposes Royalties shall be deemed paid in an amount 
equal to the amount of any credit against Royalties granted pursuant to section 5.3.2) or payable in respect of Net Sales during such Minimum 
Royalty Year to BPT by Hardinge pursuant to Section 5.1 above. For two (2) periods of 12 months, commencing with the twelve month period 
beginning November 1, 2006 (each such twelve month period referred to below as a " Reduced Minimum Royalty Year ", and the Minimum 
Royalty Years and the Reduced Minimum Royalty Years together being the " Minimum Royalty Years "), Hardinge will pay to BPT an amount 
equal to the greater of (i) zero and (ii) U.S.$850,000 minus the amount of any Royalties paid (and for these purposes Royalties shall be deemed 
paid in an amount equal to the amount of any credit against Royalties granted pursuant to section 5.3.2) or payable in respect of Net Sales during 
such Reduced Minimum Royalty Year to BPT by Hardinge pursuant to Section 5.1 above  

        5.3     Calculation and Payment of Royalties.       

        5.3.1     Royalty Payments.     Subject to Section 5.1, Royalties shall be calculated and paid to BPT within *********** days 
following the end of each ********* month period, commencing with the ********* month period beginning on **************** 
and, in the case of termination of this Agreement for any reason, shall be paid on the date of termination with respect to the period from 
the last Royalties payment date until the date of termination (and in the case of termination either by Hardinge pursuant to section 7.3 or 
by BPT pursuant to section 7.3(b), shall be paid on the date of expiry of the licenses in sections 31., 3.2 and 3.3 with respect to the period 
from the last Royalties payment date until the date of expiry of such licenses in accordance with section 7.6.5). Minimum Royalties 
which may be owed with respect to any Minimum Royalty Year shall be paid within ************ days of the last day of such 
Minimum Royalty Year. Payments will be made to BPT by wire transfer to an account or accounts designated by BPT from time to time 
for such purpose. No Royalties shall be payable on sales to BPT or its Affiliates.  

{****}  Confidential treatment requested and the redacted material has been separately filed with the Commission.  

        5.3.2     Credit towards Royalties.     In each period of 12 months commencing with the 12 month period beginning November 1, 
2004, Hardinge shall be granted a credit of US$100,000 against Royalties otherwise payable in respect of that 12 month period (provided 
that if the Royalties otherwise payable in respect of that 12 month period are less than US$100,000 the credit shall be of an amount equal 
to such Royalties). Such credit shall be applied towards Royalty payments as they arise in respect of such 12 month period pursuant to 
section 5.3.1.  

        5.3.3     Royalty Calculations.     At the same time that it makes payment of Royalties (and, if applicable, Minimum Royalties), 
Hardinge shall deliver to BPT a true and complete accounting of  
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all sales of Products, Accessories and Spares during the period for which Royalties are due, with a separate accounting of sales and 
receipts by country within the Territory, and by each model or version of Product, Accessory or Spare.  

        5.3.4     Records.     Hardinge shall keep accurate and complete records in compliance with US GAAP applied on a consistent basis 
throughout the term of this Agreement and consistent with Hardinge's prior practice, in sufficient detail to permit the Royalties and 
Minimum Royalties payable under this Agreement to be determined. During the term of this Agreement and for a period of three 
(3) years following termination of this Agreement, Hardinge shall permit its books and records regarding the sale of Products, 
Accessories and Spares to be copied and audited or otherwise examined from time to time, upon reasonable notice from BPT, during 
normal business hours by BPT or any designated Representative of BPT. Such examination shall be made at BPT's expense, except that 
if such examination discloses an underpayment of ***** percent (****%) or more in the amount of Royalties due BPT, then Hardinge 
shall forthwith reimburse BPT for the cost of such examination, including any professional fees incurred by BPT, in addition to the 
amount of any unpaid Royalties.  

        5.3.5     Foreign Payments.     If Hardinge receives payment in a currency other than currency which is legal tender in the United 
States of America in connection with a transaction giving rise to a payment obligation under this Agreement, then the payment required 
to be made by Hardinge under this Agreement shall be converted, prior to payment, into United States dollars at the applicable rate of 
exchange of Citibank, N.A., in New York, New York, on the last day of the payment period in which such transaction occurred.  

        5.3.6     Overdue Payments.     Royalties due to BPT under this Agreement shall if not paid when due bear simple interest at the 
annual rate of **** %, calculated on the basis of the number of days actually elapsed in a 365 day year, beginning on the due date and 
ending on the day prior to the day on which payment is made in full. Interest accruing under this Section shall be due on demand. The 
accrual or receipt by BPT of interest under this Section shall not constitute a waiver by BPT of any right it may otherwise have to declare 
a breach of or default under this Agreement and to terminate this Agreement.  

{****}  Confidential treatment requested and the redacted material has been separately filed with the Commission.  

 
        5.4     Force Majeure.     " Force Majeure Event " means an event beyond the control of Hardinge which prevents Hardinge, for more than 
sixty continuous (60) days from the date of such event or for more than sixty (60) days in any ninety (90) day period following the date of such 
event, from manufacturing seventy five per cent (75%) or more by dollar volume of the Products, Accessories and Spares that it was 
manufacturing immediately prior to the occurrence of such event (including fire, floods, terrorism, war, acts of war (whether war is declared or 
not), insurrections, riots, civil commotions or acts of God, but expressly excluding strikes, lockouts or other labor disturbances at Hardinge 
premises). If a Force Majeure Event occurs, all performance obligations of Hardinge shall be suspended for the duration of such event to the 
extent such obligations are affected by such Force Majeure Event. If a Force Majeure Event occurs in a Minimum Royalty Year, such Minimum 
Royalty Year, and any remaining Minimum Royalty Years thereafter, shall be adjusted forward by the duration of such Force Majeure Event. 
Hardinge shall provide BPT with prompt written notice of the occurrence of any event which would be a Force Majeure Event if it were to 
endure for more than sixty continuous (60) days.  

        Section 6     Product Enhancements.       

        6.1     Product Enhancements.     BPT and Hardinge agree that enhancements of existing Products, Accessories and Spares (" Product 
Enhancements ") may be necessary or desirable. Hardinge shall be at liberty to make such Product Enhancements as it considers fit.  
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        6.2     Costs of Product Enhancements.     If this Agreement is terminated for any reason (other than a termination by BPT pursuant to 
section 7.3):  

        (a)   Hardinge will within 30 days after termination provide to BPT a detailed breakdown of the cumulative expenditure borne by Hardinge 
(including engineering support (which for the purposes of this section 6 will be charged at the rate of US$65 per recorded hour), prototype costs 
(excluding manufacturing overhead), and other direct out-of-pocket expenses) in respect of Product Enhancements after the date of this 
Agreement and broken down on a calendar year basis (the " Costs Breakdown ");  

        (b)   The Costs Breakdown shall be deemed to have been accepted by BPT unless within 20 days after receiving it, BPT delivers to 
Hardinge notice to the contrary specifying (i) the item or items disputed and BPT's reasons for disputing the same. BPT and Hardinge shall use 
all reasonable efforts forthwith to resolve the matter or matters in dispute. If agreement is not reached within 10 days after receipt by Hardinge of 
such notice from BPT, the matter shall be referred to KPMG certified public accountants (the " Independent Accountants "), who shall then 
determine the matter in dispute and shall confirm the Costs Breakdown. The Independent Accountants shall act as experts and not as arbitrators. 
Their decision shall be communicated in writing to BPT and Hardinge and shall be final and binding upon BPT and Hardinge. The costs of the 
Independent Accountants shall be borne as to one half by BPT and one half by Hardinge.  

        (c)   BPT will, within 30 days of receipt of agreement or determination of the Costs Breakdown pursuant to subsection (b) above, pay to 
Hardinge an amount equal to the cumulative expenditure on Product Enhancements shown by the Costs Breakdown, provided however that 
(subject to subsection (d) below) BPT shall not be liable to pay more than $100,000 in respect of Product Enhancement costs incurred in any 
calendar year;  

        (d)   BPT shall be liable to pay for Product Enhancements costs in excess of $100,000 in any calendar year if and to the extent that such 
costs were, prior to being incurred, approved in writing by BPT following receipt by BPT of a budget for the relevant Product Enhancement(s) 
(including an estimate of necessary engineering support required, prototype costs (excluding manufacturing overhead), and other anticipated 
direct out-of-pocket expenses to be incurred);  

        (e)   Notwithstanding the foregoing, BPT shall not be liable to pay any amounts in respect of Product Enhancement costs that do not affect 
the form, function or design of a Product, including costs related to quality control and improvements, manufacturing quality control, 
improvements and efficiencies, and other elements designed to reduce the manufacturing or distribution cost of a Product.  

        6.3     Ownership of Product Enhancements.     All rights, including but not limited to intellectual property rights, in and to any Product 
Enhancements, and any Technical Information, drawings, specifications, designs, blueprints and other documents of any kind or nature, together 
with all copies, abridgements, summaries, derivative works made or derived therefrom, related to any Product Enhancements (including for the 
avoidance of doubt any Product Enhancements under the Original Alliance Agreement), shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of 
BPT and shall promptly be returned by Hardinge to BPT on termination of this Agreement for any reason.  
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        Section 7     Term and Termination.       

        7.1     Term.     This Agreement will commence on the date first written above, and shall continue thereafter until 31 December, 2009. 
Thereafter, this Agreement shall continue in effect for rolling one year periods unless and until terminated by Hardinge giving 120 days' prior 
written notice expiring on 31 December in any given year. Notwithstanding the above, either party shall have the right to terminate effective 
immediately upon the occurrence of any of the events or circumstances set forth in Section 7.3 below.  

        7.2     Licence Back upon termination by Hardinge.     If Hardinge elects to terminate this Agreement on notice pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 7.1 above or if this Agreement is terminated by BPT pursuant to clause 7.3 below, then upon and with effect from the date of such 
termination, Hardinge agrees to grant to BPT the perpetual, exclusive, transferable right to use the Marks and the Copyrights upon or in relation 
to, and only upon or relation to, the marketing, promotion, advertisement, distribution and sale of the Products, Spares and Accessories, 
anywhere in the world. BPT shall be entitled to assign, transfer or sub-licence the benefit of such licence as it sees fit in its sole discretion.  

        7.3     Termination.     Each party shall have the right (without prejudice to any of its other rights conferred on it by this Agreement or 
otherwise) to terminate this Agreement if the other party:  

        (a)   is in default in payment of any amount required to be paid under this Agreement, and the defaulting party fails to remedy any such 
default within thirty (30) days after written notice thereof by the non-defaulting party;  

        (b)   is in material breach of or materially defaults with respect to any other provision of this Agreement, and the defaulting party fails to 
remedy any such breach or default within ninety (90) days after written notice thereof by the non-defaulting party;  

        (c)   shall commence a voluntary case as a debtor under the Bankruptcy Code of the United States or any successor statute (the " 
Bankruptcy Code "), or if an involuntary case shall be commenced against the other party under the Bankruptcy Code and the petition in such 
case is not dismissed within forty-five (45) days of the commencement of the case, or if an order for relief shall be entered in such case, or if the 
same or any similar circumstance shall occur under the laws of any foreign jurisdiction; or  

        7.4     Acquisition by Direct Competitor.     In addition, a party may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the other party if the 
other party is the subject of a Change of Control Transaction pursuant to which a direct competitor of the terminating party acquires Control of 
the other party.  

        7.5     Termination on Force Majeure Event.     In addition, BPT may terminate this Agreement upon 120 days' written notice to Hardinge if 
a Force Majeure Event continues for one hundred and eighty (180) or more continuous days or for more than one hundred and eighty (180) days 
in any two hundred and forty (240) day period.  

        7.6     Effect of Termination.       

        7.6.1     Return of Items.     If this Agreement is terminated by either party for whatever reason, (A) Hardinge will within 30 days 
after the date of termination (i) provide to BPT all work papers and instructions necessary or useful for the production, distribution and 
sale of Products, Accessories and Spares, including but not limited to a list of customers for all or any part of any Product, Accessory or 
Spare, (ii) provide BPT a list of suppliers of all or any part of any Product, Accessory or Spare.  
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        7.6.2     Right of First Negotiaton.     If BPT either (i) determines at any time after ***************** to transfer any or all of its 
rights in the Technical Information, or (ii) is the subject of a proposed Change of Control Transaction, in either case to a third party that 
is not an Affiliate of BPT, BPT shall provide written notice to Hardinge of such determination (the " Sale Notice "). Within ******** 
days following receipt of the Sale Notice, Hardinge may give written notice to BPT that it wishes to negotiate with BPT concerning terms 
for the acquisition by Hardinge of the Technical Information which is the subject of the transaction described in subparts (i) or (ii) above, 
whereupon BPT and Hardinge shall enter into good faith, exclusive negotiations for the sale of such Technical Information. In the event 
that binding material terms for the acquisition by Hardinge of such Technical Information are not mutually agreed to by Hardinge and 
BPT within ********** days following the date of the Sale Notice, BPT and its Affiliates shall be at liberty within the period of 
******** thereafter to directly or indirectly sell, transfer or dispose of the Technical Information to a third party that is not an Affiliate of 
BPT, in whole or in part, as BPT may determine in its sole discretion (and which may, for the avoidance of doubt, include a sale, transfer 
or disposal to Hardinge or one of its Affiliates). Any such proposed sale, transfer or disposal after such further period of one year shall be 
subject to the terms of this Section 7.6.2.  

        7.6.3     Option to Purchase Technical Information.     Hardinge shall be entitled, at any time from and including *************** 
until ****************** to serve written notice on  BPT requiring BPT to sell the Technical Information to Hardinge for a purchase 
price of US$********* in cash, free from any deductions, withholdings, set-off or counterclaims. Completion of such sale and purchase 
shall occur on the 15 th Business Day following receipt by BPT of such notice and shall be made on the terms of a sale agreement for the 
Technical Information substantially in the form of the Assets Sale Agreement. This Agreement shall automatically terminate upon the 
consummation of the sale of the Technical Information pursuant to this section 7.6.3. BPT agrees not to sell any or all of the Technical 
Information to any third party prior to *********** ****.  

        7.6.4     Non-competition.     Hardinge will not, and will not permit any of its Affiliates, during the term of this Agreement and for 
the period of ten (10) years after termination of this Agreement for any reason, either on its own account or in conjunction with or on 
behalf of any person, firm or company, carry on or be engaged, concerned or interested, directly or indirectly, whether as shareholder, 
partner, agent or otherwise in carrying on any business which involves the manufacture, sourcing or sale of Knee Mill Products or spares 
for Knee Mill Products.  

{****} Confidential treatment requested and the redacted material has been separately filed with the Commission.  
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        7.6.5     Additional Matters with Respect to Termination.     If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Section 7, all obligations 
of the parties under this Agreement will terminate, except that the obligations in this Section 7 and in Sections 3.4, 4.3, 6.3, 9, 10.1, 10.6, 
10.7 and 10.9 will survive (except in the case of a termination pursuant to Section 7.6.3, wherein only the obligations in Sections 9, 10.1, 
10.6, 10.7 and 10.9 will survive); provided, however, that if this Agreement is terminated by a party because of a breach of the 
Agreement by another party, the terminating party's right to pursue all legal remedies will survive such termination unimpaired, provided 
however that under no circumstances shall Hardinge be responsible for any Minimum Royalty or damages based thereon (except for any 
Minimum Royalty payable at the time of such termination for Net Sales occurring prior to such termination) regardless of the reason for 
such termination. Upon termination of this Agreement by Hardinge pursuant to section 7.3 or by BPT pursuant to section 7.3(b), the 
license granted to Hardinge in sections 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 shall continue until the earlier of (a) the 120 th day following the date of 
termination of this Agreement and (b) the date upon which Hardinge sells all of the inventory of Products and Spares in its possession on 
the date of termination of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, upon the expiry of the licenses 
contained in sections 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 (whether on termination or, pursuant to the foregoing sentence on the 120 th day following 
termination) Hardinge will immediately cease and desist from any use of any of the Technical Information, and shall return to BPT 
within thirty (30) days from the expiry of such licences all Technical Information in Hardinge's possession or control.  

        Section 8.     Warranties, Representations and Indemnification.       

        8.1     Representations and Warranties.     Each party represents and warrants as of the date of this Agreement to the other parties as 
follows:  

        (a)   Such party is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its state of incorporation, with full 
corporate power and authority to conduct its business as it is now conducted.  

        (b)   This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of such party, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms. 
Such party has the absolute and unrestricted right, power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations 
under this Agreement, and such action has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action.  

        (c)   Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by such party nor the consummation or performance of any of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement by such party will give any person the right to prevent, delay or otherwise interfere with any of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement pursuant to:  

        (i)    any provision of such party's Governing Documents;  

        (ii)   any resolution adopted by the board of directors or the shareholders of such party;  

        (iii)  any legal requirement of whatever nature or order, injunction, judgment, or arbitration award of whatever nature to which such 
party may be subject; or  

        (iv)  any contract to which such party is a party or by which it may be bound.  

        (d)   Such party is not and will not be required to obtain any consent, approval, ratification, waiver or other authorization from any person in 
connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation or performance of any of the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement.  

        (e)   There is no pending proceeding that has been commenced against such party and that challenges, or may have the effect of preventing, 
delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering with,  
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any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No such proceeding has been threatened or is pending.  

        (f)    Such party is not now insolvent and will not be rendered insolvent by any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. As used 
in this section, "insolvent" means either that (i) the sum of the debts and other probable liabilities of such party exceeds the present fair saleable 
value of its assets, or (ii) such party is able to pay its debts generally as they become due.  

        8.2     Further representation by BPT.     BPT represents and warrants as of the date of this Agreement to Hardinge that, to its knowledge, it 
owns the entire right, title and interest in and to the Technical Information and that, to its knowledge, the Technical Information do not infringe 
on the rights of third parties and BPT has not licensed the Technical Information for use by, or otherwise made theTechnical Information 
available to, any third party.  

        8.3.     Indemnification by BPT.     BPT will indemnify and hold harmless Hardinge for, and will pay to Hardinge the monetary value of, any 
liability, loss, damage, claim, action, cause of action, reasonable cost and reasonable expense (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) 
(collectively, the "Liabilities") arising, directly or indirectly, from or in connection with:  

        (a)   any claim by any third party that the Technical Information infringes the intellectual property rights of such third party;  

        (b)   claims relating to defects in, or alleged defects in, products manufactured or sold by Bridgeport Machines, Inc. prior to the date of this 
Agreement (it being represented by BPT that neither BPT nor any of its Associates has assumed any liabilities or obligations of Bridgeport 
Machines, Inc. whether fixed, contingent or otherwise and whether known or unknown);  

        (c)   subject to Section 8.4(b), product liability, including but not limited to warranty costs, resulting from design defects in, or alleged 
defects in, the Products (excluding Product Enhancements) and Spares sold by Hardinge after the date of this Agreement, provided that in no 
circumstances shall BPT be liable hereunder if and to the extent that such warranty costs arise as a result of the sale by Hardinge after the date of 
this Agreement of Products or Spares that Hardinge is aware suffer from, or may suffer from, a design defect or defects, save to the extent that 
the relevant Liability has arisen or been increased by fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence on the part of Hardinge.  

        8.4     Indemnification by Hardinge.     Hardinge will indemnify and hold harmless BPT for, and will pay to BPT the monetary value of, any 
Liabilities arising, directly or indirectly, from or in connection with:  

        (a)   product liability related to the quality (other than design quality), materials or workmanship of the Products and Spares manufactured 
by Hardinge after the date of this Agreement;  

        (b)   product liability resulting from defects in, or alleged defects in, any alterations to the designs and specifications of the Products, 
Accessories and Spares implemented by Hardinge in accordance with Section 4.1,  

        save to the extent that the relevant Liability has arisen or been increased by fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence on the part of 
BPT. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Hardinge does not extend any indemnity of any kind to BPT or any of its 
Affiliates with regard to any matter arising out of or related to defects in, or alleged defects in, products or spares manufactured or sold by BML 
or Bridgeport Machines, Inc. prior to the date of this Agreement.  

        8.5     Product liability insurance.     Hardinge shall obtain and carry in full force and effect adequate product liability insurance and will 
use its reasonable efforts to name BPT as an additional named insured under such insurance policy or policies.  

12  



 

        8.6.      Disclaimer of Warranties.     EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY AND SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 8.1 AND 8.2 
ABOVE, EACH PARTY DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND OR NATURE, WHETHER EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, RELATING TO PERFORMANCE, MARKETABILITY, TITLE OR OTHERWISE IN ANY RESPECT RELATED TO THE 
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, TECHNICAL INFORMATION, PRODUCTS, ACCESSORIES, SPARES, OR MARKS. EACH 
PARTY FURTHER DISCLAIMS ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A 
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND DISCLAIMS ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY REGARDING INFRINGEMENT OF ANY 
PATENT, COPYRIGHT, TRADEMARK OR OTHER RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES IN CONNECTION WITH THE PRACTICE OF THE 
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, TECHNICAL INFORMATION, OR MARKS, OR THE MAKING, USING OR SELLING OR 
OTHER DISTRIBUTION OF PRODUCTS, ACCESSORIES, SPARES OR PRODUCT ENHANCEMENTS BY ANY PERSON OR ENTITY.  

        Section 9.     Confidentiality.       

        9.1.     Definition of Confidential Information       

        (a)   As used in this Section 9, the term "Confidential Information" includes any and all of the following information of Hardinge and BPT 
that has been or may hereafter be disclosed in any form, whether in writing, orally, electronically or otherwise, or otherwise made available by 
observation, inspection or otherwise by any party or its Representatives (collectively, the "Disclosing Party") to another party or its 
Representatives (collectively, the "Receiving Party"):  

        (i)    all information that is a trade secret under applicable trade secret or other law;  

        (ii)   all Intellectual Property Rights, Technical Information, information concerning product specifications, data, know-how, 
formulae, compositions, processes, designs, sketches, photographs, graphs, drawings, samples, inventions and ideas, past, current and 
planned research and development, current and planned manufacturing or distribution methods and processes, customer lists, current and 
anticipated customer requirements, price lists, market studies, business plans, computer hardware, Software and computer software and 
database technologies, systems, structures and architectures and all similar information, including but not limited to the data and 
information referred to in Sections 4.3 and 6.3;  

        (iii)  all non-public information concerning the business and affairs of the Disclosing Party (which includes historical and current 
financial statements, financial projections and budgets, tax returns and accountants' materials, historical, current and projected sales, 
capital spending budgets and plans, business plans, strategic plans, marketing and advertising plans, publications, client and customer 
lists and files, contracts, the names and backgrounds of key personnel and personnel training techniques and materials, however 
documented); and  

        (iv)  all notes, analyses, compilations, studies, summaries and other material prepared by the Receiving Party to the extent 
containing or based, in whole or in Section, upon any information included in the foregoing.  

        (b)   Any trade secrets of a Disclosing Party shall also be entitled to all of the protections and benefits under applicable trade secret law and 
any other applicable law. If any information that a Disclosing Party deems to be a trade secret is found by a court of competent jurisdiction not to 
be a trade secret for purposes of this Section 9, such information shall still be considered Confidential Information of that Disclosing Party for 
purposes of this Section 9 to the extent included within the definition. Hardinge and BPT hereby waive any requirement that the other Party 
submit proof of the economic value of any trade secret (but only for purposes of seeking equitable relief) or post a bond or other security in any 
action to enforce its rights with respect to its Confidential Information.  
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        9.2     Restricted Use of Confidential Information.       

        Each Receiving Party acknowledges the confidential and proprietary nature of the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party and 
agrees that such Confidential Information (i) shall be kept confidential by the Receiving Party; (ii) shall not be used for any reason or purpose 
other than for the purposes contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) without limiting the foregoing, shall not be disclosed by the Receiving 
Party to any person, except in each case as otherwise expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement or with the prior written consent of the 
Disclosing Party. The Parties may disclose the Confidential Information of the other Party to their respective Representatives, provided that the 
Parties shall (x) enforce the terms of this Section 9 as to their respective Representatives; (y) take such action to the extent necessary to cause 
their Representatives to comply with the terms and conditions of this Section 9; and (z) be responsible and liable for any breach of the provisions 
of this Section by their Representatives.  

        9.3     Exceptions.       

        Section 9.2 does not apply to that part of the Confidential Information of a Disclosing Party that (a) was, is or becomes generally available 
to the public other than as a result of a breach of this Section 9 by the Receiving Party or its Representatives, (b) was or is developed by the 
Receiving Party independently of and without reference to any Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party, (c) was available to the 
Receiving Party prior to the date of this Agreement on a non-confidential basis from a third party not bound by a confidentiality agreement or 
any legal, fiduciary or other obligation restricting disclosure, [or (d) subject to the provisions of Section 9.11,] is required to be disclosed by the 
Receiving Party by law or applicable regulation, including but not limited to the reporting and disclosure requirements under U.S. securities 
laws.  

        9.4     Legal Proceedings.       

        If a Receiving Party becomes compelled in any proceeding or is requested by a governmental body having regulatory jurisdiction over the 
Receiving Party to make any disclosure that is prohibited or otherwise constrained by this Section 9, that Receiving Party shall provide the 
Disclosing Party with prompt notice of such compulsion or request so that it may seek an appropriate protective order or other appropriate 
remedy or waive compliance with the provisions of this Section 9. In the absence of a protective order or other remedy, the Receiving Party may 
disclose that portion (and only that portion) of the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party that, based upon advice of the Receiving 
Party's counsel, the Receiving Party is legally compelled to disclose or that has been requested by such governmental body, provided, however, 
that the Receiving Party shall use reasonable efforts to obtain confidential treatment of any Confidential Information so disclosed.  
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        Section 10.     Miscellaneous.       

        10.1.     Publicity.     Except as required by law or applicable regulation, including but not limited to the reporting and disclosure 
requirements under U.S. securities laws, and subject to the provisions of Section 10.11, none of the parties will disclose or make public the terms 
or existence of this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto. Any public announcement or similar publicity with 
respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated herein will be issued, if at all, at such time and in such manner as the parties mutually 
agree. Notwithstanding this Section 10.1, a party may disclose the terms of this Agreement to a third party (the "Potential Buyer") with whom it 
is in good faith negotiations for the proposed acquisition of Control of such party or of a portion of the business of such party by the Potential 
Buyer, provided that three (3) days' prior written notice has been provided to the other parties hereto and provided further that such party and the 
Potential Buyer have entered into a binding written agreement pursuant to which the Potential Buyer is required to keep the terms of this 
Agreement confidential.  

        10.2.     Assignment; Successors.     Except in the event of a sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of a party, whereupon 
such party shall be entitled to assign this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations hereunder to the acquiror of such assets (or as such 
acquiror directs), neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or obligations of a party to this Agreement may be assigned by such party without 
the prior written consent of the other parties, such consent to be granted or withheld in each party's sole discretion. Subject to the preceding 
sentence, this Agreement will apply to, be binding in all respects upon, and inure to the benefit of each party's successors and permitted assigns. 
If BPT sells or transfers, directly or indirectly, all or substantially all of its assets to one of its Affiliates, it shall at such time assign this 
Agreement, and its rights and obligations hereunder, to such Affiliate and such Affiliate shall assume all of said obligations.  

        10.3.     Entire Agreement, Amendment and Waiver.     This Agreement (including any Schedules) contains the entire understanding of the 
parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersedes any prior written or oral understanding, agreement or commitment 
with respect to such subject matter. This Agreement may be amended, modified or altered only by an instrument in writing duly executed by all 
of the parties to this Agreement. The waiver of a breach hereunder may be effected only by a writing signed by the waiving party and shall not 
constitute a waiver of any other breach.  

        10.4.     Notices.     All notices required or desired to be given under this Agreement shall be delivered (i) personally by hand, (ii) by 
facsimile machine, (iii) by recognized courier delivery service, or (iv) by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt 
requested, to the parties at the following addresses:  

The date of personal delivery, the date the facsimile is sent to the recipient (with receipt confirmed by the sending party), the date of deposit with 
the courier delivery service in the case of notice given to an address in the same country, or three (3) days following the date of deposit for 
mailing or with the  
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courier delivery service in the case of notice given to an address in a different country, as the case may be, shall be the date such notice is 
deemed given under this Agreement  

        10.5.     Severability.     If any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement should for any reason be held by any court or authority 
having jurisdiction over this Agreement or either of the parties hereto to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such provision or provisions shall 
be reformed to approximate as nearly as possible the intent of the parties, and the validity of the remaining provisions shall not be affected.  

        10.6.     Governing Law.     This Agreement is governed and interpreted under the laws of the State of New York, USA applicable to 
contracts made and to be performed entirely within the State of New York, USA.  

        10.7.     Dispute Resolution.     With respect to disputes, problems or claims arising out of or in connection with this Agreement 
("Disputes"), the parties shall, in good faith, use their best efforts to resolve the Dispute. If after such efforts the parties are unable within fifteen 
(15) days to resolve the Dispute in good faith, they shall promptly mutually agree upon a qualified, independent third party experienced in the 
area in Dispute to resolve such Dispute within the following thirty (30) days. The determination(s) of such qualified, independent third party 
shall be final and binding for purposes of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) such third party is unable to make a 
determination within said thirty (30) day period, or (ii) the parties are unable to agree upon a third party to resolve the Dispute, either party may 
submit to final and binding arbitration before the American Arbitration Association ("AAA"), with an office located in New York, New York, or 
its successor, pursuant to the United States Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. Sec. 1 et sec. Either party may commence the arbitration process called for 
in this Agreement by filing a written demand for arbitration with AAA, with a copy to the other party. The arbitration will be conducted in New 
York, New York, USA in accordance with the provisions of AAA's rules and procedures in effect at the time of filing of the demand for 
arbitration. The parties will cooperate with AAA and with one another in selecting an arbitrator from AAA panel of neutrals, and in scheduling 
the arbitration proceedings. The parties covenant that they shall participate in the arbitration in good faith. The provisions of this Section with 
respect to the arbitration before AAA may be enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, and the parties seeking enforcement shall be 
entitled to an award of all costs, fees and expenses, including attorneys fees, to be paid by the parties against whom enforcement is ordered. The 
fees and expenses of such arbitration shall be borne by the non-prevailing party, as determined by such arbitration. The parties agree that this 
Section 10.7 has been included to rapidly and inexpensively resolve any disputes between them with respect to the matters described above, and 
that except as otherwise specifically set forth in this Agreement, this Section 10.7 shall be grounds for dismissal of any court action commenced 
by any party with respect to a dispute arising out of such matters. The parties further agree that the decision of any such arbitrator will be final 
and binding on the parties, and may be enforced by any party in a court of competent jurisdiction. Nothing contained in this Section 10.7 shall 
prohibit any party from petitioning a court of competent jurisdiction at any time for equitable or declaratory relief.  

        10.8.     Counterparts.     This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when taken together shall constitute one 
and the same agreement.  

        10.9.     Remedies.     Due to the proprietary nature of the subject matter of this Agreement, the parties agree that their respective rights and 
obligations under this Agreement may be enforced by injunction, specific performance, or other equitable relief, without prejudice to any other 
rights and remedies the parties may have, and without the necessity of posting any bond or surety of any kind.  

        10.10.     Relationship of Parties.     The parties to this Agreement are independent contractors. There is no relationship of joint venture, 
partnership or other relationship of a similar nature between or among the parties. No party has the right to bind or otherwise serve as the agent 
for any other party.  
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        10.11     SEC Filing.     The parties acknowledge that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will give rise to an obligation upon 
Hardinge to disclose the terms of this Agreement pursuant to federal securities laws. Hardinge agrees that it will (i) solely with respect to the first 
filing of this Agreement with respect to federal securities laws, consult with BPT prior to any such disclosure in order to allow BPT to comment 
on the content and form of the proposed disclosure, provided however that the final form and content of any such proposed disclosure shall be 
within the sole discretion of Hardinge, (ii) use good faith efforts to seek and obtain protective or other confidentiality orders with respect to such 
of the terms of this Agreement as Hardinge in its sole discretion determines, (iii) except as required by law or applicable regulation, including 
but not limited to the reporting and disclosure requirements under U.S. securities laws, not disclose, prior to a written decision by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on any confidential information request made by Hardinge, any specific information that is the subject of 
such confidential information request, (iv) except as required by law or applicable regulation, including but not limited to the reporting and 
disclosure requirements under U.S. securities laws, commencing on the date of the SEC's written decision on such confidential information 
request and ending on the expiration of the period for which the SEC grants any confidential treatment, not disclose any specific information in 
respect of which the SEC grants confidential treatment, and (v) promptly provide BPT with a copy of all correspondence to and from the SEC 
concerning such confidential information request, including but not limited to copies of the confidential treatment itself and of the SEC's written 
decision in respect thereof.  

        10.12.     Headings.     Headings used in this Agreement are for convenience only, and shall not be used to interpret or construe the meaning 
of this Agreement or the intentions of the parties with respect to any aspect of the Agreement.  
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    HARDINGE, INC. 
 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   J. PATRICK ERVIN        

 
  

 
  

 
BPT IP, LLC 

 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/   GORDON O'BRIEN        



 
Schedule A  

Marks  

U.S. Federal Registrations  

18  

Mark  

  

Registration No.  

  

Registration Date  

BRIDGEPORT (and Design)   672,452   1/13/59 
 
QUILL MASTER (and Design) 

 
  

 
681,116 

 
  

 
6/30/59 

 
EZ-CAM 

 
  

 
1,338,961 

 
  

 
6/4/85 

 
INTERACT 

 
  

 
1,361,441 

 
  

 
9/24/85 

 
AIR-FLO 

 
  

 
1,424,600 

 
  

 
1/13/87 

 
BRIDGEPORT 

 
  

 
1,742,918 

 
  

 
12/29/92 

 
EZ-MILL 

 
  

 
1,595,123 

 
  

 
5/8/90 

 
EZPATH 

 
  

 
1,831,904 

 
  

 
4/19/94 

 
DISCOVERY TORQ-CUT  
22 and Design 

 
   

1,989,670 
 
  

 
7/30/96 

 
EZ PATH-II (and Design) 

 
  

 
2,034,307 

 
  

 
1/28/97 

 
EZ-TURN 

 
  

 
1,594,029 

 
  

 
5/1/90 

 
EZ-TRAK 

 
  

 
2,038,846 

 
  

 
2/18/97 

 
EXPLORER 

 
  

 
2,069,634 

 
  

 
6/10/97 

 
POWERPATH 

 
  

 
2,086,548 

 
  

 
8/5/97 

 
TORQ-CUT TC 

 
  

 
2,374,841 

 
  

 
8/8/00 

 
Canada 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
BRIDGEPORT 

 
  

 
243,145 

 
  

 
4/18/80 



 
Copyrights  

Title  

  

Registration No.  

  

Registration Date  

Series I CNC, Machining Center   TX-954-329   4/2/82 
 
Series I CNC:  
BridgeportSeries I CNC  
Mill 

 
  

 
TX-954-328 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
O-C 14A 

 
  

 
TX-954-327 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Series II CNC 

 
  

 
TX-954-326 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Series I MDI 

 
  

 
TX-954-325 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
E-Z CAM 

 
  

 
TX-954-324 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
R2D3 

 
  

 
TX-954-323 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Bridgeport Attachments  
And Accessories For  
Standard Vertical Milling  
Machines 

 
  

 
TX-954-322 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Bridgeport Winners, E-Z  
CAM/CNC: Two Powerful  
Tools For One Low Price 

 
  

 
TX-954-321 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Top Shops: 1: For And  
About Shops That Are Tops  
In Their Field 

 
  

 
TX-954-320 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
America Invades America 

 
  

 
TX-954-319 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
The Bridgeport Standard Machines 

 
  

 
TX-954-317 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
American Classics At Import Prices 

 
  

 
TX-954-316 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Choice Cut 

 
  

 
TX-954-314 

 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Make Your Used  
Bridgeport Work Like New 

 
   

TX-882-049 
 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Supplemental Mass Storage  
Boosts CNC Productivity 

 
   

TX-882-048 
 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Add DNC Power to Your  
CNC Bridgeports 

 
   

TX-882-047 
 
  

 
4/2/82 

 
Buy From Bridgeport Direct, 1-800-243-4292 

 
  

 
TX-864-141 

 
  

 
2/24/82 

 
Why Bridgeport Has Decided To Sell To You 
Direct 

 
   

TX-864-140 
 
  

 
2/24/82 

 
An American Classic At A Foreign Price 

 
  

 
TX-864-139 

 
  

 
2/24/82 

 
The Bridgeport CNC's 

 
  

 
TX-864-138 

 
  

 
2/24/82 

 
Get The Point 

 
  

 
TX-864-137 

 
  

 
2/24/82 

 
Think Sharp 

 
  

 
TX-864-136 

 
  

 
2/24/82 

 
There's More to Bridgeport Than Meets The 
Eye 

 
   

TX-864-135 
 
  

 
2/24/82 

 
The Bridgeport CNC's 

 
  

 
TX-823-895 

 
  

 
12/24/81 
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The Real World 

 
  

 
TX-823-894 

 
  

 
12/24/81 

 
The Easy Life 

 
  

 
TX-823-893 

 
  

 
12/24/81 

 
Life Rolls On 

 
  

 
TX-823-92 

 
  

 
12/24/81 

 
The Bridgeport CNC's 

 
  

 
TX-793-474 

 
  

 
10/30/81 

 
Don't Buy A Cheap CNC  
(Buy A Bridgeport CNC  
Cheaper) 

 
  

 
TX-793-473 

 
  

 
10/30/81 

 
Life line 

 
  

 
TX-811-219 

 
  

 
11/16/81 

 
Introducing the automatic Bridgeport 

 
  

 
TX-811-217 

 
  

 
11/16/81 



 
Schedule B  

Products  

        Series I and Series II Standard and CNC version knee-mill machine tools, together with relevant variations and enhancements  
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Schedule C  

Product Warranty  

Warranty, Disclaimer and Remedy.     Seller warrants to the original Buyer only that new Products manufactured by the Seller and sold 
directly by the Seller or through an authorized representative and used by the original Buyer within limits of rated and normal usage will be free 
from defects which are not commercially acceptable in material and workmanship for the following periods, measured from the date of 
shipment: 6 months for repair parts purchased after the original machine warranty expires; 12 months for all new machines. For vendor-supplied 
Products the warranty will be the vendor warranty or one year, whichever is shorter.  

        This warranty shall apply only to new Products sold, installed, and maintained in North America or Mexico. Any Product not so sold, 
installed, and maintained, shall be sold " AS IS " and any repairs or service shall be provided in accordance with paragraph 12 of Seller's Terms 
and Conditions of Sale, "Repairs and Service—Non-Warranty," unless otherwise expressly agreed to in writing by Seller. In no event shall the 
Buyer have any rights greater hereunder than if all components were manufactured by Seller.  

                The terms of this warranty do not in any way extend to any Product or part thereof which has a life under normal usage inherently 
shorter than one year, second-hand Products or Products which were not manufactured by the Seller and not sold under the Hardinge or 
Bridgeport trade name. Seller's obligation and liability with respect to components not manufactured by the Seller shall be limited to the extent 
of express warranties received by Seller from such component manufacturers unless said components are sold under the Hardinge or Bridgeport 
trade name, in which case, the new machine warranty shall be applicable.  

        This warranty is void and of no effect and Seller shall not be liable for any breach of warranty, express or implied, if the equipment or any 
part or component thereof shall have been repaired or altered by persons other than the Seller unless expressly authorized in writing by Seller, or 
if the equipment is operated or installed contrary to Seller's instruction or subjected to misuse, negligence or accident.  

        Written notice of any claimed defect within the warranty period must be presented to the Seller immediately upon Buyer's discovery of the 
defect.  

        Seller shall have the option to inspect any parts claimed to be defective either at the Buyer's place of business or at the Seller's place of 
manufacture while the Product is in the claimed defective condition. No return shall be accepted unless Seller has had an opportunity to inspect 
the equipment or has expressly authorized the return. If the equipment defect constitutes a safety hazard, operation of the Product must be 
suspended until corrective action is completed. Seller, upon receipt of written notice of a claimed defect, will proceed without unreasonable 
delay to remedy any defect coming within the warranty which is found to exist. During the warranty period, parts found to be defective by 
Seller's inspection will be furnished free of charge, shipment F.O.B. Point of Origin.  

         THERE ARE NO OTHER WARRANTIES THAT EXTEND BEYOND TH E WARRANTY HEREIN CONTAINED. THE 
WARRANTY STATED HEREIN IS IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARR ANTIES EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT 
LIMITED TO, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY  OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND IS IN 
LIEU OF ANY AND ALL OTHER OBLIGATIONS OR LIABILITIE S ON SELLER'S PART. No statement, oral or written, inconsistent 
with this warranty is binding on the Seller. No agent, employee or representative of the Seller, other than an officer, duly authorized, has any 
authority to bind the Seller to any confirmation, representation or warranty concerning the Seller's Product beyond that specifically included in 
the warranty contained herein. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES WILL THE SELLER BE LIABLE FO R ANY INCIDENTAL OR 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGE OR EXPENSE OF ANY KIND, INCLUD ING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, PERSONAL INJURIES AND 
LOSS OF PROFITS, ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CON TRACT OR WITH THE USE, ABUSE, UNSAFE USE OR 
INABILITY TO USE SELLER'S PRODUCTS. Seller's maximum liability shall not exceed and Buyer's remedy is limited to either (a) repair 
or replacement of the defective part or Product or at the Seller's option, (b) return of the Product and refund of the purchase price; and such 
remedy shall be the Buyer's entire and exclusive remedy. If the Buyer and the Seller agree that it would be in the best interest of both Parties to 
return the Product and refund the purchase price, the Buyer shall be liable for all costs associated with the usage of the Product from the date the 
installation is complete at the Buyer's facility to the date Seller is given written notice of an alleged defect or date of agreement to return the 
Product whichever is applicable. The cost of Product usage shall be based on the latest Seller rental price for renting a similar product as the 
Product being returned for the  
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same period of time for which the Product was utilized by the Buyer. This cost shall be deducted from the purchase price refund to the Buyer.  

        The sole purpose of the stipulated exclusive remedy shall be to provide the Buyer with free repair or replacement of defective Products, or 
refund of the purchase price, in the manner provided herein. This exclusive remedy shall not be deemed to have failed of its essential purpose so 
long as Seller is willing and able to repair or replace defective Products, or to refund the purchase price, in the prescribed manner.  
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Exhibit 10.21 

HARDINGE INC.  
    

Executive Supplemental Pension Plan  
    

(As Amended December 13, 2004)  

        The Supplemental Pension Plan (the "Plan"), effective as of January 1, 1993, is designed to provide a benefit which, when added to other 
retirement income, will ensure the payment of a competitive level of retirement income in order to attract, retain and motivate selected 
executives of Hardinge Inc. ("Hardinge"). The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Hardinge shall serve as the Supplemental 
Pension Plan Committee ("Committee") and shall have the authority to administer the Plan. The Committee's decision in any matter involving 
the interpretation and application of the Plan shall be final and binding. All terms used in the Plan and not otherwise defined herein shall have 
the same meaning as such terms are used in the Hardinge Inc. Pension Plan ("Pension Plan").  

        1.     Eligibility.     From time to time Hardinge's Board of Directors may select executives as Participants in the Plan as of dates designated 
by the Committee. In no event shall a Participant or a Participant's Beneficiary be eligible for, or receive a benefit under the Plan unless and until 
the Participant is entitled to a benefit under the Pension Plan.  

        2.     Benefits.     Unless otherwise specified by written agreement between Hardinge and the Participant, the benefits which Hardinge shall 
pay to a Participant or his Beneficiary under the Plan shall equal the excess, if any, of (a) over (b) where:  

        (a)   is the benefit which would have been paid to the Participant or to his Beneficiary under the terms of the Pension Plan as in 
effect on the date of the Participant's termination of employment, computed, however, as if:  

(i)  the Pension Plan benefit formula as presently set forth in Section 4.1 thereof, were adjusted to provide a Normal Pension 
each year for life equal to 1 1 / 4 % of the Participant's Final Average Annual Compensation times the number of years and 
fractions thereof of Credited Service to the date of termination of employment. For the purposes hereof, Annual 
Compensation shall mean base salary plus cash bonuses received for services rendered in a calendar year whether or not 
actually received in that year (provided, however, the amount of cash bonuses in any year for the purposes hereof shall be 
limited to 50% of the base salary for said year) and Final Average Annual Compensation shall mean the average of the 
Participant's highest Annual Compensation received in any three of the five full calendar years immediately preceding the 
date of termination of employment.  

Minimum Benefit.     In no case shall the benefit earned hereunder be less than the benefit computed in accordance with the 
terms of the Pension Plan, provided however, that in computing this minimum benefit there shall be substituted with 
respect to the Pension Plan's past service benefit formula 1 1 / 2 % for each year of Credited Service in place of the present 
1 1 / 4 % (or such other percentage as may be in effect from time to time under the Pension Plan), and  

(ii)  the basic Pension Plan benefit formula and all benefits under the Pension Plan were administered and payable without 
regard to the special benefit limitations as set forth in Section 7.2 of the Pension Plan as amended from time to time to 
comply with the provisions of Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code (as amended to date and as may hereafter be 
amended) limiting benefits payable under tax-qualified retirement plans, and  



        (b)   is the benefit which is payable to the Participant or to his Beneficiary under the terms of the Pension Plan as in effect on the 
date of the Participant's termination of employment, or if later, the date benefits commence to the Participant or his Beneficiary, as the 
case may be.  

Payments of benefits under the Plan shall be coincident in time and form with the payment of the pension benefits made to, or on behalf of, a 
Participant or his Beneficiary under the Pension Plan, unless otherwise determined by the Committee, provided however that the provisions of 
Section 4.8 of the Pension Plan shall not be applicable to this Plan. Subject to the right of Hardinge to discontinue the Plan, in whole or in part 
and as to any one or all of the Participants, a Participant shall have a nonforfeitable interest in benefits payable under the Plan to the same extent 
as benefits are vested under Article IV of the Pension Plan.  

        The benefits provided under the Plan shall not apply to a Participant's service following his sixty-fifth (65 th ) birthday. If a Participant 
continues employment with Hardinge after reaching age sixty-five (65), no further benefits of any kind shall accrue under the Plan for service 
after said date and benefits under the Plan shall be payable only upon the Participant's subsequent termination of employment. In the event of 
such continued employment, the benefit payable under the Plan shall be frozen on the Participant's sixty-fifth (65 th ) birthday, and thereafter 
reduced by benefits earned under the Pension Plan following attainment of age sixty-five (65).  

        To the maximum extent permitted by law, no benefit under the Plan shall be assignable or subject to any manner of alienation, sale, transfer, 
claims of creditors, pledge, attachment or encumbrances of any kind.  

        3.     Indemnification.     To the full extent authorized or permitted by law, Hardinge shall indemnify any person who brings an action or 
proceeding, whether civil or criminal, or is made, or threatened to be made, a party to an action or proceeding, whether civil or criminal, by 
reason of the fact that he, his testator or intestate, is or shall be entitled to benefits under this Plan and Hardinge has failed to make payments 
hereunder when due or has otherwise failed to follow the terms of the Plan or such person has reasonable cause to believe Hardinge shall or 
intends to so fail to perform its future obligations hereunder arising within a reasonable time thereof, or with respect to any other matter directly 
or indirectly related to this Plan, unless a judgment or other final adjudication adverse to such person establishes that Hardinge was or is legally 
entitled to fail to so perform its obligations hereunder. Without limitation of the foregoing, such indemnification shall include indemnification 
against all costs of whatsoever nature or kind, including attorneys' fees and costs of investigation or defense, incurred by any such person with 
respect to any such action or proceeding and any appeal therein, and which judgments, fines, amounts and expenses have not been recouped by 
him in any other manner. All expenses incurred by a person in connection with an actual or threatened action or proceeding with respect to 
which such person is or may be entitled to indemnification under this Section, shall, in the absence of a final adjudication adverse to such person 
as described above, be promptly paid by Hardinge to him, upon receipt of an undertaking by him to repay the portion of such advances, if any, to 
which he may finally be determined not to be entitled. This Section may not without the consent of such a person be amended or changed in any 
manner adverse to such person. The indemnification provided by this Section shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which a person 
may be entitled other than pursuant to this Section.  

        4.     Miscellaneous.     Hardinge expects to continue the Plan indefinitely but reserves the right at any time and from time to time by action 
of the Committee to amend, suspend or discontinue it, in whole or in part and with respect to any one or all of the Participants and beneficiaries 
hereunder, if in the Committee's sole discretion and judgment, such a change is deemed necessary or desirable. However, no such amendment, 
suspension or termination shall affect a Participant's or beneficiary's right to receive the benefits accrued in accordance with this Plan as in effect 
immediately prior to such amendment, suspension or termination. Neither the adoption of the Plan by Hardinge nor any action of  
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Hardinge or the Committee under the Plan shall be held or construed to confer upon any person any legal right to be continued as an employee of 
Hardinge. All Participants shall be subject to discharge to the same extent as they would have been if the Plan had never been adopted. The Plan 
shall be binding on Hardinge's successors and assigns and is established under and shall be construed according to the laws of the State of New 
York.  

        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Hardinge has caused this instrument to be executed by its officers thereunto duly authorized and its corporate 
seal to be hereunto affixed as of this 13 th day of December, 2004.  

Attest:  

/S/ J. Philip Hunter  
     J. Philip Hunter  
     Its Secretary  

3  

    HARDINGE INC. 
 
  

 
  

 
By 

 
  

 
/s/   J. PATRICK ERVIN        

J. Patrick Ervin  
Its Chairman, President and  
Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 21 

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY  

Company  

  

Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation or Organization 

 
Canadian Hardinge Machine Tools, Ltd. 

 
  

 
Canada 

 
Hardinge China Limited 

 
  

 
People's Republic of China 

 
Hardinge Machine Tools, Ltd. 

 
  

 
United Kingdom 

 
Hardinge, GmbH 

 
  

 
Federal Republic of Germany 

 
Hardinge Shanghai Company, Ltd. 

 
  

 
People's Republic of China 

 
HTT Hauser Tripet Tschudin, AG 

 
  

 
Switzerland 

 
L. Kellenberger & Co., AG 

 
  

 
Switzerland 

 
Hardinge Taiwan Precision Machinery Limited (51%) 

 
  

 
Republic of China (Taiwan) 



 



 
QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document 

EXHIBIT 23 

 
HARDINGE INC  

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

        We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-65049) pertaining to the Hardinge Inc. 
Savings Plan, Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-103985) pertaining to the Hardinge Inc. 2002 Incentive Stock Plan, and Registration 
Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-115595) of Hardinge Inc. and in the related Prospectus of our reports dated February 25, 2005, with respect to the 
consolidated financial statements and schedule of Hardinge Inc. and Subsidiaries, Hardinge Inc. management's assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Hardinge Inc., included in this 
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2004.  

  

Ernst & Young LLP  

Syracuse, New York  
March 9, 2005  
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Exhibit 31.1 

HARDINGE INC.  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, J. Patrick Ervin, certify that:  

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10K for the period ended December 31, 2004 of Hardinge Inc.;  
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1415(e) and 15d-1415(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:  
 
a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
 

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  
 

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and  
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  
 
a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 



c)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.  
 

6.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in 
other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent valuation, including any corrective 
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.  

 
 
Date: March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
By: 

 
/s/   J. PATRICK ERVIN        

J. Patrick Ervin  
Chairman, President and Chief  
Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.2 

 
HARDINGE INC.  

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Richard L. Simons, certify that:  

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10K for the period ended December 31, 2004 of Hardinge Inc.;  
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1415(e) and 15d-1415(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:  
 
a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
 

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  
 

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and  
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  
 
a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.  



6.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in 
other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent valuation, including any corrective 
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.  

 
 
Date: March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
By: 

 
/s/   RICHARD L. SIMONS        

Richard L. Simons  
Executive Vice President  
Chief Financial Officer 
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HARDINGE INC.  

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

        In connection with the Annual Report of Hardinge Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10K for the period ended December 31, 2004 as filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, J. Patrick Ervin, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company and I, Richard L. Simons, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 
1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
 

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 
of the Company.  

 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the 
signatures that appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to 
Hardinge Inc. and will be retained by Hardinge Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
/s/   J. PATRICK ERVIN        

J. Patrick Ervin  
Chief Executive Officer  
March 11, 2005 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
/s/   RICHARD L. SIMONS        

Richard L. Simons  
Chief Financial Officer  
March 11, 2005 
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HARDINGE INC. CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE 
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  


